Legume Establishment in Native Warm-Season Grass Pastures

Carter Bradley Phillips

Thesis submitted to the faculty of the Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science In Crop and Soil Environmental Sciences

Kathryn M. Payne, Committee Chair A. Ozzie Abaye, Co-Chair Scott P. Greiner Benjamin F. Tracy

> November 28th, 2023 Blackstone, Virginia

Keywords: native warm-season grasses, legumes, forage, interseeding, establishment

Legume Establishment in Native Warm-Season Grass Pastures

Carter Bradley Phillips Academic Abstract

Interseeding legumes in native warm-season grasses (NWSG) may improve the nutritive value of the stand, result in more consistent forage availability throughout the growing season, and increase forage yield. These benefits are often not realized due to difficulties in establishing legumes in existing NWSG stands. The objective of this study was to investigate the effect of planting method of legume interseeding, timing of legume interseeding, and the efficacy of burning plant residue on legume establishment in NWSG. Two forage legumes, 'Alice' white clover (Trifolium repens L.) and 'Freedom HR' red clover (Trifolium pratense L.), were interseeded into mixed 'Niagara' big bluestem (Andropogon gerardii Vitman), 'GA Ecotype' Indiangrass (Sorghastrum nutans Nash), and 'Camper' little bluestem (Schizachyrium scoparium) pasture in 2022 and 2023 at the Southern Piedmont AREC in Blackstone, Virginia. Planting method at three levels (no-till drill, broadcast, and non-planted control) were evaluated at three planting timing levels (fall planting, winter planting, and winter planting with burned residue). Among the treatment combinations, burned plots that were drilled resulted with the greatest spring clover count of 236 plants m⁻², followed by winter drill (146 plants m⁻²) and burn broadcast (133 plants m⁻²). All fall plantings and all control plots were similar with a mean of 21 plants m⁻². As a result of greater initial clover emergence, plots that were burned or seeded in the winter had greater clover content throughout the experiment; burned and drilled plots had over 90% clover ground cover throughout the second year. Domination of plots by clover in the second year caused yields and the proportion of NWSG in the stand to decline, with burned plots yielding 5,757 kg ha⁻¹ compared to a winter-fall mean of 7,429 kg ha⁻¹. Plots with greater clover content were able to sustain higher crude protein content

and lower neutral detergent fiber content in both the establishment year and the second year. Though interseeding legumes benefitted nutritive values, these results suggest that red clover may be incompatible with the NWSG evaluated. Burned plots were especially affected by excessive competition. Further research is needed to evaluate forage legume species which complement NWSG in mixture rather than compete with them.

Legume Establishment in Native Warm-Season Grass Pastures Carter B. Phillips General Audience Abstract

Native warm-season grasses are well adapted to much of the US and are able to provide nutritious forage for livestock while requiring lower soil fertility and moisture, in temperatures high enough to render most imported cool-season grasses unproductive. Despite this, farmers are hesitant to use NWSG as a forage crop in part due to their lower nutritive value than imported cool-season species and their lower forage productivity early and late in the growing season, when temperatures are cooler. Planting cool-season legumes in NWSG pasture, or interseeding, could increase the available forage early and late in the season and improve the nutritional value of the forage. Establishing legumes in existing NWSG pasture can be difficult, with multiple choices affecting the ultimate outcome, such as the method of planting, the timing of planting, and the removal of plant residue on the soil surface. The objective of this study was to investigate the effect of planting method of legume interseeding, timing of legume interseeding, and the burning of plant residue on legume establishment in NWSG. Two forage legumes, 'Alice' white clover (Trifolium repens L.) and 'Freedom HR' red clover (Trifolium pratense L.), were interseeded into mixed 'Niagara' big bluestem (Andropogon gerardii Vitman), 'GA Ecotype' Indiangrass (Sorghastrum nutans Nash), and 'Camper' little bluestem (Schizachyrium scoparium) pasture in 2022 and 2023 at the Southern Piedmont AREC in Blackstone, Virginia. Three variations of planting method (no-till drill, broadcast, and non-planted control) were evaluated in combination with three variation of planting timing (fall planting, winter planting, and winter planting with burned residue). Among the treatment combinations, burned and drilled plots produced more clover plants in spring at 236 plants m⁻², followed by winter drilled (146 plants m⁻²) and burned and broadcasted (133 plants m⁻

²). All fall plantings and all control plots were similar with a mean of 21 plants m⁻². Because plots that were burned or seeded in the winter had greater clover seedling emergence at the start of the experiment, they had greater clover content throughout the experiment; burned and drilled plots had over 90% clover ground cover throughout the second year. Excessive red clover growth in the second year overshadowed NWSG plants, causing forage yields and the proportion of NWSG in the stand to decline, with burned plots yielding 5,757 kg ha⁻¹ compared to a winter-fall mean of 7,429 kg ha⁻¹. Plots with greater clover content were able to sustain higher crude protein content and lower neutral detergent fiber content in both the establishment year and the second year, benefitting forage nutritive values. Despite this benefit, these results suggest that red clover may be incompatible with the NWSG which were evaluated, as it competed with NWSG and limited their growth. Burned plots were especially affected by excessive competition. Further research is needed to evaluate forage legume species which complement NWSG in mixture rather than compete with them.

Dedication

This work is dedicated to my great grandfather, James Gowen. He told me that he probably won't ever read a word of this. He might be busy mowing the lawn, planting trees, reading the Bible, or shooting crows. I know he's proud nonetheless.

Table of Contents

Animal Performance on NWSG23
Disparity Between Tested Nutritive Values and Actual Animal Performance24
Interseeding Legumes into NWSG25
Benefits of Interseeding25
Difficulties Affecting Establishment26
Excessive Competition
Managing Competition with Fire28
Effect of Seeding Method and Timing on Establishment29
Effect of NWSG Suppression on Establishment30
Research Goal
Chapter 3: Evaluation of Planting Method, Timing, and Burning of Residue on NWSG Pastures32
Abstract
Introduction
Methods and Materials
Site
Experimental Design and Treatments
Legume Establishment and Controlled Burning37
Harvest Management and Sample Collection38
Lab Analysis
Statistical Analysis40
Results and Discussion40
Clover Emergence40
Stand Botanical Composition: Plant Counts43
Stand Botanical Composition: Pre-Harvest Ground Cover
Stand Botanical Composition: Post-Harvest Ground Cover
Stand Botanical Composition: Biomass50
Whole Plot Nutritive Value51
Total Seasonal Yield54
Harvest Yield56
Conclusion
Tables and Figures59
References71
Appendix

Tables and Figures

Table 1. Soil chemical attributes of plot set areas at the Southern Piedmont Agricultural Researchand Education Center in Blackstone, VA
Table 2. Summary of monthly total precipitation (cm), maximum and minimum daily temperatures (°C), and average daily temperature (°C) in 2021, 2022, and 2023 at the Southern Piedmont Agricultural Research and Education Center in Blackstone, VA
Table 3. Fall planting, burning, and winter planting dates for each plot set in Blackstone, VA59
Table 4. Harvest dates for each plot set in 2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA60
Table 5. Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction ($P < 0.0001$) on clover emergence (plants m ⁻²) within NWSG averaged over 2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA60
Table 6. Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction ($P = 0.0269$) on clover count (plants m ⁻²) within NWSG averaged over 2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA60
Table 7. Effect of harvest ($P = 0.0012$) on clover count (plants m ⁻²) within NWSG averaged over2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA
Table 8. Effect of planting timing ($P = 0.0006$) on grass count (plants m ⁻²) within NWSG averaged over 2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA
Table 9. Effect of planting method ($P = 0.0256$) on grass count (plants m ⁻²) within NWSG averaged over 2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA
Table 10. Effect of harvest ($P < 0.0001$) on weed count (plants m ⁻²) within NWSG averaged over2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA
Table 11. Effect of planting method x harvest season interaction ($P = 0.0006$) on pre-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 12. Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction ($P < 0.0001$) on pre-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 13. Effect of planting timing x planting method x harvest season interaction ($P = 0.0433$) on pre-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 14. Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction ($P = 0.0003$) on pre-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 15. Effect of planting method x harvest season interaction ($P = 0.0089$) on pre-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA

Table 16. Effect of planting timing x planting method x harvest season interaction ($P = 0.0227$) on pre-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 17. Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction ($P = 0.0003$) on post-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 18. Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction on post-harvest clover ground cover (%) ($P < 0.0001$) and on post-harvest grass ground cover (%) ($P < 0.0001$) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA64
Table 19. Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction ($P = 0.0050$) on post-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 20. Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction ($P = 0.0359$) on post-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 21. Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction ($P < 0.0001$) on post-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 22. Effect of planting method x harvest season interaction ($P = 0.0003$) on post-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 23. Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction on post-harvest clover ground cover (%) ($P = 0.0359$), on post-harvest grass ground cover (%) ($P = 0.4305$), on post-harvest weed ground cover (%) ($P = 0.0009$), and on post-harvest bare ground (%) ($P = 0.0001$) in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 24. Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction ($P = 0.0026$) on the grass proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA
Table 25. Effect of year x harvest season interaction on the grass proportion of biomass (%) ($P < 0.0001$), on the clover proportion of biomass (%) ($P = 0.0006$), and on the weed proportion of biomass (%) ($P = 0.0008$) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA
Table 26. Effect of year x planting timing x planting method interaction ($P < 0.0001$) on theclover proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA
Table 27. Effect of year x planting timing x planting method interaction ($P = 0.0472$) on the weed proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA
Table 28. Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction on whole plot crude protein content (g kg ⁻¹) ($P = 0.0002$) and on whole plot neutral detergent fiber content (g kg ⁻¹) ($P = 0.0005$) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (20230 in Blackstone, VA

Table 29. Effect of harvest season ($P < 0.0001$) on whole plot acid detergent fiber content (g kg ⁻¹) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 30. Effect of planting method x harvest season interaction ($P = 0.0286$) on whole plot crude protein content (g kg ⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 31. Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction on whole plot crude protein content (g kg ⁻¹) ($P = 0.0001$) and on whole plot neutral detergent fiber content (g kg ⁻¹) ($P = 0.0357$) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 32. Effect of harvest season ($P < 0.0001$) on whole plot acid detergent fiber content (g kg ⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA68
Table 33. Effect of planting timing ($P = 0.0068$) on total seasonal yield (kg ha ⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 34. Effect of planting method ($P = 0.0122$) on total seasonal yield (kg ha ⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 35. Effect of harvest season ($P < 0.0001$) on harvest yield (kg ha ⁻¹) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 36. Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction ($P < 0.0001$) on harvest yield (kg ha ⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA69
Table 37. Effect of planting method x harvest season interaction ($P = 0.0207$) on harvest yield (kg ha ⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 38. Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction ($P = 0.0470$) on harvest yield (kg ha ⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Figure 1. Plot map delineated at the Southern Piedmont AREC in Blackstone, VA70

Chapter 1

Introduction

Native warm-season grasses (NWSG), such as big bluestem (Andropogon gerardii Vitman), little bluestem (Schizachyrium scoparium), Indiangrass (Sorghastrum nutans Nash), switchgrass (Panicum virgatum), and eastern gamagrass (Tripsacum dactyloides L.) are uniquely adapted to the eastern United States (Harper et al., 2007). They can maintain a high level of productivity with high nitrogen (N) efficiency, lowering reliance on fertilizer inputs; in one study conducted in Illinois, eastern gamagrass-dominated mixed NWSG pastures averaged 61% greater herbage mass than tall fescue (Schedonorus arundinaceus [Schreb.] Dumort) pasture at 493 g m⁻² (Tracy et al., 2010). When managed properly, these grasses may support nutrient requirements of livestock, relaying to body weight gain. Researchers have reported gains for yearling steers (Bos *taurus*) on Indiangrass pasture at 1.08 kg day⁻¹ (Krueger and Curtis, 1979), for feeder steers on big bluestem pasture at 0.85 kg day⁻¹ (Burns and Fisher, 2013), and for weaned steers on mixed big bluestem and Indiangrass pasture at 1.03 kg day⁻¹ (Backus et al., 2017). Able to be grazed by livestock or harvested as hay, baleage, or biomass for energy production, their utility to farm systems can be versatile (Burns and Fisher, 2012; Lowe et al., 2015; Brazil et al., 2020). Native grasses can be continuously grazed (Monroe et al., 2017; Brazil et al., 2020) but there is greater interest is the possibility of incorporating these species into rotational grazing systems.

Native warm-season grasses enter their period of peak forage production when cool-season species production begins to decline during a period known as the "summer slump" (Tracy et al., 2010). Due to the costs associated with re-planting annual warm-season grasses (WSG) each growing season, planting acreage in NWSG can provide a long-term solution to the "summer slump" at a lower cost than annual WSG; in Illinois, NWSG cost \$93.40 ha⁻¹ to establish and manage over three years of forage production versus \$119.20 ha⁻¹ for annual WSG (Tracy et al., 2010). The primary obstacles to grower adoption of NWSG have been the limited forage availability both early and late in the season and the lower nutritive value of NWSG forage compared to cool-season grasses (CSG) like tall fescue (Moore et al., 2004; Hudson et al., 2010; Tilhou et al., 2018). It is possible that these drawbacks could be improved with the incorporation of legumes into NWSG stands.

One potential benefit of interseeding legumes into NWSG is improvement of forage nutritional value (Posler et al., 1993; Springer et al., 2001; Keyser et al., 2016b; Jakubowski et al., 2017). Interseeding cool-season legumes into warm-season grasses has been explored as a possible method of extending the grazing season, as cool-season plants are productive while NWSG is dormant (Springer et al., 2001; Ashworth et al., 2015).

Research has suggested that pastures with greater species richness may produce greater forage yields and suppress weed species more effectively (Allan et al., 2011; Bonin and Tracy, 2012). In a study evaluating the effect of plant diversity on forage yield, Bonin and Tracy (2012) report that 71% of multi-species perennial prairie plant forage plots yielded more than their respective monoculture plots. This study also found that in one year of the study, weed biomass reached a proportion of nearly 30% in monoculture plots compared to less than 1% of biomass in multi-species plots; however, they did note that this was largely due to unproductive legume monocultures failing to compete with weeds (Bonin and Tracy, 2012). Sleugh et al. (2000) found that mixtures of legumes and grasses yielded more than grass monocultures; intermediate wheatgrass (*Thinopyrum intermedium* (Host.) Barkw. & D.R. Dewey) and smooth bromegrass (*Bromus inermis* Leyss.) grown in mixture with alfalfa (*Medicago sativa* L.) yielded more than

their respective grass monocultures. In this study, the intermediate wheatgrass-alfalfa mixture yielded 12,736 kg ha⁻¹ compared to 4012 kg ha⁻¹ for the monoculture, and the smooth bromegrassalfalfa mixture yielded 12,614 kg ha⁻¹ compared to 4,002 kg ha⁻¹ for the monoculture. This may be partially explained by various factors, including differences in root structure that allow greater whole stand exploitation of water resources, grass exploitation of the nitrogen (N) that legumes fix in the soil and the ability of legumes to procure their own atmospheric nitrogen, reducing competition for resources (Sleugh et al., 2000; Springer et al., 2001; Temperton et al., 2007; Ashworth et al., 2015).

One factor that limits the benefit of interseeding legumes into NWSG is the difficulty of establishment (Bartholomew and Williams, 2010; Keyser et al., 2016b). Research has shown that greater grass height and ground cover suppress legume establishment (Wilsey, 2010). Seeding method may influence interseeding outcomes (Mueller and Chamblee, 1984; Byers and Templeton, 1988; Schlueter and Tracy, 2012), as well as the suppression of the dominant forage species before interseeding through chemical, physical, and other means (Cuomo et al, 1996; Gettle et al., 1996). Additional research is needed to determine the effect that these and other factors have on legume establishment in NWSG.

Chapter 2

Literature Review

2.1 Native Warm-Season Grasses

Native warm-season grasses are, as implied by the name, warm-season bunchgrasses which populated North America prior to the arrival of European settlers. Though these grasses once dominated the eastern United States, they have been largely replaced by tall fescue and other introduced species in forage production settings. Five native warm-season grasses (NWSG) are most used in forage production: big bluestem, little bluestem, Indiangrass, switchgrass, and eastern gamagrass (Keyser et al., 2011a). These species are most productive when cool-season grasses (CSG) enter what is known as the "summer slump", a period of lower productivity in the hottest months of the year (Tracy et al., 2010). Due to this difference in peak growth periods for NWSG and CSG, integrating both into the same livestock operation can have a complementary effect as livestock are rotated from CSG to WSG when each species begins peak production (Moore et al., 2004).

Native warm-season grasses are more productive in the summer months because they use the C₄ photosynthetic pathway, rather than the C₃ photosynthetic pathway used by CSGs; their use of the C₄ pathway allows NWSG to utilize CO₂, water, nitrogen (N), and solar radiation more efficiently (Brejda, 2000). The C₄ pathway is more efficient at CO₂ assimilation than the C₃ pathway because of an adaptation in C₄ plants that positions Rubisco, the most important and often most limiting enzyme in CO₂ assimilation, in the bundle sheath cells, where C₄ plants maintain a CO₂ concentration 10-100 times greater than that of ambient air; this isolates Rubisco from oxygen, avoiding the wasteful process of photorespiration, thus increasing photosynthetic efficiency (Furbank and Hatch, 1987; Jenkins et al., 1989). This adaptation is absent in C₃ plants, and because photorespiration increases with oxygen concentration and leaf temperature, C₃ plants perform photosynthesis less efficiently than C₄ plants at higher temperatures (Ehleringer and Björkman, 1977; Ehleringer and Pearcy, 1983). Ku and Edwards (1978) found that the C₃ crop wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) and the C₄ crop corn (*Zea mays* L.) have similar quantum yields for photosynthesis at 15°C at 0.062 mol CO₂ mol⁻¹ quanta and 0.059 mol CO₂ mol⁻¹ quanta, respectively; when temperatures increased to 35°C the quantum yield for wheat declined to 0.046 mol CO₂ mol⁻¹ quanta while the quantum yield for corn remained essentially constant.

Taylor et al. (2009) found, at a mean temperature of 20°C, that twenty-two C₄ grasses from five clades (Aristidoideae, Chloridoideae, Micrairoideae, Andropogoneae, and Paniceae) had a significantly higher mean net leaf photosynthetic CO₂ assimilation rate (19.1 μ mol CO₂ m⁻² s⁻¹ \pm 0.6) than twelve C₃ grasses from three clades (Arundinoideae, Danthonioideae, and Paniceae) (13.2 μ mol CO₂ m⁻² s⁻¹ \pm 0.6); the experiment was phylogenetically controlled so that species were primarily compared based on their photosynthetic pathway. This study also found a difference in greater mean intrinsic water use efficiency, which is the ratio of net leaf photosynthetic CO₂ assimilation rate to stomatal conductance; C₄ grasses had significantly greater values (173 ± 3) than C₃ grasses (80 ± 4) , assimilating much more CO₂ per unit of water expended. Brown (1978) theorized that C₄ plants have greater nitrogen use efficiency, allowing them to maintain equal photosynthetic capacity with lower leaf N content than C_3 plants. Confirming this theory, Sage and Pearcy (1987) showed that the C₄ plant Amaranthus retroflexus (L.) had a greater rate of photosynthesis than similarly adapted C3 plant Chenopodium album (L.) at identical leaf N content, and that A. retroflexus maintained a lower leaf N content than C. album. They noted that greater nitrogen use efficiency may allow C₄ species to allocate more N into new leaf production

or the root system, contributing to greater whole plant carbon gain. Taylor et al. (2009) also found C_4 species to have greater photosynthetic N-use efficiency, but found a smaller, statistically insignificant difference in leaf N content. As global temperatures and atmospheric CO_2 levels rise in tandem, some C_4 grass species are expected to thrive at the expense of C_3 species due to their superior adaptation to high temperatures and drought conditions (Sage and Kubien, 2003). The unique adaptations of NWSGs that allow high productivity in conditions considered suboptimal for CSGs combined with efficient resource utilization make them a valuable option for forage producers.

2.2 Establishment of NWSG

Establishment of NWSG has shown to be more inconsistent and complex than establishment of popular CSGs, so attention to detail and proper planning is imperative (Sadeghpour et al., 2014; Richwine et al., 2021; Keyser and Ashworth, 2022). Researchers have established that satisfactory establishment of NWSG is dependent on the elimination of existing vegetation with herbicides or tillage (Barnes, 2004), the use of high-quality seed well adapted to the location being seeded (Wilson et al., 2016), good seed-soil contact by planting at the right depth (Newman and Moser, 1988), and providing residual weed control while the stand is still in the seedling stage through chemical means (Washburn and Barnes, 2000) and possibly with the assistance of a companion crop (Hintz et al., 1998).

2.2.1 NWSG Species and Cultivars

Even within NWSG species, there is variation in their suitability to be grazed, harvested as hay, or even harvested as biomass for bioenergy production (Tracy et al., 2010; Burns and Fisher, 2013; Lowe et al., 2013; McIntosh et al., 2016). Mixtures of these grasses are often planted

together, and higher species diversity in NWSG stands has been linked to higher yields and more effective weed suppression (DeHaan et al., 2010; Bonin and Tracy, 2012). Big bluestem, LB, and IG are commonly planted in mixtures (McIntosh et al., 2016; Brazil et al., 2020). Big bluestem and IG may perform better when planted in mixture because BB matures earlier than IG, and this temporal separation of peak growth between the species could have a complementary effect on whole stand productivity (Allan et al., 2011). The BB+LB+IG mixture is high yielding with high nutritional quality, and these grasses maintain forage nutritional quality for more of the growing season than with SG or EG (McIntosh et al., 2016). Switchgrass and EG can produce large quantities of high-quality forage, generally yielding more than BB, LB, and IG, but there is also interest in using these species for biomass feedstock production (McIntosh et al., 2016; Kieffer et al., 2023). Due to the various differences between NWSG species, the characteristics and objectives of the forage system should be taken into account when selecting which NWSG species to establish.

Native warm-season grass seed is available in multiple forms, including commercial cultivars that have been bred for improved agronomic qualities and local ecotypes that are presumably naturally adapted to the region of origin (Chamberlain et al. 2012). There is debate regarding the relative merits of commercial cultivars and local ecotypes; in Kansas, Klopf and Baer (2011) have reported that BB and IG cultivars had greater root length, surface area, and volume than local ecotypes of the same species. Flint et al. (2019) found that SG cultivars and commercially produced, but not deliberately selected, ecotypes were more competitive with weeds than seed collected in the wild, possibly reflecting a combination of genetic improvement and the effects of cultural practices, such as greater seed plumpness in commercially harvested seed. In contrast, Chamberlain et al. (2012) in their Wisconsin study found that differences between

commercial cultivars and locally harvested seed for BB and IG were inconsistent, and that both provided acceptable pasture. Similarly, Wilsey (2010) found in Iowa that there was no difference in aboveground net primary productivity between cultivars and local seed sources of BB, LB, IG, and SG. In Kansas and Illinois, Wilson et al. (2016) found that BB and IG ecotypes performed better when planted closer to their point of origin, with increased distance from their point of origin along a precipitation gradient decreasing the dominance of seeded grasses. As both ecotypes and cultivars have demonstrated the ability to perform well as forage grasses, either may be acceptable depending on the circumstances of their utilization.

2.2.2 Seed Dormancy

Seed dormancy is a significant obstacle in planting NWSG. Seed must often go through a significant period of after-ripening to germinate without treatment; of the commonly used treatments, cold stratification has generally served as an effective method of breaking seed dormancy, while chemical and mechanical methods have achieved mixed results (Emal and Conard, 1973; Beckman et al., 1993; Rogis et al., 2004; Keyser et al., 2016a). Emal and Conard (1973) found that new IG seed maintained near complete dormancy for seven months of storage, with germination improving afterward; seed pre-soaked and chilled at 4-6°C for four weeks always achieved near 100% germination, while seed exposed to gibberellic acid or sodium hypochlorite had improved germination when exposed to sunlight. Beckman et al. (1993) found that BB seed moistened for two days at 17°C and seed pre-soaked and then chilled for two weeks at 4°C both improved germination by 7% over the dry control treatment; they also found that SG seed pre-soaked and chilled for two weeks at 4°C both improved germination by 7% over the dry control treatment. Rogis et al. (2004) found that stratifying EG seed at 4°C for six weeks resulted in 40% germination, compared to the 18%

germination attained from priming with gibberellic acid for one week and 13% without gibberellic acid. These examples show the beneficial effect cold stratification has on germination and emergence in NWSG seed.

2.2.3 Planting Date

The date of planting can affect the success of NWSG plantings. Hsu et al. (1985) estimated base emergence temperatures of 8.9, 8.6, and 10.3°C for BB, IG, and SG; Hsu and Nelson (1986a) estimated similar base emergence temperatures of 9.9, 9.4, and 10.8°C for BB, IG, and SG respectively. Hsu et al. (1985) found that maximal emergence occurred for BB, IG, and SG between 20 and 30°C for cold stratified seeds and between 12 and 20°C for seeds that were not cold stratified; greater emergence at lower temperatures among unstratified seed was attributed to a partial fulfillment of the chilling requirement by those lower temperatures. Hsu and Nelson (1986a) found that plantings made in late April and mid-May in Missouri resulted in the highest emergence rates and were planted early enough to minimize exposure to high temperature and moisture stress; late plantings in June had reduced seedling survival to 70% compared to the average of 90% when soil conditions became dry. Hsu and Nelson (1986b) also found that seedlings performed well in June plantings when rainfall was frequent until early July, but performed best when planted in May if rainfall was infrequent, reinforcing the value of earlier plantings in avoiding soil moisture stress. In Tennessee, Keyser et al. (2016a) found that mid-March SG planting stand densities were similar or greater than early December, February, and May plantings, when using seed with a dormancy level of 45-75%. Among planting dates there was no difference in second year yields, clustering around 4 Mg ha⁻¹, suggesting that all treatments had plant densities that passed a threshold above which yields are less sensitive to density in the long term.

2.2.4 Planting Method

Native warm-season grasses may be established using a seed drill or a broadcast seeder, into tilled or untilled soil; the adaptation of no-till drill technology to NWSG seeding has made this a preferred establishment method, involving the drilling of NWSG seed into herbicide-killed sod from the previous forage stand (Barnes, 2004). Drilling NWSG seed as opposed to broadcasting it has been observed to result in greater grass abundance with more even distribution (Yurkonis et al., 2010b), and drilled canopies have also been observed to capture more light than broadcast canopies (Yurkonis et al., 2010a). In a Tennessee experiment, Harper et al. (2002) found that no-till drilling resulted in greater BB (12.9 vs. 3.8 plants m⁻²), LB (8.1 vs. 2.8 m⁻²), and IG (15.5 vs. 4.5 m⁻²) seedling counts compared to conventional tillage followed by top-sowing at one location, finding no difference at another location and no difference for SG. Due to its larger seed, EG is planted in wider rows using a corn planter, with 76.2 cm being a typical row width (Aberle et al., 2003).

2.2.5 Planting Depth

Native warm-season grasses are sensitive to planting depth in part due to the small size of their seed; Newman and Moser (1988) seeded BB, IG, and SG at depths of 1.5, 3.0, 4.5, and 6.0 cm and found that BB and IG emergence decreased as planting depth exceeded 1.5 cm while SG emergence decreased as planting depth exceeded 3.0 cm. The emergence for BB and IG was low even at depths of 1.5 cm, suggesting that this depth was too deep for this environment and soil type (Newman and Moser, 1988). This is reflected in the recommended planting depth for these grasses at 1 cm (Moser and Vogel, 1995). Butler et al. (2016) found that planting SG at 0.635 cm and 1.27 cm generally resulted in a greater number of seedlings and yield than planting at 2.54 cm, though all three depths produced seedling counts exceeding 10.8 plants m⁻². Eastern gamagrass

has much larger seeds than the other NWSG species and as such can be planted much deeper in the soil; Aberle et al. (2003) found that EG seeded at depths of 2.5 and 5.0 cm very infrequently differed in terms of net seedling survival, showing that this species can be planted deeper than the other NWSG.

2.2.6 Companion Crops

The loss of forage production in the year of NWSG establishment represents a significant short-term cost to producers. This shortage may be alleviated via the use of a companion crop, which may also serve to reduce the proliferation of weedy species during the establishment year. In their Iowa study, Hintz et al. (1998) found that BB and SG could be established in a corn (Zea *mays*) companion crop with the application of atrazine to control early cool-season weed species; BB had plant counts of 31.7 and 5.2 plants m⁻² in the first and second year respectively, while SG had plant counts of 26.3 and 46.4 plants m⁻². Additionally, short- or long-season corn hybrids could be planted with plant densities between 12,400 and 49,400 plants ha⁻¹, without reducing NWSG stands; stands planted in corn with atrazine were greater than stands without corn or atrazine in one year, at 26.3 plants m⁻² vs. 14.0 plants m⁻² for SG and 31.7 plants m⁻² vs. 10.8 plants m⁻² for BB. In this study, corn could be harvested for grain or silage, reducing the loss in production. Richwine et al. (2021) found similar results when employing browntop millet (Urochloa ramosa (L.) Nguyen) as a companion crop while establishing BB and SG in Tennessee; browntop millet impeded BB and SG establishment, as controls had greater stand counts in all cases, but all treatments still resulted in acceptable stands of over 5.4 plants m⁻². Harvesting browntop millet for hay produced a mean DM yield of 3.15 Mg ha⁻¹ in one year and 2.68 Mg ha⁻¹ in another, providing ample forage using land that would otherwise be unproductive during NWSG establishment. In an additional Tennessee study, Keyser and Ashworth (2022) found that SG was

more successful in establishing under a winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) cover crop than BB or EG, with poor weed control contributing to the collapse in stand counts among all species in some years and locations.

2.2.7 Herbicide

Herbicide can be sprayed in the year prior to planting to attain adequate weed control during establishment; in the spring of the second growing season following herbicide treatment, Bahm et al. (2011a) found that an application of imazapic at 0.10 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ with imazapyr at 0.16 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ resulted in a smooth brome cover of 12% and a Kentucky bluegrass (*Poa pratensis* L.) cover of 13%, compared to 39% smooth brome and 27% Kentucky bluegrass in the untreated control. Burning the undesirable plant population and letting it regrow to a short height before spraying may improve NWSG establishment, but fire can be paired with herbicide for the improved results (Barnes, 2004; Bahm et al., 2011a). A pre-emergence application of imazapic is typically employed to provide residual weed control; Washburn and Barnes (2000) report that a pre-emergence application of 0.07 kg a.i. ha^{-1} imazapic reduced weed cover to <5% during the first growing season, compared to >95% in the control, resulting in second year NWSG plant density 4.5x that of the control. Washburn et al. (2002) report that a post emergence application of imazapic at 0.21 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ two to three seasons after seeding NWSG is highly effective at controlling reemerging tall fescue and other weedy species, though Ghajar et al. (2022) note that imazapic can also decrease desirable forb populations such as native wildflowers. Mixtures of imazapic and glyphosate may also be employed as a pre-emergent herbicide; Bahm et al. (2015) found that an application of 0.07 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ imazapic and 0.18 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ glyphosate resulted in planted native grass cover of 70% after three years, compared to 1% in the untreated control.

2.3 Forage production

Native warm-season grasses may be ready for utilization in their second growing season, a year after their planting (Keyser et al., 2011b), though they may need more time if establishment was difficult (Henning, 1993). These grasses can be grazed (Tracy et al., 2010), harvested as hay (Burns and Fisher, 2012), or harvested as biomass for bioenergy production (McIntosh et al., 2016). Of the high yielding varieties, EG matures earliest, followed by SG, BB, and finally IG (Moser and Vogel, 1995; Keyser et al., 2011b). As NWSG matures, forage quality rapidly declines while forage mass increases (Mitchell et al., 2001; Backus et al., 2017; Brazil et al., 2020).

2.3.1 Grazing Height and Stocking Rate

It is possible to utilize NWSG using rotational or continuous grazing (Burns and Fisher, 2010; Brazil et al., 2020). Grazing NWSG too short can damage plant vigor, decrease the amount of carbohydrate reserves, and decrease the odds of winter survival (Owensby et al., 1970; Owensby et al., 1974); the growing points of NWSG are higher from the ground than traditional CSG forages, and therefore defoliation must be more carefully managed to avoid injury (Temu and Kering, 2023). Forwood and Magai (1992) found that BB clipped to 10 cm remained similar in ground cover over two years while BB clipped to 20 cm improved significantly from 22% ground cover to 61% ground cover over two years. Though grazing the grass to a lower height may seem to guarantee improved animal gain at the cost of long term stand health, Burns and Fisher (2010) found in North Carolina that continuously grazed EG produced the best ADG of 0.90 kg d⁻¹ while supporting 6.1 steers ha⁻¹ with a target height of 36 to 46 cm. Balancing stand health and animal gains, Burns and Fisher (2013) targeted stand heights between 20 and 30 cm for BB, SG, and EG. Keyser et al. (2022) targeted canopy heights of 40-46 cm for BB+IG, 60-76 cm for SG, and 45-60 cm for EG, maintaining these targets through a put-and-take method, changing the number of

grazing animals to change the level of grazing pressure. Native warm-season grass species can differ in the stocking rates they can support; in Tennessee, Keyser et al. (2016b) found that BB+IG supported a per-year average of 199 animal days (AD) ha⁻¹ over three years while SG supported 262 AD ha⁻¹, though total gain was not significantly different. In contrast, Burns and Fisher (2013) found in their North Carolina study that BB, SG, and EG supported similar stocking rates, with a mean of 5.7 steers ha⁻¹. In an additional three-year Tennessee study, Keyser et al. (2022) found that the stocking rate for each species declined over the growing season, reporting that BB+IG declined from a mean stocking rate of 6.4 head of weaned heifers ha⁻¹ in May to 3.7 head ha⁻¹ in August; SG declined from 11.6 to 4.0, and EG declined from 11.6 to 4.9 over the same time scale.

2.3.2 Harvest Timing

Native warm-season grasses should be harvested for hay at the early-boot growing stage to optimize nutritive value and yield. McIntosh et al. (2016) found that the crude protein (CP) of SG decreased from 106.8 g kg⁻¹ at the early-boot stage to 86.8 g kg⁻¹ at the early-seedhead stage while acid detergent fiber (ADF) increased from 403.1 to 435.4; in the case of BB+IG, CP decreased from 114.7 g kg⁻¹ to 93.1 g kg⁻¹ and ADF increased from 391.7 g kg⁻¹ to 401.7 g kg⁻¹. A period of regrowth is necessary between harvests to allow the stand to recover and produce more forage; in Virginia, Temu et al. (2014) found that 30-40 day harvest intervals for BB, LB, and IG maximized first production year yields and did not seem to compromise post-season stand recovery in comparison to longer intervals. In Mississippi, Rushing et al. (2019a) found that cutting BB, LB, IG, SG, and EG at 30 day intervals resulted in the greatest mean dry matter yield in the first year at 5,416 kg ha⁻¹, compared to 4,994 kg ha⁻¹ for the 40 day interval and 3,611 kg ha⁻¹ for the 120 day interval; in the second year, yields were similar and had declined for all intervals except the 120 day interval, which yielded 3,708 kg ha⁻¹. Rushing et al. (2019a) recommend that allowing up

to 60 days between harvests will balance the competing interests of maximizing yield in the short term and managing stand health in the long term. As with grazing, care must be taken to avoid harvesting to too low a height, because the growing points of NWSG are above the common cutting heights for CSG; Temu and Kering (2023) employed a cutting height of 18 cm, while Rushing et al. (2019a) employed a cutting height of 30 cm.

2.3.3 Big Bluestem, Little Bluestem, and Indiangrass Forage Yield

In a grazing study conducted in Iowa, Moore et al. (2004) found BB to have available forage averaging 3.70 Mg ha⁻¹ (clipped to 2.5 cm) over five years, with yearly values ranging from 1.76 to 5.34 Mg ha⁻¹. In a North Carolina grazing study, a BB pasture cut to the soil surface was found to have a forage mass averaging 4.54 Mg ha⁻¹ over three summers, supporting a season-long average stocking rate of 5.4 steers ha⁻¹ (Burns and Fisher, 2013). In a Tennessee grazing study, a BB+IG blend had an average total forage mass of 2.79 Mg ha⁻¹ over three years, when samples were clipped to 7.6 cm; interseeded clover did not affect yield (Keyser et al., 2016b). In a multilocation study in Tennessee, a study focusing on a 30-day early grazing period in May found that a BB+IG blend produced a forage mass of 4.28 Mg ha⁻¹ at one experimental location and 3.03 Mg ha⁻¹ at another over three years, with plots clipped to 2.5 cm (Backus et al., 2017). Additional research in a Tennessee study resulted in a BB+LB+IG mixture yielding a three-year average forage mass of 3.21 Mg ha⁻¹ on continuously grazed pasture clipped at 5 cm averaged among grazing treatments, forage mass increased from a 7 May value of 2.34 Mg ha⁻¹ to a 1 July high of 3.91, and declined back to 2.36 Mg ha⁻¹ by 23 Aug. in a pattern typical for these species (Brazil et al., 2020). The Tennessee study conducted by Keyser et al. (2022) found an abnormally low threeyear mean forage mass of 0.91 Mg ha⁻¹ for a BB+IG blend supporting a stocking rate of 5 weaned

heifers ha⁻¹, with forage mass declining from a May value of 1.87 Mg ha⁻¹ to an August value of 0.51 Mg ha⁻¹.

2.3.4 Switchgrass Forage Yield

In an Iowa grazing study, Moore et al. (2004) found that SG had a mean forage mass of 3.68 Mg ha⁻¹ (clipped to 2.5 cm) over five years, with yearly values ranging from 1.74 to 5.99 Mg ha⁻¹. In a North Carolina grazing study, SG had a mean summer forage mass of 4.94 Mg ha⁻¹ over six years, supporting a stocking rate of 6.1 steers ha⁻¹ (Burns and Fisher, 2013). In one Tennessee grazing study, SG had a mean total forage mass of 3.61 Mg ha⁻¹ over three years, with interseeded red clover (Trifolium pratense L.) not affecting yield (Keyser et al., 2016b). A multi-location Tennessee grazing study focusing on an early 30-day grazing period in May found that SG produced a mean forage mass of 6.31 Mg ha⁻¹ at one experimental location and 4.04 Mg ha⁻¹ at another, averaged over three years with plots clipped to 2.5 cm (Backus et al., 2017). An additional Tennessee grazing study resulted in SG yielding an abnormally low three-year mean forage mass of 1.68 Mg ha⁻¹, supporting a stocking rate of 7 weaned heifers ha⁻¹; during the growing seasons, average forage mass dropped from a May value of 2.63 Mg ha⁻¹ to a June value of 0.95 Mg ha⁻¹, rising to 1.81 and 1.75 Mg ha⁻¹ in July and August, respectively (Keyser et al., 2022). An analysis by Wullschleger et al. (2010) of 39 field trials on SG biomass production found a mean (±SD) yield of 8.7 ± 4.2 Mg ha⁻¹ for upland ecotype SG, and 12.9 ± 5.9 Mg ha⁻¹ for lowland ecotype SG. Wullschleger et al. (2010) noted that ecotype, temperature, precipitation, and N fertilization were the strongest predictors of yield, and that their model predicted SG yields to be highest at the core of the natural range of SG, in mid-latitudes of the eastern US.

2.3.5 Eastern Gamagrass Forage Yield

In a North Carolina grazing study contrasting rotational and continuous stocking methods, continuously grazed EG with a target canopy height over 51 cm had an average forage mass of 1.93 Mg ha⁻¹ over four years, supporting 5.8 steers ha⁻¹ (Burns and Fisher, 2010). In an additional North Carolina study, EG had a mean summer forage mass of 5.18 Mg ha⁻¹ over five years, supporting a stocking rate of 6.4 steers ha⁻¹ (Burns and Fisher, 2013). A Tennessee study focusing on an early 30-day grazing period in May found EG to have a mean forage mass of 5.43 Mg ha⁻¹ over three years (Backus et al., 2017). Additional grazing research in Tennessee found 'Highlander' EG to produce forage mass ranging from 8.45 Mg ha⁻¹ to 1.92 Mg ha⁻¹ over three years, with the decline in standing forage reflecting an improvement in grazing management; in this study EG supported a mean stocking rate of 1788 \pm 514 kg ha⁻¹ and 412 grazing days ha⁻¹ (Keyser et al., 2020). Further research by Keyser et al. (2022) in Tennessee study found EG to have a mean forage mass of 0.66 Mg ha⁻¹, beginning with a May value of 1.35 Mg ha⁻¹ and declining to an August value of 0.43 Mg ha⁻¹; the authors noted that these values are abnormally low for this forage crop compared to those reported in other studies.

2.3.6 Burning

Burning residue is a practice that has shown to benefit NWSG forage production, affecting the forage yield, nutritive value, rate of maturation and other physiological responses of NWSG (Hadley and Kieckhefer, 1963; Owensby et al., 1970; Peet et al., 1975; Mitchell et al., 1994). Burning has also improved initial establishment success of NWSG; in an Oklahoma study, Butler et al. (2016) found that no-till drilling SG after burning existing vegetation resulted in equal stand percentage at 150 days after planting to the stand percentage achieved when tilling before seeding, allowing producers to seed NWSG with decreased risk of erosion. In a study focused on exotic CSG control in South Dakota prairies formerly dominated by BB, LB, IG, and SG, Bahm et al. (2011a and 2011b) found that fall burning reduced the amount of smooth brome vegetative cover compared to the control, though it was inferior to herbicide in this respect. In the first year, smooth brome comprised 21% of cover in burned plots compared to 28% in the control; in the second year, smooth brome comprised 19% of cover in burned plots compared to 39% in the control. In a 15year experiment conducted in Kansas, Smith and Knapp (1999) found that burning reduced ground cover of exotic species and decreased exotic species richness by 80-90% in grasslands dominated by NWSG, including BB and IG. Mitchell et al. (1994) found in their Nebraska study that burning in early spring increased BB forage production in June by at least 52% and burning in mid- or late spring increased August forage production by at least 70%. This study also found that burning in late spring increased CP of BB in June by at least 15% compared to other burn treatments; the delay in peak yield and increase in forage quality later in the season can be attributed to a delay in BB growth caused by burning. Burning also contributes to greater NWSG seedling recruitment within established stands, allowing turnover in the grass population (Zimmermann et al., 2008). These factors make burning a potent tool to be used in managing NWSG forage production systems.

2.3.7 Soil Fertility

Due to their unique adaptations, NWSG are known to maintain a high level of productivity with less fertilization than other forage species (Jung et al., 1988; Monroe et al., 2017). In an Oklahoma study, Thomason et al. (2005) found that, though N applied at a rate of 448 kg N ha⁻¹ did result in total SG yields of 18.0 Mg ha⁻¹, SG that had received no application yielded only slightly less at 16.9 Mg ha⁻¹. In a study conducted in north-central Texas, Bow et al. (2008) reported greater SG yields and greater plant phosphorus concentrations in the second year after a

30 Mg ha⁻¹ compost application compared to control, with the delay potentially linked to the slower soil infiltration rate of compost. A study conducted by Muir et al. (2001) in north-central and southern Texas resulted in SG yields that decline over time if N applications are not made, and that SG biomass production was unresponsive to P applications; an application rate of 168 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ was found to sustainably produce over 13 Mg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ in biomass, though production is likely to remain consistent only on soils with higher moisture retention. In an Alabama study, Mason et al. (2019) found that fertilization with 67 kg N ha⁻¹ did not result in different EG yields compared to fertilization with 135 kg N ha⁻¹. Rushing et al. (2019a) evaluated monocultures of all five major NWSG species (BB, LB, IG, SG, and EG) and three variations of the BB+LB+IG mixture in Mississippi, finding that N applications had a significant but minor effect on NWSG DM yield, accounting for 2 and 4% of variation in the first and second years of the study, respectively. These inconsistent results reflect the wide variability of NWSG response to fertilization. Brejda (2000) compiled data showing a range of DM yield improvement of 0.5-6.0 Mg ha⁻¹ for BB, 0-6.2 Mg ha⁻¹ for SG, 0-4.9 Mg ha⁻¹ for IG, and 0-8.6 Mg ha⁻¹ for EG, with cultivar, year, and location all affecting the variability. N fertilization may have a positive effect on CP in BB, IG, SG, and EG, though the effect is variable (Waramit et al., 2012).

2.4 Nutritive Value

2.4.1 Nutritive Value Difference Between Species

The nutritional value of NWSG is primarily affected by species and harvest timing (Rushing et al., 2019b). In comparison to SG and EG, the commonly mixed species BB, LB, and IG are known to generally have higher nutritive value, is in part due to their later maturity and greater proportion of leaf tissue early in the season (Mitchell et al., 2001; Ball et al., 2015; McIntosh et al., 2016). McIntosh et al. (2016) found that when harvested at the early-boot stage, a BB+IG blend had a mean CP content of 114.7 g kg⁻¹, compared to 106.8 g kg⁻¹ for SG; they also

found BB+IG to have an neutral detergent fiber (NDF) and ADF of 648.2 g kg⁻¹ and 391.7 g kg⁻¹, respectively, while SG had values of 684.9 g kg⁻¹ and 403.1 g kg⁻¹. When McIntosh et al. (2016) waited until the early-seedhead stage to harvest, the differences became less pronounced, with BB+IG and SG having similar CP content values at 93.1 g kg⁻¹ and 86.8 g kg⁻¹ respectively; BB+IG retained lower NDF and ADF content than SG, at 668.3 g kg⁻¹ and 401.7 g kg⁻¹ for BB+IG compared to 729.8 g kg⁻¹ and 435.4 g kg⁻¹ for SG. Despite any difference in nutritive values, EG and SG often support higher stocking rates and produce more forage; Keyser et al. (2022) found that SG supported 617 grazing days ha⁻¹ and EG supported 664 grazing days ha⁻¹, compared to 412 for a BB+IG mixture.

2.4.2 Big Bluestem, Little Bluestem, and Indiangrass Nutritive Value

In North Carolina, Burns and Fisher (2013) found that BB pasture had a CP content of 90 g kg⁻¹, an NDF content of 743 g kg⁻¹, and an ADF content of 418 g kg⁻¹ among two replicates in one year. In Tennessee, Backus et al. (2017) found that BB+IG pasture grazed early in the season had a mean CP content of 99.6 g kg⁻¹, a mean NDF content of 679.3 g kg⁻¹, and a mean ADF content of 413.7 g kg⁻¹ at one experimental location over three years. Rushing et al. (2019b) found that BB had a mean CP content of 96.5 g kg⁻¹, a mean NDF content of 700 g kg⁻¹, and a mean ADF content of 368.5 g kg⁻¹ over two years in Tennessee. In an additional Tennessee study, Brazil et al. (2020) found that a continuously grazed BB+LB+IG mixture had a season-long mean CP content of 98 g kg⁻¹, a mean NDF content of 644 g kg⁻¹, and a mean ADF content of 414 g kg⁻¹ over three years. In their Tennessee grazing study, Keyser et al. (2022) found that a BB+IG mixture had, within the grazing horizon above 41 cm, a mean CP content of 106 g kg⁻¹, a mean NDF content of 663 g kg⁻¹, and a mean ADF content of 411 g kg⁻¹ over three years; in the subcanopy between

heights of 20 and 40 cm, mean CP content was 92 g kg⁻¹, mean NDF content was 674 g kg⁻¹, and mean ADF content was 435 g kg⁻¹ over three years.

2.4.3 Switchgrass Nutritive Value

In North Carolina, Burns and Fisher (2013) found that SG pasture had a mean CP content of 103 g kg⁻¹, a mean NDF content of 694 g kg⁻¹, and a mean ADF content of 376 g kg⁻¹ within two replicates over four years. In Tennessee, McIntosh et al. (2016) found that SG harvested for hay at the early boot stage had a mean CP content of 106.8 g kg⁻¹, a mean NDF content of 684.9 g kg⁻¹, and a mean ADF content of 403.1 g kg⁻¹ across three locations over three years. Backus et al. (2017) found in their Tennessee study that SG grazed early in the season had a mean CP content of 66.3 g kg⁻¹, a mean NDF content of 745.5 g kg⁻¹, and a mean ADF content of 424.2 g kg⁻¹ at one experimental location over three years. Additional research in Tennessee by Keyser et al. (2022) found that SG had, in the grazing horizon above 41 cm, a mean CP content of 102 g kg⁻¹, a mean NDF content of 681 g kg⁻¹, and a mean ADF content of 391 g kg⁻¹ over three years; within the subcanopy between heights of 20 and 40 cm, mean CP content was 84 g kg⁻¹, mean NDF content was 699 g kg⁻¹, and mean ADF content was 419 g kg⁻¹ over three years.

2.4.4 Eastern Gamagrass Nutritive Value

Burns and Fisher (2010) found in their North Carolina study that continually grazed EG managed at a canopy height between 36 and 46 cm had a mean CP content of 123 g kg⁻¹, a mean NDF content of 680 g kg⁻¹, and a mean ADF content of 343 g kg⁻¹. In Mississippi, Rushing et al. (2019b) found a mean CP content of 98.5 g kg⁻¹, a mean NDF content of 710.0 g kg⁻¹, and a mean ADF content of 375 g kg⁻¹ over two years. In Tennessee, Keyser et al. (2020) found that EG had a mean CP content of 141.7 g kg⁻¹, a mean NDF content of 651.8 g kg⁻¹, and a mean ADF content

of 354.2 g kg⁻¹ over three years. In another Tennessee study, Keyser et al. (2022) found that EG had, in the grazing horizon above 41 cm, a mean CP content of 114 g kg⁻¹, a mean NDF content of 681 g kg⁻¹, and a mean ADF content of 418 g kg⁻¹ over three years; within the subcanopy between heights of 20 and 40 cm, EG had a mean CP content of 102 g kg⁻¹, a mean NDF content of 692 g kg⁻¹, and mean ADF content of 424 g kg⁻¹ over three years.

2.4.5 Nutritive Value and Harvest Timing

All NWSG nutritive values benefit from being harvested earlier in the season, around early boot stage, to maintain high nutritive value (McIntosh et al., 2016; Backus et al., 2017; Rushing et al., 2019b; Brazil et al., 2020). In Tennessee, Brazil et al. (2020) found that a BB+LB+IG mixture had a CP content of 147 g kg⁻¹ on 7 May, which rapidly declined to 85 g kg⁻¹ by 4 June; CP content remained at this level until the end of the season with a value of 82 g kg⁻¹ on 23 August. As CP fell, NDF content increased from 557 g kg⁻¹ on 7 May to 655 g kg⁻¹ on 4 June, and increased further to 681 g kg⁻¹ by 28 July, remaining at that level through the end of the season with a value of 683 g kg⁻¹ on 7 May to 423 g kg⁻¹ on 4 June, rising to 450 g kg⁻¹ by 28 July, and remaining at this level for rest of the season with a value of 454 g kg⁻¹ on 23 August.

2.5 Animal performance

2.5.1 Comparison with Cool-Season Species

Animal performance on NWSG is generally regarded as inferior to animal performance on tall fescue and other cool-season grasses (Moore et al., 2004; Hudson et al., 2010; Tilhou et al., 2018). In Iowa, Moore et al. (2004) found that growing cattle stocked on smooth bromegrass for the duration of the summer grazing period generally performed better than cattle rotated to BB or SG. This difference is in part due to the difference in nutritive values between species; in Michigan,

Hudson et al. (2010) found that a pasture primarily composed of perennial ryegrass (Lolium perenne L.), tall fescue, orchardgrass (Dactylis glomerata L.), and various legumes generally had higher nutritive value and maintained nutritive value for longer than similar pasture with one-third of its area converted to BB or SG. Similarly, Tilhou et al. (2018) found in Tennessee that winter stockpiled BB+IG and SG forage were inferior to stockpiled tall fescue in terms of CP (32.1 and 21.0 g kg⁻¹ vs. 90.3 g kg⁻¹), NDF (838 and 877 g kg⁻¹ vs. 736 g kg⁻¹), and in vitro total dry matter digestibility (IVTDMD) (410 and 366 g kg⁻¹ vs. 488 g kg⁻¹). Nonetheless, NWSG can serve as a valuable component of a grazing system that provides flexibility to producers; in Illinois, Tracy et al. (2010) found that calves rotated to EG+BB+LB pasture from pasture dominated by tall fescue, Kentucky bluegrass, and orchardgrass gained 0.87 kg d⁻¹ over 27 days in one year and gained 0.94 kg d⁻¹ over 23 days in another, despite the NWSG being allowed to become overly mature before grazing initiation. In Mississippi, Monroe et al. (2017) found that steer calves grazing BB+LB+IG in July had an average daily gain of 0.76 kg d⁻¹ over two years compared to 0.57 kg d⁻¹ for cattle grazing tall fescue and bermudagrass (Cynodon dactylon (L.) Pers.) mixed pasture. Despite differences in growth pattern and nutritive value, NWSG may serve as an acceptable alternative to introduced forage species in certain circumstances.

2.5.2 Animal Performance on NWSG

The broad adaptation of NWSGs allows them to support adequate animal gains across geographically disparate areas. In Tennessee, Brazil et al. (2020) reported that weaned steers grazing BB+LB+IG had an ADG of 0.98 kg d⁻¹ when the stocking rate was left constant throughout the season and had a similar ADG of 0.89 kg d⁻¹ when stocking rate was modified to align with the NWSG growth pattern. Krueger and Curtis (1979) report 0.7 kg d⁻¹ on BB, 0.93 kg d⁻¹ on upland SG, and 1.08 kg d⁻¹ on IG for yearling steers continually grazing in South Dakota. In

Nebraska, Mitchell et al. (2005) reported that yearling steers had a mean ADG of 1.22 kg d⁻¹ among four cultivars of BB. In North Carolina, Burns and Fisher (2013) reported that grade Angus steers had an ADG of .87 kg d⁻¹ on EG, 1.08 kg d⁻¹ on BB, and .91 kg d⁻¹ on SG. In Tennessee, Lowe et al. (2015) found that weaned beef steers had an ADG of 1.23 kg d⁻¹ on BB+IG, 1.14 kg d⁻¹ on SG, and 0.84 kg d⁻¹ on EG. In their dual-use Tennessee study, Backus et al. (2017) reported an ADG of 1.23 kg d⁻¹ for BB+IG, 0.84 kg d⁻¹ for EG, and 1.14 kg d⁻¹ for SG when they were grazed early in the season before a late season biomass harvest.

2.5.3 Disparity Between Tested Nutritive Values and Actual Animal Performance

Animal gains on NWSG can seem to be higher than the nutritive value of the forage would predict. This could be due to the failure of nutritional tests to detect bypass proteins found in C₄ grasses (Mullahey et al., 1992), or due to the sampling of forage from lower in the canopy where livestock may be less likely to graze (Keyser et al., 2016b). Tilhou et al. (2018) found that leaf sub-samples of dormant BB+IG and SG had significantly greater CP and—in the case of SG— significantly lower NDF than whole plant samples; BB+IG leaf CP was 51 g kg⁻¹ compared to a whole plant value of 31 g kg⁻¹, and BB+IG leaf NDF was 818 g kg⁻¹ compared to a whole plant value of 824 g kg⁻¹. In this same study, the effect was more pronounced in SG, with a leaf CP of 65 g kg⁻¹ compared to a whole plant value of 27 g kg⁻¹, and a leaf NDF of 824 g kg⁻¹ compared to a whole plant NDF value of 860 g kg⁻¹. These findings suggest that selective grazing by livestock may account for animal performance that exceeds the expectations set by nutritive value measurements.

2.6 Interseeding Legumes into NWSG

2.6.1 Benefits of Interseeding

Though the potential benefits of interseeding are enticing, the available literature shows inconsistent results when legumes are incorporated into stands of NWSG. One potential benefit of interseeding legumes into NWSG is improvement of forage nutritional quality (Posler et al., 1993; Springer et al., 2001). In Iowa, Posler et al. (1993) found a SG and roundhead lespedeza (Lespedeza capitata Michx.) mixture to have a CP content of 71 g kg⁻¹ compared to 31 g kg⁻¹ for SG monoculture. In Arkansas, Springer et al. (2001) found that a mixture of IG and Illinois bundleflower [Desmanthus illinoensis (Michx.) MacMill., B. Robins. & Fern.] had a mean CP content of 84 g kg⁻¹ over two years compared to 49 g kg⁻¹ in IG monoculture. Interseeding coolseason legumes into grass stands has been explored as a possible method of extending the grazing season by expanding the seasonal distribution of forage production. In Iowa, Sleugh et al. (2000) found that all binary mixtures of three cool-season forage grasses with three legumes had greater forage mass than their respective grass monocultures in the latter half of the growing season. George et al. (1995) found similar results in their Iowa study, finding that a variety of legumes interseeded into SG pasture improved seasonal forage distribution by increasing the available forage in early June compared to SG monoculture. Research has suggested that pastures with greater species richness may produce greater forage yields and suppress weed species more effectively; a Virginia study by Bonin and Tracy (2012) found that mixed-species forage plots containing BB, IG, or SG had a strong positive complementarity effect, meaning that plots containing these grasses were more productive due to interaction between species and niche differentiation.

Legume-grass mixtures may yield more forage than a monoculture of each species (Sleugh et al., 2000). In Wisconsin, Jakubowski et al. (2017) reported that interseeding red clover in SG

and BB resulted in forage and biomass yields equal to SG and BB monocultures fertilized with 112 kg N ha⁻¹. In Tennessee, Ashworth et al. (2015) found that SG interseeded with red clover, hairy vetch (Vicia villosa L.), ladino clover (Trifolium repens L.), and partridge pea (Chamaecrista fasciculate L.) generally produced biomass yields equivalent to SG monocultures fertilized with 33 to 67 kg N ha⁻¹. Contrasting these results, a Tennessee study conducted by Keyser et al. (2016b) reported that interseeding with red clover in SG and BB+IG had limited benefit on forage mass, ADG, CP, and NDF, likely due to inconsistent establishment. Similarly, in Alabama Mason et al. (2019) found no effect on EG seasonal herbage accumulation when overseeding EG with red clover and rye (Secale cereale L.), with the cool season species producing low levels of forage throughout the study. The inconsistency of results between these experiments reflects the complicated variety of factors that influence the success of interseeding legumes into NWSG. Improved yields in legume-grass mixtures may be caused by the direct or indirect provision of N from legume to grass, niche differentiation between species, and "nitrate sparing" arising from legume reliance on atmospheric N, leaving a greater proportion of soil N for grass exploitation (Temperton et al., 2006).

2.6.2 Difficulties Affecting Establishment

One factor that may limit the benefits of interseeding legumes into NWSG is the difficulty of establishment. Establishment of legume species are affected by a variety of factors. One such factor is the crown size of the NWSG species present in the sward. Larger crown sizes restrict the bare ground available for seed germination. Mason et al. (2019) found that red clover and rye interseeded into EG did not establish sufficiently well to influence forage yield, with the larger crown size of EG possibly influencing this failure by hindering good seed-soil contact. Another factor affecting establishment is the density of the NWSG stand in relation to the amount of forb seed planted. In their Kansas study, Dickson and Busby (2009) report that greater density of NWSG seed resulted in poorer establishment of forb species in restoration plantings, while greater quantity of forb seed improved forb cover and biomass; they recommend planting forbs into less dense grass stands for greater establishment success. This relationship between grass vigor and legume establishment is reflected in an experiment by Jung et al. (1985), in which overseeded legumes established well in NWSG stands with less than 75% grass ground cover, but established poorly in stands with greater grass ground cover. These factors are expanded on by Wilsey (2010), whose Iowa study suggests that light capture by taller grass and the covering of bare ground through tillering suppressed the establishment of other species; in their study, LB monocultures allowed far more subordinate species to establish than BB, IG, and SG, likely due to the short height of this species. This is consistent with the results Springer's (1997) Arkansas study, which found that a 5-cm increase in bermudagrass height resulted in a 2% reduction in crimson clover (Trifolium incarnatum L.) ground cover and a 10% reduction in white clover (Trifolium repens L.) ground cover. Because N-applications hinder legume establishment in mixed stands (Jakubowski et al. 2017), and because a lack of N-application and legume competition can cause a first-year shortfall in NWSG forage production, George et al. (1995) recommend that only a portion of NWSG stands be interseeded with legumes each year to minimize the yield loss caused by a lack of fertilizer and increase in competition. In Evers' (1985) Texas study, applying 112 kg N ha⁻¹ to bermudagrass and bahiagrass (Paspalum notatum Flugge) stands interseeded with arrowleaf clover (Trifolium vesiculosum Savi) or subterranean clover (Trifolium subterraneum L.) did not improve total forage yield, but did reduce percentage clover in the stand 5% to 33% compared to unfertilized treatments.

2.6.3 Excessive Competition

A related factor that may negate benefits of interseeding legumes into NWSG is the potential for competition between species, especially early or late in the growing season when NWSG is not at its peak productivity. In their Kansas study, Posler et al. (1993) found that SG and IG stands interseeded with cicer milkvetch (Astragalus cicer L.) essentially became legume monocultures over the course of the experiment, due to this species' early initiation of spring growth that allowed it to develop a dense canopy before the grasses initiated growth. Keyser et al. (2016b) report that excessive red clover growth in the third year of their Tennessee study resulted in decreased sward height for BB+IG and SG, and decreased grass cover for BB+IG, and to a lesser extent, SG. George et al. (1995) managed competition between legumes and SG by employing early-June defoliation; this minimizes competition between legume species and NWSG as the grasses enter their most productive period. Similarly, Bow et al. (2008) harvested mixed forage plots when legume species reached 25% bloom, which occurred in April or May, opening the canopy for SG to enter its period of peak growth. Bow et al. (2008) also report that competition between species is reflected in nutritive data, as some legume species exhibited higher ADF values when grown in mixture with SG than when grown as a monoculture, potentially resulting from etiolation leading to lower leaf:stem ratios; the inclusion of arrowleaf clover resulted in greater SG ADF concentrations in April-May harvests but the effect dwindled in later harvests.

2.6.4 Managing Competition with Fire

Fire is one method of managing competition between species. This may be due to a germination response exhibited by some legumes when exposed to heat, allowing them to emerge without being hampered by residue (Rincker, 1954; Martin et al., 1975). Howe (2011) reported that over 21 years, burned NWSG prairie maintained higher forb species richness over time than

unburned. Contradicting these results, Holcomb et al. (2014) report that yearly burnings did not stimulate forb populations in NWSG stands over a four-year period, and speculate that soil disturbance may be necessary to reduce NWSG cover and increase forb cover in dense NWSG stands. Bartholomew and Williams (2010) concur in their statement that the improvement of low productivity stands of NWSG with legume interseeding may require sustained management to maintain a productive legume population.

2.6.5 Effect of Seeding Method and Timing on Establishment

Seeding method and timing may have an effect on the success of interseeding with legumes. No-till drilling involves the planting of seed beneath the soil surface without tilling the soil; in their Kentucky study, Taylor et al. (1969) found that the seed coverage provided by this method protected seeds from temperature and moisture extremes, and resulted in improved legume stands when compared to seed placed on the soil surface in stands of Kentucky bluegrass. Broadcast seeding involves placing seed on the soil surface; frost seeding is a method of broadcast seeding involving broadcast seeding during winter to allow freeze and thaw action to improve seed-soil contact (Schlueter and Tracy, 2012). Seeding legumes in winter is an established practice that has been used by producers to improve both CSG (Taylor et al., 1972; Castillo et al., 2022) and WSG (Jung et al., 1985; Gettle et al., 1996) pasture in a cost-effective manner. In their North Carolina study, Mueller and Chamblee (1984) found that no-till drilling ladino clover and alfalfa into tall fescue resulted in initial stands with two to four times greater plant counts than achieved by broadcast seeding, producing up to 2000 kg ha⁻¹ more legume yield. This early advantage declined over time, and Mueller and Chamblee (1984) reported that broadcast plots of ladino clover consistently had lower initial stand counts than drilled but eventually developed equally dense stands to drilled plots in 3 of 4 years; both seeding methods benefited from seeding in

February over March. In a Pennsylvania study, Byers and Templeton (1988) found that no-till drilling and broadcasting alfalfa into orchardgrass sod did not differ in DM yields in one experiment, while drilling produced significantly greater alfalfa DM in a second experiment, yielding 2055 kg ha⁻¹ compared to 1358 kg ha⁻¹ for broadcast in the production year; alfalfa DM yield differed between March and May seedings in both experiments. In South Centerbury, New Zealand, Moorehead et al. (1994) found drilled Caucasian clover (Trifolium ambiguum) treatments to have superior establishment in low fertility tussock grassland, with 38% of seed establishing compared to 9% for broadcast. Schlueter and Tracy (2012) found broadcast treatments to produce a mean clover seedling density of 118.2 m⁻², compared to a mean seedling density of 65.9 m⁻² for drilled treatments, though this difference was not significant and did not result in a difference in clover biomass in any year, likely as a result of further clover emergence after the initial emergence count. Cuomo et al. (2001) found no difference in establishment success between the two planting methods for several legumes, and found that the primary determinant of interseeding success was suppressing the existing vegetation during establishment, accomplished in this experiment with 0.62 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ glyphosate.

2.6.6 Effect of NWSG Suppression on Establishment

A commonality in interseeding studies is the value of suppressing the dominant species, and there are multiple methods that may be employed. This is due to the inverse relationship between grass height and biomass and legume seedling emergence (Springer, 1997; Schlueter and Tracy, 2012; Tracy et al., 2014). Cuomo et al. (2001) found that use of glyphosate to suppress sod resulted in legume stands of 38%; planting without suppressing resulted in stands of 3%. Taylor et al. (1969) found that minimal tillage and paraquat aided in legume establishment when grass stands were dense and vigorous; paraquat was more effective at suppressing grass than tillage,

with a 1.11 kg a.i. ha⁻¹ application in 10.2 cm bands achieving a 62% reduction in grass yield compared to a 31% reduction for the widest tilled strips at 5.7 cm. Mueller and Chamblee (1984) found that paraquat applications aided spring-planted ladino clover, but did not affect winterplanted ladino clover. Blanchet et al. (1995) and Gettle et al. (1996) employed early-June defoliation of SG to open the canopy for interseeded legumes; likewise, Schlueter and Tracy (2012) hypothesized that grass biomass removal or suppression, in their case accomplished by grazing, was very important in establishment of clover; this hypothesis was supported in further research by Tracy et al. (2014), who found that red and white clover produced twice as many seedlings when seeded into 2.5 cm stubble (226 seedlings m⁻²) than when seeded into 27 cm swards (106 seedlings m⁻²). Using fire to suppress NWSG prior to planting is a relatively unresearched. Regarding effects of fire on existing legume populations, Towne and Knapp (1996) found that annually burned BB+LB+IG prairie had greater legume density than unburned, while a 21-year experiment by Howe (2011) found a slight positive response burning NWSG stands in forb population richness.

2.7 Research Goal

The objective of this study was to investigate the effect of timing of legume interseeding, planting method of legume interseeding, and the efficacy of burning residue on legume establishment in NWSG. Specific goals within this objective include determining the germination rate of clover for each treatment, the botanical composition of each treatment throughout the growing season measured by mass and number, the forage yield of each treatment, and the forage nutritional value.

Chapter 3

Legume Establishment in Native Warm-Season Grass Pastures

3.1 Abstract

Interseeding legumes in native warm-season grasses (NWSG) may improve the nutritive value of the stand, result in more consistent forage availability throughout the growing season, and increase forage yield. These benefits are often not realized due to difficulties in establishing legumes in existing NWSG stands. This study evaluated the effect of planting method (no-till drill, broadcast, and unseeded control), burning of residue, and planting timing (fall planting, winter planting, and winter planting with residue burned) on the establishment of 'Alice' white clover (Trifolium repens L.) and 'Freedom HR' red clover (Trifolium pratense L.) in a mixed stand of 'Niagara' big bluestem (Andropogon gerardi Vitman), 'GA Ecotype' Indiangrass (Sorghastrum nutans Nash), and 'Camper' little bluestem (Schizachyrium scoparium) in 2022 and 2023 at the Southern Piedmont AREC in Blackstone, Virginia. Burned and drilled plots had the highest emergence (236 plants m⁻²); next highest were winter drilled (146 plants m⁻²) and burn broadcast (133 plants m⁻²), which did not differ. Fall seeded plots and unseeded controls had a low clover emergence with a mean of 21 plants m⁻². Greater emergence in burned plots increased clover content from 5.9 % ground cover to 33.2% cover in the first year, while winter-seeded plots increased from 3% to 13.7%. Drilled plots increased from 5.6% to 28.6%, while broadcast plots increased from 2.1% to 14.8%. Clover dominated burned plots and winter seeded plots in the second year, averaging 91.5% of biomass in burned and drilled plots and 85.6% of biomass in winter drilled plots. The dominance of clover negatively impacted total forage yield for burned plots (5,757 kg ha⁻¹) compared to fall and winter-seeded plots (mean 7,429 kg ha⁻¹), while

improving crude protein content to a late-season value of 149 g kg⁻¹ compared to a fall plot value of 99 g kg⁻¹. Results suggest that red clover may be incompatible with the NWSG which were evaluated, as early initiation of red clover growth and subsequent excessive competition limited NWSG growth and whole plots yields regardless of planting method. Further research is needed to evaluate forage legume species which complement NWSG in mixture rather than compete with them.

3.2 Introduction

Cool-season grasses (CSG) dominate forage production in the eastern US. These grasses produce ample forage in spring and early summer, but cannot maintain their productivity in the summer heat, leading to a decline in forage production and consequently pasture carrying capacity commonly known as the "summer slump" (Moore et al., 2004; Tracy et al., 2010). Native warmseason grasses, such as big bluestem, Indiangrass, little bluestem, switchgrass (*Panicum virgatum*), and eastern gamagrass (Tripsacum dactyloides) are most productive during the summer months and can therefore serve as an alternative forage source during this period (Hudson et al., 2010). This is because NWSG use the C₄ photosynthetic pathway, which is more water, nitrogen, and carbon efficient than the C₃ pathway used by CSG and operates efficiently at temperatures detrimental to cool-season species (Ehleringer and Björkman, 1977; Taylor et al., 2009). Favorable animal performance on NWSG can be achieved through multiple grazing strategies. In Tennessee, Backus et al. (2017) found that weaned beef steers gained 1.23 kg d⁻¹ when grazing on mixed big bluestem and Indiangrass pasture early in the season and gained 0.84 kg d⁻¹ when grazing for the full season. Similarly, Brazil et al. (2020) found that weaned steers continuously grazing on mixed big bluestem, Indiangrass, and little bluestem pasture gained 0.98 kg d⁻¹ in Tennessee.

Despite the potential benefits of using multiple complementary forage species in grazing systems, improved animal performance can be difficult to achieve. In Iowa, Moore et al. (2004) found that growing cattle grazing mixed grass and legume cool-season pasture performed better than cattle which were rotated onto NWSG during the summer. In Michigan, Hudson et al. (2010) found that rotating cattle from cool-season pastures to big bluestem in the summer did not improve livestock gain or seasonal distribution of forage production. In both cases the inferior forage nutritive value of NWSG compared to CSG played a role in the reduction in animal performance. One strategy to alleviate these detriments is to interseed legumes in NWSG pasture.

Interseeding legumes in grass pasture can produce multiple benefits, including the improvement of forage nutritive value. In Arkansas, Springer et al. (2001) found that interseeding Illinois bundleflower [*Desmanthus illinoensis* (Michx.) MacMill., B. Robins. & Fern.] in Indiangrass pasture produced a forage mixture with a crude protein (CP) content of 84 g kg⁻¹ compared to 49 g kg⁻¹ in Indiangrass monoculture. It can also be employed to improve the availability of forage early in the season. In Iowa, George et al. (1995) found that interseeding legumes in switchgrass increased the available forage in early June, improving seasonal forage distribution. In addition to these benefits, grass pasture interseeded with legumes can yield more forage, either due to grass exploitation of nitrogen fixed by legumes, niche differentiation between species, or "nitrate sparing" allowed by legume acquisition of atmospheric N, leaving soil N for grass exploitation (Temperton et al., 2006). In Tennessee, Ashworth et al. (2015) found that switchgrass monocultures fertilized with 33 to 67 kg N ha⁻¹. Similarly, a Wisconsin study by Jakubowski et al. (2017) found that unfertilized big bluestem and switchgrass stands

interseeded with red clover yielded forage mass equivalent to that of monocultures fertilized with 112 kg N ha⁻¹.

The benefits of interseeding grass pasture with legumes are not always realized, in part because of difficulties in establishing legumes in NWSG. This is reflected in a Tennessee study by Keyser et al. (2016b) where red clover interseeded in switchgrass monoculture and a big bluestem and Indiangrass mixture had a limited benefit on forage mass and nutritive value due to inconsistent establishment. In Alabama, Mason et al. (2019) found similar results when interseeding eastern gamagrass with red clover and rye (*Secale cereale* L.), finding no effect on seasonal herbage accumulation or CP. Several factors affect the outcome of interseeding legumes in grass stands. Planting method is one such factor. Mueller and Chamblee (1984) found that no-till drilling ladino white clover and alfalfa (*Medicago sativa* L.) into tall fescue (*Schedonerus arundinaceus* [Schreb.] Dumort) produced initial stands with two to four times greater plant counts than broadcast seeding and produced a legume yield 2000 kg ha⁻¹ greater than broadcast seeding; in 3 to 4 years stand counts were equivalent for each planting method.

Another factor is the timing of planting. Reflecting this, Mueller and Chamblee (1984) found that both seeding methods produced greater establishment when seeding in February over March. "Frost seeding" is a method of broadcast seeding that takes advantage of freeze and thaw action on the soil surface to improve seed-soil contact and expose legume seed to cold temperatures that may stratify them; Gettle et al. (1996) used this method to successfully establish red clover and other legumes in switchgrass via broadcast seeding.

Often the most important determinant of success when interseeding legumes is the suppression of existing forage species and residue. When interseeding alfalfa, kura clover (*Trifolium ambiguum* Bieb.), and birdsfoot trefoil (*Lotus corniculatus* L.) into a smooth

bromegrass (*Bromus inermis* Leyss.), quackgrass [*Elytrigia repens* (L.) Nevski.], and Kentucky bluegrass (*Poa pratensis* L.) mixture, Cuomo et al. (2001) found that suppressing existing grass with glyphosate resulted in legume stands of 38% compared to 3% in the control, while planting method did not affect the outcome.

There has been limited research on the effect of planting method, planting timing, and the suppression of existing forage on interseeding legumes in NWSG. The goal of this study was to evaluate the effect of planting method, planting timing, and the burning of residue on the establishment of legumes in mixed big bluestem, Indiangrass, and little bluestem pasture.

3.3 Methods and Materials

3.3.1 Site

The experiment was conducted during 2022 and 2023 at the Southern Piedmont Agricultural Research and Extension Center in Blackstone, Virginia (37°06'01" N, 77°56'37" W). The soil at the experimental site is classified as an Appling coarse sandy loam (fine, kaolinitic, thermic, Typic Kanhapludult). The study was conducted on a mixed stand of 'Niagara' big bluestem, 'GA Ecotype' Indiangrass, and 'Camper' little bluestem established in March 2020 and previously utilized as bovine pasture. Soil test results are summarized in Table 1. A combination fertilizer (6-12-18) was applied at 560.4 kg ha⁻¹ (convert to kg/ha) on March 1, 2022 and February 9, 2023. Plot areas were sprayed with Remedy[®] Ultra [Triclopyr: 2-{(3,5,6-trichloro-2-pyridinyl)oxy} acetic acid, butoxyethyl ester] (Dow AgroSciences LLC, Indianapolis, IN) at 4.68 L ha⁻¹ on October 22, 2021 and October 19, 2022 before the fall planting dates to control broadleaf weeds. Mean monthly air temperatures and precipitation totals were collected using a Dyacon weather station (Dyacon, Inc., Logan, UT), and are summarized in Table 2.

3.3.2 Experimental Design and Treatments

The experiment had a randomized complete block arrangement of a split-plot design with two factors, each factor having three treatment levels for a total of nine treatment combinations. The first factor is a combination of seeding timing with burn status and the second was the method of seeding. The seeding timing/burn status factor had three treatment levels: a fall seeding with no burning, a winter seeding with no burning, and winter seeding with burning. The seeding method factor had three treatment levels: broadcast seeding, drill seeding, and the control (control plots were left unseeded). Each plot measured 1.83 x 6.10 m and were grouped based on the seeding timing/burn status factor with 2.44 m alleys to avoid the risk of fire spreading from burn plots to non-burn plots. Replications were also separated by 2.44 m alleys. Figure 1. shows the plot map. Plots were delineated and seeded on late 2021 and early 2022. A second set of plots, with treatments arranged identically to the first set of plots, was delineated and seeded in late 2022 and early 2023. This allowed for replication of first-year establishment data and for a second year of data to be collected in the first set of plots.

3.3.3 Legume Establishment and Controlled Burning

To evaluate legume establishment in NWSG, a mixture of red and white clovers was planted into the big bluestem, Indiangrass, and little bluestem. Legume seeding rates were adjusted for pure live seed (PLS = % purity x % germination) and for seeding method. Drill treatments were seeded with 'Freedom HR' red clover at 4.48 kg ha⁻¹ (4 lb ac⁻¹) and 'Alice' white clover at 1.12 kg ha⁻¹ (1 lb ac⁻¹) with a Great Plains 3P605NT no-till drill (Great Plains Ag, Salina, KS) with 19.05 cm row spacing. Broadcast treatments were seeded with red clover at 6.73 kg⁻¹ha (6 lb ac⁻¹) and white clover at 1.68 kg ha⁻¹ (1.5 lb ac⁻¹) by hand. Planting and burn dates are summarized in Table 3.

Before burning, alleys between plots and replications were disked to prevent the spread of fire to non-burned plots. Plots were burned by igniting the residue on the perimeter of the plot with a propane torch and allowing the flame to spread inward until the entire plot had been burned.

3.3.4 Harvest Management and Sample Collection

To measure the emergence rate of clovers, plant counts were made using five randomly placed 0.0929 m² (1 ft²) quadrats in each plot; two of the quadrats were selected at random and their locations were marked with stakes so that plant counts and hand harvests could be made at those locations throughout the growing season. In the first plot set, plant emergence counts were taken on April 13th, 2022, and in the second plot set, plant emergence counts were taken on April 13th, 2023.

Botanical composition throughout the growing season was measured through two methods. Before and after each harvest, the occupancy grid method (Payne et al., 2020) was used to measure botanical composition. Using a 1 m² quadrat subdivided into 25 squares, percent ground cover of clover, grass, weeds, and bare ground was determined by counting the number of squares in which each component makes up over 50% of ground cover. This was done at three randomly selected central locations in each plot.

Before each harvest, plant separation counts for grasses, clovers, and weeds were obtained in the two marked 0.0929 m^2 areas in each plot. Afterward, plants were cut at 20.3 cm (8 in); harvested plant matter was hand separated to determine the number of stems per species and weight of each species at harvest. Each separation sample was then dried to obtain a dry matter content to determine yield. Plots were harvested three times in 2022 and twice in 2023. Harvest dates are summarized in Table 4. Forage was harvested at 20.3 cm (8 in) using a Wintersteiger Cibus F forage plot harvester (Wintersteiger, Ried im Innkreis, Austria) and the whole plot forage mass was recorded using the onboard computer. Grab samples were obtained from the harvested forage from each plot, and then weighed before and after drying to determine dry matter content to determine the total dry matter forage yield.

Whole plot and separation samples were dried at 60 °C for at least 72 hours in a Grieve SC-400 forced-air oven (The Grieve Corporation, Round Lake, IL) until a constant weight was obtained. When dried, samples were weighed to determine the dry matter content and then inadvertently ground to pass a 1-mm screen in a Thomas-Wiley mill (Thomas Scientific, Swedesboro, NJ), rather than a 2-mm screen as was intended. Ground samples were ground a second time to pass a 1-mm screen in a Cyclone sample mill (Udy Corporation, Fort Collins, CO). The repeated grinding of samples to pass through a 1-mm screen could have affected sample fineness and therefore the results of lab analyses.

3.3.5 Lab Analysis

Samples were obtained from separated hand harvests and from whole plot harvests to determine CP, NDF, and ADF content. Both whole plot and separations samples were scanned using a Foss NIRS DS2500 (FOSS NIRS, Laurel, MD) spectrometer to obtain a reflectance spectrum used to predict nutritive values. Of the 252 whole plot samples, 88 were selected for wet chemistry analysis using the Win-ISI program to validate the values predicted with spectral data. An ANKOM²⁰⁰ Fiber Analyzer (ANKOM Technology, Macedon, NY) was used to determine NDF and ADF using the ANKOM filter bag system (Vogel et al., 1999). Nitrogen content was determined with an Elementar vario EL cube (Elementar Americas, Ronkonkoma, NY), using a

modified version of the Dumas dry combustion method (Dubeux et al., 2017). Crude protein was determined by multiplying total N content by 6.25, based on the assumption that protein is 16% N.

3.3.6 Statistical Analysis

The data from this study was analyzed as a randomized complete block arrangement of a split-plot design with four replications using PROC GLIMMIX (Statistical Analysis Software, SAS Institute, Inc., Cary, NC), where timing/burn status was treated as the whole plot and planting method was the subplot. Plot Set 1 was established in 2022 and Plot Set 2 was established in 2023, and the establishment year data for each plot set were analyzed together as establishment year data. Plot Set 1 continued to be harvested in 2023, and the data collected was analyzed as a second year of production. Fixed effects included planting timing/burn status, planting method, and harvest. Year was treated as a random effect in all response variables measured other than stem separations (only performed in plot set one). Harvest was treated as a repeated measure. The statistical analysis was conducted on the following response variables: germination count, harvest plant counts, preharvest species composition, post-harvest species composition, total seasonal yield, harvest yield, harvest stem separation biomass, and whole plot nutritive value (crude protein, neutral detergent fiber, and acid detergent fiber). Least square difference was used for mean separation and difference were considered significant at $\alpha = 0.05$.

3.4 Results and Discussion

3.4.1 Clover Emergence

Year was treated as a random effect to evaluate the effect that timing and method had on emergence rather than yearly differences in weather conditions. There was a significant (P < 0.0001) interaction between planting method and planting timing on clover emergence (Table 5). Burned plots had greater clover emergence than winter plots; within burned and winter plots respectively, drilled plots had greater emergence (236 and 102 plants m⁻²) than broadcast plots (133 and 95 plants m⁻²), and broadcast had greater emergence than control plots (51 and 19 plants m⁻²). Fall plots had lower clover emergence than burned or winter plots, and clover emergence did not differ within fall plots due to planting method (mean 12 plants m⁻²).

Greater clover emergence in burned plots compared to winter plots can be attributed to the reduction in grass residue on the soil surface by burning. Improvement in legume germination and emergence through a reduction in ground cover, typically achieved through defoliation by clipping, has been commonly observed, and is generally explained as a result of improved light penetration to the soil surface and improved seed-soil contact (Springer, 1997; Guretzky et al., 2004; Tracy et al., 2014). Springer (1997) found that a 5-cm increase in bermudagrass [*Cynodon dactylon* (L.) Pers.] height at planting resulted in a 2% reduction in crimson clover ground cover and a 10% reduction in white clover ground cover; the greater reduction in white clover, a short-growing species, compared to crimson clover, a tall-growing species, supports the idea that reducing the initial competition for light can improve legume establishment.

Lesser emergence in fall-planted plots compared to burned and winter plots may be attributed to multiple factors. The quantity of residue present in fall-planted plots could negatively affect clover emergence. In North Carolina, Rogers et al. (1983) found that October-seeded white clover no-till drilled into tall fescue stubble clipped to four cm established and survived the winter well, though seedlings only had one trifoliate leaf on average by early December, with insect control and herbicide-based suppression of the grass stand improving establishment significantly. In contrast, we did not clip NWSG plots before seeding in the fall as Rogers et al. (1983) did, and

residue on fall plots was not removed through burning as it was in burned plots. White clover seedlings in the study by Rogers et al. (1983) entered December with only one trifoliate leaf even with the grass clipped to 4 cm; clover seedlings in our study were seeded in unclipped, heavy fall residue and may have therefore fared worse if they emerged before winter, decreasing spring seedling counts, and explaining the difference in emergence counts between fall planted plots and burned plots. Winter planted plots, despite not having been burned or clipped to remove residue, may have still had less residue to constrain seedling development, as the residue in these plots was given more time to break down over winter. Two studies in North Dakota estimated native grass residue to decompose at a rate ranging from 0.99 g m⁻² d⁻¹ (Abouguendia and Whitman, 1979) to 0.57-0.86 g $[kg \times d]^{-1}$ (Joshi et al., 2019) over the winter. It is possible that decomposition of residue resulted in greater light penetration and seed-soil contact in winter plots than in fall plots, contributing to the difference in emergence. In addition to this factor, low temperatures during the winter planting may have prevented most clover seeds from germinating, allowing them to wait until temperatures warmed to emerge, improving their odds of survival over fall-seeded clover that emerged just before winter set in (Brar et al., 1991).

Greater clover emergence in drilled plots compared to broadcast plots may be a result of improved seed-soil contact resulting from the no-till drill seeding method. Research has generally found that drilling legumes results in greater emergence than broadcasting legumes, with other factors such as climatic conditions and the quantity of residue also affecting outcomes (Mueller and Chamblee, 1984; Campbell, 1985a; Campbell, 1985b; Schlueter and Tracy, 2012). Placing legume seed below the soil surface allows easier penetration of the soil by rootlets which can benefit seedling survival and accelerate root system development (Campbell, 1985a). Taylor et al. (1969) found that planting white clover seed 0.6 cm below the soil surface produced superior

emergence to planting on the soil surface, and was the most important controllable factor in successful establishment when compared to tillage and herbicide use. They attributed the improved emergence to the higher stability of temperature and moisture conditions below the soil surface than on the soil surface. Mueller and Chamblee (1984) found that two to four times as many white clover and alfalfa seedlings emerged when drilled rather than broadcasted; likewise, Campbell (1985b) found that red clover drilled at 13 mm below the soil surface had greater emergence than red clover planted at 0, 26, or 39 mm below the soil surface. In contrast, Schlueter and Tracy (2012) found that red and white clover had 56% more seedlings two months after sowing when broadcast than when drilled, though this difference was not significant.

3.4.2 Stand Botanical Composition: Plant Counts

Though counts were done based on species groupings, with all grasses being counted together and all clovers being counted together, it was observed that the clover population was overwhelmingly composed of red clover, likely due to its greater height and therefore greater ability to compete in the sward. White clover, by comparison, is short in height and was therefore less able to compete with the tall-growing NWSG, and the white clover population dwindled over the course of the study. There was a significant (P = 0.0269) interaction of planting timing and planting method on clover count (Table 6). Burned broadcast plots had the greatest number of clover plants, with significantly greater clover counts than winter broadcast, winter control, fall broadcast, fall drill, and fall control, but did not differ from burn drill and winter drill. Plots with greater clover emergence (Table 6) generally had greater clover counts throughout the growing season in both years, though clover counts did differ by harvest.

There was a significant (P = 0.0012) effect of harvest on clover count (Table 7). Harvest 2 had significantly less clover plants (53.6 plants m⁻²) than Harvest 1 (71.8 plants m⁻²) and Harvest

3 (68.3 plants m⁻²), which did not differ. The greater number of clover plants counted at the first and last harvests may be due to the cool-season growth pattern of red clover, where the bulk of plant growth occurs in the cooler temperatures of the early and late season, contrasting with NWSG which primarily grow in the hotter months of the year (Moore et al., 2004).

There was a significant (P = 0.0006) effect of planting timing on grass count (Table 8). Fall planted plots had significantly more grass plants (59.3 plants m⁻²) than winter planted plots (39.7 plants m⁻²) and burned plots (39.7 plants m⁻²), which did not differ. There was also a significant (P = 0.0256) effect of planting method on grass count (Table 9). Control plots had significantly more grass plants (54.6 plants m⁻²) than broadcast plots (39.6 plants m⁻²), while drill plots were similar (44.5 plants m⁻²) to both control plots and broadcast plots.

There was a significant effect of harvest (P < 0.0001) on weed count (Table 10). Harvest 1 had significantly more weeds (70.7 plants m⁻²) than Harvest 3 (25.5 plants m⁻²), which had significantly more than Harvest 2 (15 plants m⁻²). The most common weeds observed in this study, giant ragweed (*Ambrosia trifida*), common ragweed (*Ambrosia artemisifolia* L.), and horsenettle (*Solanum carolinense*), have the ability to emerge from seed or from belowground root systems at variable times throughout the growing season, explaining an increase in numbers at Harvest 3 (Nichols et al., 1991; Schutte et al., 2012; Onen et al., 2020).

3.4.3 Stand Botanical Composition: Pre-Harvest Ground Cover

Clover Content

Stand botanical composition data, measured as ground cover by species through the occupancy grid method, was recorded before each harvest. Data was separated based on the year of production for the plot sets and compared based on the season (spring or fall, or the first and

last harvests respectively) in order to evaluate how the stand composition changed over the establishment year and in the second year of production.

In the establishment year, there was a significant (P = 0.0006) interaction of planting method and season of harvest on clover cover (Table 11). Drill-planted plots harvested in the fall had significantly greater clover content than any treatment combination (28.6%), while control plots (1.5%) and broadcast plots (2.1%) harvested in the spring had the lowest clover ground cover. Across seeding methods, all fall harvests had numerically greater clover content than all spring harvests. Within harvest seasons, drill-seeded plots had numerically greater clover content than broadcast seeded plots, which in turn had numerically greater clover content than control plots. The differences in establishment year clover content by seeding method may be attributed to the differences in emergence rate while the greater clover content in fall harvested plots over spring harvested plots may reflect an increase in clover content over the course of the season as the interseeded forage established itself in the stand.

There was also a significant interaction (P < 0.0001) of planting timing and season of harvest on clover content in the establishment year (Table 12). Burned plots harvested in the fall had a greater clover content than any treatment combination (33.2%), followed by winter plots harvested in the fall (13.7%). This followed the trend of burned and winter planted plots producing more clover than fall planted plots, and the trend of fall harvests having a greater clover content in the establishment year than spring harvests.

In the second year of production, there was a significant (P = 0.0433) interaction of planting timing, planting method, and season of harvest on clover content (Table 13). Broadcast-seeded, burned plots harvested in the spring (92.7%) and drill-seeded burned plots harvested in the fall (92.3%) had greater clover content than all non-burned plots. Clover was so dominant in burn plots

that it maintained about 90% ground cover regardless of season in drilled and broadcasted plots. Winter-seeded plots that were drill-seeded or broadcast-seeded had a clover content intermediate burned and fall-seeded plots, ranging from 43% in broadcast-seeded spring harvests to 68% in drill-seeded fall harvests. Winter control plots and all fall-planted plots did not differ from one another and had low clover content (<8%) at spring and fall harvests. In contrast, burned control plots, which were unseeded, had a clover content of 64.7% at spring harvest and 80.7% at fall harvest. This suggests that burning NWSG stands with a red clover seedbank may allow large quantities of the legume to emerge in the stand. This effect has been observed before. In Kansas, Towne and Knapp (1996) found that burning tallgrass prairie composed of BB, IG, and LB increased legume density to 8 stems m⁻², compared to 3 stems m⁻² in the unburned control, though legume biomass did not change.

Grass Content

In the establishment year, there was a significant (P = 0.0003) interaction of planting timing and season of harvest on grass content (Table 14). Burned plots harvested in the spring had a grass content of 74.8%, and fell to 51.5% by the end of the season due to an increasing clover fraction of the stand. Winter-planted plots saw a less dramatic fall from 76.2% in the spring to 68.6% in the fall, and fall-planted plots did not change significantly from spring (80.2%) to fall (78.3%).

In the establishment year there was also a significant interaction (P = 0.0089) of planting method and season of harvest on grass content (Table 15). Drill-seeded plots harvested in the spring had a grass cover of 75.6% which fell to 56.8% by the fall, while broadcast-seeded plots only fell from 79.6% in the spring to 67.8% in the fall; the change was due to an increasing proportion of clover in the stand. Control plots did not change significantly between spring (76.1%) and fall (73.8%).

In the second year of production there was a significant (P = 0.0227) interaction of planting timing, planting method, and harvest on grass content (Table 16). Fall-seeded plots generally had a high grass content ranging from 79.3 to 87.7%, while burned plots generally had much lower grass content, with burned control plots having the highest value at 33.7% grass in the spring; drill-seeded, burned plots harvested in the fall had a grass content of 1%. Winter-seeded plots were more variable and more influenced by seeding method and season of harvest; winter-seeded control plots had a grass content of 88% in the fall, while drill-seeded plots had a grass content of 23.3% in the fall.

3.4.4 Stand Botanical Composition: Post-Harvest Ground Cover

Clover Content

Stand botanical composition data, measured as cover by species through the occupancy grid method, was also recorded after each harvest. Data was again separated based on the year of production for each plot and for the season of harvest to track changes in stand composition over the course of the study. In the establishment year, there was a significant (P = 0.0003) interaction of planting timing and planting method on clover content (Table 17). Following the same trend as the pre-harvest botanical composition data, drill-seeded burned plots had the greatest clover content (31.2%), followed by broadcast-seeded burned plots (19.2%) and drill-seeded winter plots (18.4%), which did not differ. Fall-seeded plots and control plots had the lowest clover content. In the establishment year, there was also a significant (P < 0.0001) interaction of planting timing and season of harvest on clover content (Table 18). Fall harvests had greater clover content than spring harvests and burned plots had greater clover content than all others in a given season, continuing the trend observed in pre-harvest data.

In the second year of production there was a significant (P = 0.0050) interaction of planting timing and planting method on clover content (Table 19). Burned plots had greater clover content than winter plots, which generally had greater clover content than fall plots. Winter control plots and fall control plots did not differ. Drill-seeded and broadcast-seeded plots had similar clover content within any given timing of planting, suggesting that differences in initial emergence and establishment year stand counts between drilled clover and broadcasted clover may disappear over time. Mueller and Chamblee (1984) found that no-till drilling ladino clover and alfalfa into tall fescue produced two to four times greater initial plant counts compared to broadcast seeding, but that equally dense stands developed over time.

In the second year of production there was also a significant (P = 0.0359) interaction of planting timing and season of harvest on clover content (Table 20). Reflecting trends observed in pre-harvest plant composition data, burned plots had greater clover content than winter plots regardless of harvest, and winter plots had greater clover content than fall plots. Fall harvests for burned and winter plots had lower clover content than spring harvests, while clover content did not differ by harvest for fall plots.

Grass Content

In the establishment year, there was a significant (P < 0.0001) interaction of planting timing and season of harvest on grass content (Table 18). Burned plots saw their grass content fall from 48.7% in the spring to 37.0% in the fall, a change which may be attributed to an increase in clover content from 11.3% in the spring to 28.1% in the fall (Table 18). Winter plots did not see a change in grass from spring (40.3%) to fall (42.6%), while clover content still managed to rise from 6.2% to 12.9%. Fall plots did not change in terms of grass content or clover content between spring and fall. In the establishment year, there was also a significant (P = 0.0003) interaction of planting method and season of harvest on grass content (Table 22). Broadcast and control grass content did not differ between spring and fall harvests, while drill-seeded plots declined in grass content from 46.1% in the spring to 36.0% in the fall, reflecting the greater emergence of clover in drilled plots than broadcast or control plots.

Weed Content

In the second year of production of Plot Set 1, there was a significant (P = 0.0009) interaction of planting timing and harvest season on weed content (Table 23). Weed content increased in winter plots from 1.4% in the spring to 4.4% in the fall, while weed content increased in fall plots from 0.4% in the spring to 7.3% in the fall. Burned plots did not change in weed content from spring (0.3%) to fall (0.6%). The greater clover content in burned plots may have contributed to a weed suppression effect, as the early growth and canopy closure of red clover would allow clover-dominated plots to shade out weeds earlier in the year than NWSG-dominated plots, reducing weed content later in the season.

Bare Ground

In the second year of production of Plot Set 1, there was a significant (P = 0.0001) interaction of planting timing and harvest season on the proportion of bare ground (Table 23). Fall plots had a consistently greater proportion of bare ground in post-harvest measurements, staying similar from spring (43.6%) to fall (40.0%). Contrasting fall plots, burned plots started the season with the lowest proportion of bare ground of all treatments at 10.1% in the spring, which increased to 29.0% by the fall. The higher proportion of bare ground in fall plots compared to burn plots may be attributable to a lack of clover to contribute ground cover between grass crowns, causing the

stand to have more exposed ground following harvest. Winter plots began the season with a lower proportion of bare ground than fall plots at 29.8% in the spring, but by the fall they did not differ from fall plots at 42.7%.

3.4.5 Stand Botanical Composition: Biomass

There was a significant (P = 0.0026) interaction of planting timing and planting method on the grass proportion of stand biomass (Table 24). Burned and winter-seeded plots that were drilled or broadcasted had the lowest grass biomass (31.1-38.7%) and did not differ. Fall seeded plots had higher grass biomass; fall-seeded drilled plots had 86% grass biomass and fall control plots had 82.3% grass biomass. In comparison, fall-seeded broadcast plots only had 62.7% grass biomass due to a greater clover content (Table 26) than other fall plots. Broadcast seeding produced more clover in fall plots than drill seeding. There was a significant (P < 0.0001) interaction of year and harvest season on the grass portion of stand biomass (Table 25). Grass content declined from 86.7% of biomass in spring of the first year to 68.9% in the fall, as clover content increased. In the second year, grass content rose from 31.2% in the spring to 40.7% in the fall.

There was also a significant (P < 0.0001) interaction of year, planting timing, and planting method on the clover portion of stand biomass (Table 26). Burned plots and winter-seeded plots had a significant increase in clover biomass from the first to the second year. Burned control plots, despite not being seeded, increased in clover percentage of biomass from 13.2% in the first year to 75.9% in the second year. Fall-seeded drill and control plots did not increase in clover biomass, but fall-seeded broadcast plots did increase from 4.1% in the first year to 38.9% in the second. There was also a significant (P = 0.0006) interaction of year and harvest season on the clover portion of stand biomass (Table 25). Clover biomass increased significantly in the first year from 4.4% in the spring to 21.1% in the fall. In the second year, clover biomass did not differ by season, with a value of 53.9% in the spring and 56.6% in the fall.

There was a significant (P = 0.0472) interaction of year, planting timing, and planting method on the weed portion of stand biomass (Table 27). Burned treatments had numerical declines in weed biomass from the already low establishment year weed biomass. Winter-seeded drill plots had a significant decline in weed percentage of biomass, from 18.0% in the first year to 5.8% in the second year. Winter-seeded broadcast plots had a large numerical decline from 17.6% to 6.3%. Fall seeded plots did not change in weed biomass, and winter control and fall control plots had significant increases in weed biomass. Winter-seeded plots likely had the greatest decline in weed biomass from the first to the second year because clover did not establish as quickly in the first year in winter plots as it did in burned plots; therefore, the dominance of clover in the second year placed greater competitive pressure on weed populations, causing a decline in weeds as a proportion of biomass. There was also a significant (P = 0.0008) interaction of year and harvest season on the weed proportion of stand biomass (Table 25). Weed biomass remained constant in the first year between spring and fall. In the second year weed biomass declined from 15% in the spring to 2.7% in the fall.

3.4.6 Whole Plot Nutritive Value

In the establishment year, there was a significant (P = 0.0002) interaction of planting timing and season of harvest on whole plot CP content (Table 28). In the spring, winter and fall planted plots had similar whole plot CP contents of 122 g kg⁻¹ and 123 g kg⁻¹ respectively. By the fall, winter and fall planted plots had declined in CP content to the similar values of 101 g kg⁻¹ and 93 g kg⁻¹ respectively. In contrast, burned plots started the year with a lower CP content than winter and fall plots, at 115 g kg⁻¹, and maintained it through the fall harvest with a value of 114 g kg⁻¹. The decline in nutritive value among winter and fall plots may be explained by the greater proportion of NWSG in these plots in the establishment year. Native warm-season grasses decline in CP content and increases in NDF and ADF content as it matures, decreasing the nutritive value of the forage (McIntosh et al., 2016). The increase in clover content over the course of the establishment year in burned plots (Table 18) may have offset the decline in CP content in NWSG, allowing these plots to maintain a consistent CP content throughout the season.

In the establishment year, there was also a significant (P = 0.0005) interaction of planting timing and season of harvest on whole plot NDF content (Table 28). Winter plots had a numerical increase in NDF content from 603 g kg⁻¹ in the spring to 616 g kg⁻¹ in the fall, though these values did not differ. Fall plots also had a numerical increase in NDF content, from 617 g kg⁻¹ in the spring to 636 g kg⁻¹ in the fall. In contrast, burned plots had a decline in NDF content from 609 g kg⁻¹ in the spring to 576 g kg⁻¹ in the fall. This may be attributed to an increase in clover content over the course of the establishment year (Table 18).

In the establishment year, there was a significant effect (P < 0.0001) of season of harvest on whole plot ADF content (Table 29). Plots had greater ADF content in the spring (329 g kg⁻¹) than in the fall (365 g kg⁻¹), as would be expected in a maturing stand of NWSG.

In the second year of production there was a significant (P = 0.0286) interaction of planting method and season of harvest on whole plot CP content (Table 30). Plots were similar in CP content in spring across seeding methods. Drill-seeded plots had a relatively modest drop in CP content over the course of the season, from 145 g kg⁻¹ in the spring to 132 g kg⁻¹ in the fall. In contrast, broadcast plots declined from 147 g kg⁻¹ in the spring to 117 g kg⁻¹ in the fall, and control plots declined from 148 g kg⁻¹ in the spring to 114 g kg⁻¹ in the fall. As a result, drill-seeded plots had greater CP content than broadcast-seeded or control plots in the fall. This may be attributed to greater clover content in drill-seeded plots maintaining a higher CP content over the course of the season (Table 13).

In the second year of production there was a significant (P = 0.0001) interaction of planting timing and season of harvest on whole plot CP content (Table 31). Burned plots retained a similar CP content over the course of the season, changing from 152 g kg⁻¹ in the spring to 149 g kg⁻¹ in the fall. In contrast, winter-seeded plots declined from 148 g kg⁻¹ in the spring to 115 g kg⁻¹ in the fall, and fall-seeded plots declined from 139 g kg⁻¹ to 99 g kg⁻¹. This reflects the trend of plots with greater clover content to retain a higher CP content in comparison to plots with greater NWSG content.

In the second year of production there was a significant (P = 0.0357) interaction of planting timing and season of harvest on whole plot NDF content (Table 31). Burned plots had a lower NDF content than winter and fall plots for the entire season, increasing from 440 g kg⁻¹ in the spring to 468 g kg⁻¹ in the fall. Winter plots increased from 509 g kg⁻¹ to 582 g kg⁻¹ and fall plots increased from 561 g kg⁻¹ to 636 g kg⁻¹, the highest of any treatment combination.

In the second year of production there was a significant effect (P < 0.0001) of season of harvest on whole plot ADF content (Table 32). Plots had a lower ADF content when harvested in the spring (340 g kg⁻¹) than in the fall (366 g kg⁻¹).

Treatments that had greater CP content and lower NDF content generally had the greatest clover emergence and subsequently the greatest clover content throughout the experiment (Table 5 and Table 26). It has been observed that the addition of legumes to NWSG stands may improve forage nutritive value, and this is often a key motivating factor when interseeding legumes (Posler et al., 1993; Springer et al., 2001; Biligetu et al., 2014). Posler et al. (1993) found that July

harvested IG had a mean CP content of 32 g kg⁻¹ over two years; in comparison, a mixture of roundhead lespedeza (*Lespedeza capitata* Michx.) and IG had a CP content of 68 g kg⁻¹, and a mixture of Illinois bundleflower (*Desmanthus illinoensis* [Michx.] Macmill., B. Robbins. & Fern.) and IG had a CP content of 77 g kg⁻¹, with the legumes comprising 56 and 77% of the stand, respectively. Similarly, Springer et al. (2001) found that BB alone had a mean CP content of 58 g kg⁻¹ over two years while a mixture of BB with Illinois bundleflower had a CP content of 74.5 g kg⁻¹. Biligetu et al. (2014) found that a BB monoculture had an NDF content of 574 g kg⁻¹ compared to a BB-alfalfa (*Medicago sativa* L.) mixture NDF content of 478 g kg⁻¹; additionally, the BB monoculture CP content of 69 g kg⁻¹ rose to 107 g kg⁻¹ in mixture with alfalfa.

3.4.7 Total Seasonal Yield

Total seasonal yield did not differ among treatments in 2022 for Plot Set 1, and did not differ in 2023 for Plot Set 2; for each plot set this was the establishment year. There was a significant effect of both planting timing (P = 0.0068) and of planting method (P = 0.0122) on total seasonal yield in 2023 for Plot Set 1, the second growing season for that plot set (Table 33 and Table 34, respectively). Burn plots yielded less (5,757 kg ha⁻¹) than both winter (7,259 kg ha⁻¹) and fall (7,599 kg ha⁻¹) plots, which did not differ. Control plots yielded more (7,619 kg ha⁻¹) than both drill (6,574 kg ha⁻¹) and broadcast (6,422 kg ha⁻¹) plots, which did not differ.

Lower seasonal yields in burned plots and in drilled and broadcasted plots may be explained by the greater proportion of clover that emerged and remained in those plots for the duration of the study, resulting in domination by red clover (Table 5 and Table 26). Cool-season legumes have the potential to outcompete warm-season grasses when planted in mixture due to their earlier initiation of growth in the spring. In Kansas, Posler et al. (1993) found that cicer milkvetch (*Astragalus cicer* L.) was capable of completely closing a canopy over IG and forming a milkvetch monoculture, producing over 90% of the forage in the stand. In Tennessee, Keyser et al. (2016b) observed interseeded red clover grow taller than a BB+IG blend by early May; this competition led to an earlier cessation of grazing than in previous years due to a drop in sward height, and to reduced grass cover after grazing had stopped. In an earlier study, George et al. (1995) managed this risk by defoliating plots in early June to open the red clover canopy and allow SG to remain competitive in the stand. Despite harvesting in early June in 2023, red clover continued to dominate the burned, drilled, and broadcast plots of Plot Set 1, possibly because BB, LB, and IG do not grow as tall as SG. Lending credence to this explanation, Keyser et al. (2016b) did not observe red clover achieve dominance in SG stands but did observe red clover achieve dominance in BB+IG stands, suggesting that these grasses may be more vulnerable to competition with red clover.

There are possible methods for mitigating red clover dominance when interseeding in NWSG swards. Given the dominance of red clover in burned plots in this study, allowing residue to remain on the soil surface would likely slow clover establishment, permitting NWSG to initiate growth unimpeded. Decreasing the seeding rate of red clover would naturally limit the amount of red clover that can establish, decreasing the likelihood of red clover dominance. As mentioned previously, George et al. (1995) managed red clover in NWSG through defoliation, which failed to control red clover in this study. Though the method of defoliation may play a role in shaping the relative dominance of species in a forage mixture, the study by Keyser et al. (2016b) makes it apparent that either mechanical clipping or grazing may result in NWSG pasture dominated by red clover. Keyser et al. (2016b) interseeded red clover into a BB+IG mixture and stocked the pasture with bred heifers; despite the ability of cattle to selectively graze the palatable and nutritious

legumes in the forage mixture, competition from red clover still resulted in an earlier cessation of grazing than normal and reduced NWSG cover.

3.4.8 Harvest Yield

In the establishment year of each plot set, harvest yield did not differ by any treatment, though they did differ by harvest season (P < 0.0001) (Table 35). Harvest yields in spring (3,478 kg ha⁻¹) were greater than harvest yields in fall (2,872 kg ha⁻¹), perhaps influenced by ample rain in May and a shortfall of precipitation in June and July in 2022 (Table 2) and consequently an insufficiently long rest period following the first harvest in 2022.

In the second year of production for Plot Set 1, there was a significant (P < 0.0001) interaction of planting timing and season of harvest (Table 36). Fall-seeded plots harvested in the fall had greater yields than all other treatments at 4,666 kg ha⁻¹, while fall-seeded plots harvested in the spring yielded only 2,933 kg ha⁻¹, suggesting that the bulk of forage production in these grass-dominated plots occurred after the spring harvest due to their warm-season nature. In contrast, burned plots harvested in the fall yielded only 2,312 kg ha⁻¹, a significant decline from a spring harvest of 3,446 kg ha⁻¹, suggesting that the bulk of forage production in these red clover-dominated plots occurred before the spring harvest due to their cool-season nature. Winter-seeded plots did not differ significantly between spring (3,395 kg ha⁻¹) and fall (3,864 kg ha⁻¹) harvests, suggesting that the intermediate clover content of these plots resulted in a more balanced distribution of forage production throughout the season, which is one of the key benefits that interseeding legumes in NWSG is intended to provide. This benefit is further underlined by the lack of difference between grass-dominated fall plots and mixed species winter plots in terms of total seasonal yield (Table 33).

In the second year of production for Plot Set 1, there was also a significant (P = 0.0207) interaction of planting method and season of harvest (Table 37). Control plots harvested in the fall had greater yields (4,396 kg ha⁻¹) than all other treatments, which did not differ (mean 3,244 kg ha⁻¹). This is attributable to the greater productivity of NWSG-dominated plots in the latter half of the season in comparison to plots with a greater proportion of clover.

In the second year of production for Plot Set 1, there was a significant (P = 0.0470) interaction of planting timing and planting method (Table 38). Burned plots had numerically lower yields than all other treatments regardless of planting method, ranging from 2,730 to 3,046 kg ha⁻¹, and significantly lower yields than winter control, fall control, and fall-drilled plots which ranged from 3994 to 4389 kg ha⁻¹. This difference follows the trend of legume dominated plots yielding less than plots with a greater proportion of NWSG.

Conclusion

In conclusion, the timing of planting, the method of planting, and the burning of residue have a significant effect on the establishment of legumes in NWSG. No-till drilling consistently produced greater initial stands of clover than broadcast seeding, but both methods produced dense stands of clover in the second year when planted in the winter. Burning residue aided in the establishment of clovers, and permitted volunteer clover to emerge in significant quantities when no seed was planted. The dominance of clover in the second year resulted in a reduced total seasonal yield for burned, drilled, and broadcasted plots, through excessive competition with NWSG. Though interseeding legumes may be done in order to improve the seasonal distribution of forage production, excessive clover populations in burned plots simply skewed forage production toward the beginning of the season rather than the end. Winter-planted plots that were not burned were often intermediate to burned and fall-planted plots in clover content, resulting in a more balanced forage distribution than in the other treatments. Plots with large quantities of clover sustained a higher CP content and a lower NDF, avoiding the significant drop in nutritive value that maturing NWSG undergo. The results suggest that red clover has the potential to outcompete big bluestem, Indiangrass, and little bluestem when interseeded, with the negative impact on forage yield and late-season forage production outweighing the positive impact on forage nutritive value.

Continued research should focus on the further optimization of establishment and the evaluation of legumes that will compliment rather than dominate NWSG stands. Legumes should be evaluated for beneficial traits, such as their ability to improve the nutritive value of the stand, their ability to improve the distribution of forage availability throughout the season, their ability to suppress weeds, and their availability to improve forage yields. Compatible legumes should be able to provide important benefits such as these or others to a stand of NWSG without harming the health of the stand through excessive competition, as red clover did, or failing to persist when grown in mixture with NWSG, as white clover did. Producers intending on interseeding legumes in NWSG should consider the compatibility of the species involved, which may be influenced by factors such as plant height and the timing of the initiation of growth. Taller legumes may compete more aggressively in the stand, and the earlier initiation of spring growth characteristic of coolseason legumes may allow them to outcompete still-dormant NWSG. The potential for legumes to outcompete NWSG may be mitigated by leaving plant residue on the soil surface before seeding, reducing legume seeding rates, and allowing heavy defoliation of legumes early in the season to maintain the competitiveness of NWSG.

Tables

Rebearen	Research and Education Conter in Diackstone, VII.									
Year	Plot Set	pН		OM	P^3	Κ	Ca	Mg		
		water ¹	buffer ²	g kg ⁻¹		kg	ha ⁻¹			
2021	1	6.49	6.32	39	52	300	1984	296		
2022	2	6.28	6.28	34	34	234	1888	284		

Table 1. Soil chemical attributes of plot set areas at the Southern Piedmont Agricultural Research and Education Center in Blackstone, VA.

¹Soil pH determined in 3 M KCl solution

²Buffer pH determined with Melich buffer

³P, K, Ca, and Mg extracted with Melich 1 solution.

Table 2. Summary of monthly total preci temperatures (°C), and average daily tem Southern Piedmont Agricultural Research	perature (°C) in 2021,	2022, and 2023 at the
Total Precipitation	Temperature	Temperature (Average)

	Total Precipitation			16	Temperature		Ter	Temperature (Average)			
				(N	(Min./Max.)						
Month	2021	2022	2023	30-yr	2021	2022	2023	2021	2022	2023	30-yr
				mean							mean
		Cl	m					°C			
January	8.4	8.4	9.4	9.3	-1/8	-3/8	3/13	3	2	7	4
February	11.7	5.7	5.8	7.9	0/8	1/14	4/16	4	7	11	6
March	9.6	13.2	4.9	10.6	5/17	5/18	4/16	11	11	10	9
April	4.3	5.8	16.6	9.8	8/22	8/21	10/22	15	15	16	15
May	6.3	17.3	8.1	11	12/25	14/25	12/23	18	20	17	19
June	14.2	2.3	15.5	10.8	19/29	18/30	16/28	23	24	21	23
July	19.5	5.7	19.7	12.1	20/31	21/33	21/31	25	26	26	25
August	17.7	24.7	12.1	10.6	21/31	20/30	20/30	25	24	24	25
September	11.2	6.8	16.9	12.5	16/27	16/28	16/26	23	21	21	21
October	8.4	5.9	3.6	10	13/24	8/20	10/23	17	14	16	15
November	0.6	9.9	-	7.6	3/15	6/17	-	9	11	-	10
December	3.2	12.4	-	9.6	5/16	0/9	-	10	4	-	6
Total	115.1	118.1	112.6	121.8							

Table 3. Fall planting, burning, and winter planting dates for each plot set in Blackstone, VA.

Plot set	Fall Plant	Burn	Winter Plant
1	25 October, 2021	13 January, 2022	2 March, 2022
2	20 October, 2022	7 February, 2023	28 February, 2023

	1		,	
Year	Plot set	Harvest 1 date	Harvest 2 data	Harvest 3 date
2022	1	20 May	30 June	6 Sept.
2023	1	1 June	2 Aug.	-
2023	2	5 June	7 Aug.	-

Table 4. Harvest dates for each plot set in 2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA.

Table 5. Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction (P < 0.0001) on clover emergence (plants m⁻²) within NWSG averaged over 2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA.

Clover Emergence (plants m ⁻²)							
Timing		Method					
	Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE	
Burn	235.5 a ¹	16.4	133.2 bc	16.4	51.1 de	16.4	
Winter	145.9 b	16.4	95.3 cd	16.4	19.1 e	16.4	
Fall	18.0 e	16.4	10.5 e	16.4	7.0 e	16.4	

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 6. Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction (P = 0.0269) on clover count (plants m⁻²) within NWSG averaged over 2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA.

Clover Count (plants m ⁻²)							
Timing	Method						
	Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE	
Burn	120.3 ab^1	14.3	133.1 a	14.3	87.4 bc	14.3	
Winter	102.4 abc	14.3	83.6 c	14.3	13.0 d	14.3	
Fall	10.4 d	14.3	25.5 d	14.3	5.5 d	14.3	

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 7. Effect of harvest (P = 0.0012) on clover count (plants m⁻²) within NWSG averaged over 2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest	Grass Count				
	plants m ⁻²	SE			
1	71.8 a ¹	8.17			
2	53.6 b 68.3 a	7.05			
3	68.3 a	9.63			

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Timing	Grass Count					
	plants m ⁻²	SE				
Burn	39.7 b ¹	11.2				
Winter	39.7 b	11.2				
Fall	59.3 a	11.2				

Table 8. Effect of planting timing (P = 0.0006) on grass count (plants m⁻²) within NWSG averaged over 2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA.

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 9. Effect of planting method (P = 0.0256) on grass count (plants m⁻²) within NWSG averaged over 2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA.

Grass Count					
plants m ⁻²	SE				
44.5 ab^1	11.2				
39.6 b	11.2				
54.6 a	11.2				
	plants m ⁻² 44.5 ab ¹ 39.6 b				

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 10. Effect of harvest (P < 0.0001) on weed count (plants m⁻²) within NWSG averaged over 2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest	Grass Count					
	plants m ⁻²	SE				
1	70.7 a ¹	15.2				
2	15.0 c 25.5 b	6.9				
3	25.5 b	7.8				

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 11. Effect of planting method x harvest season interaction (P = 0.0006) on pre-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest	_		Clover Co	ver (%)			
Season	Method						
	Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE	
Spring	5.6 c ¹	1.1	2.1 d	1.1	1.5 d	1.1	
Fall	28.6 a	3.1	14.8 b	3.1	8.6 bc	3.1	

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 12. Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction (P < 0.0001) on pre-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest	Clover Cover (%)								
Season	Timing								
	Burn	SE	Winter	SE	Fall	SE			
Spring	5.9 c ¹	1.1	3.0 d	1.1	0.2 d	1.1			
Fall	33.2 a	3.1	13.7 b	3.1	5.1 cd	3.1			
1									

Table 13. Effect of planting timing x planting method x harvest season interaction (P = 0.0433) on pre-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

				Clover Co	ver (%)			
Timing	Harvest	Method						
_	Season	Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE	
Burn	Spring	90.3 ab ¹	8.4	92.7 a	8.4	64.7 cde	8.4	
	Fall	92.3 a	8.2	88.7 ab	8.2	80.7 abc	8.2	
Winter	Spring	62.3 cde	8.4	43.0 e	8.4	6.3 f	8.4	
	Fall	68.0 bcd	8.2	56.0 de	8.2	2.7 f	8.2	
Fall	Spring	7.3 f	8.4	4.7 f	8.4	4.3 f	8.4	
	Fall	3.7 f	8.2	6.7 f	8.2	1.0 f	8.2	

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 14. Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction (P = 0.0003) on pre-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest	Grass Cover (%)									
Season		Timing								
	Burn	SE	Winter	SE	Fall	SE				
Spring	74.8 ab^1	3.0	76.2 a	3.0	80.2 a	3.0				
Fall	51.5 c	3.1	68.6 b	3.1	78.3 a	3.1				

Table 15. Effect of planting method x harvest season interaction (P = 0.0089) on pre-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Control SE
76.1 a 3.0
73.8 ab 3.1

Table 16. Effect of planting timing x planting method x harvest season interaction (P = 0.0227) on pre-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

	1 (2020) 11 2									
		Grass Cover (%)								
Timing	Harvest		Method							
_	Season	Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE			
Burn	Spring	7.7 de ¹	7.7	6.0 de	7.7	33.7 bc	7.7			
	Fall	1.0 e	7.6	3.3 de	7.6	14.0 cde	7.6			
Winter	Spring	33.7 bc	7.7	52.3 b	7.7	84.3 a	7.7			
	Fall	23.3 cd	7.6	33.3 c	7.6	88.0 a	7.6			
Fall	Spring	81.7 a	7.7	87.7 a	7.7	84.7 a	7.7			
	Fall	86.7 a	7.6	79.3 a	7.6	84.7 a	7.6			

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 17. Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction (P = 0.0003) on post-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

	Clover Cover (%)								
Timing	Method								
	Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE			
Burn	31.2 a ¹	2.4	19.2 b	2.4	8.3 c	2.4			
Winter	18.4 b	2.4	7.8 cd	2.4	2.3 cd	2.4			
Fall	1.1 d	2.4	1.8 cd	2.4	1.0 d	2.4			

			Component	Cover (%)			
Timing	Harvest	Species					
-	Season	Grass	SE	Clover	SE		
Burn	Spring	48.7 a ¹	1.6	11.3 b	0.9		
	Fall	37.0 c	2.2	28.1 a	2.4		
Winter	Spring	40.3 c	1.6	6.2 c	0.9		
	Fall	42.6 bc	2.2	12.9 b	2.4		
Fall	Spring	44.8 b	1.6	0.7 d	0.9		
	Fall	47.0 ab	2.2	1.9 cd	2.4		

Table 18. Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction on post-harvest clover ground cover (%) (P < 0.0001) and on post-harvest grass ground cover (%) (P < 0.0001) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

¹Data with the same letter within the same column are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 19. Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction (P = 0.0050) on post-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

	Clover Cover (%)								
Timing	Method								
	Drill	SE Broadcast		SE	Control	SE			
Burn	84.5 a	6.2	76.7 a	6.2	40.0 b	6.2			
Winter	49.2 b	6.2	34.3 b	6.2	2.7 c	6.2			
Fall	2.5 c	6.2	2.3 c	6.2	1.8 c	6.2			

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 20. Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction (P = 0.0359) on post-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest	Clover Cover (%)								
Season	Timing								
	Burn	SE	Winter	SE	Fall	SE			
Spring	72.3 a	4.8	35.6 c	4.8	2.0 e	4.8			
Fall	61.8 b	3.3	21.9 d	3.3	2.4 e	3.3			

Set 2 (2023)	in Blackstone,	, VA.								
Harvest		Grass Cover (%)								
Season		Timing								
	Burn	SE	Winter	SE	Fall	SE				
Spring	48.7 a	1.6	40.3 c	1.6	44.8 b	1.6				
Fall	37.0 c	2.2	42.6 bc	2.2	47.0 ab	2.2				

Table 21. Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction (P < 0.0001) on post-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Table 22. Effect of planting method x harvest season interaction (P = 0.0003) on post-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest	Grass Cover (%) Method							
Season								
	Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE		
Spring	46.1 a	1.6	43.6 a	1.6	44.1 a	1.6		
Fall	36.0 b	2.2	43.6 a	2.2	47.1 a	2.2		

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 23. Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction on post-harvest clover ground cover (%) (P = 0.0359), on post-harvest grass ground cover (%) (P = 0.4305), on post-harvest weed ground cover (%) (P = 0.0009), and on post-harvest bare ground (%) (P = 0.0001) in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

		Component Cover (%)									
Timing	Harvest	Species									
	Season	Grass	SE	Clover	SE	Weeds	SE	Bare	SE		
								Ground			
Burn	Spring	$17.2 c^{1}$	3.2	72.3 a	4.8	0.3 b	0.8	10.1 c	2.3		
	Fall	8.7 d	3.3	61.8 b	3.3	0.6 b	1.2	29.0 b	2.2		
Winter	Spring	33.2 b	3.2	35.6 c	4.8	1.4 b	0.8	29.8 b	2.2		
	Fall	31.0 b	3.3	21.9 d	3.3	4.4 a	1.2	42.7 a	2.2		
Fall	Spring	54.0 a	3.2	2.0 e	4.8	0.4 b	0.8	43.6 a	2.2		
	Fall	50.2 a	3.3	2.4 e	3.3	7.3 a	1.2	40.0 a	2.2		

¹Data with the same letter within the same column are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

proportion of biomass (70) within revise in Diaekstone, VA.						
	Biomass Proportion (%)					
Timing	Method					
	Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE
Burn	37.4 cd	6.5	38.7 cd	6.5	52.0 bc	6.5
Winter	31.1 d	6.5	38.2 cd	6.5	83.0 a	6.5
Fall	86.4 a	6.5	62.7 b	6.5	82.3 a	6.5

Table 24. Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction (P = 0.0026) on the grass proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA.

Table 25. Effect of year x harvest season interaction on the grass proportion of biomass (%) (P < 0.0001), on the clover proportion of biomass (%) (P = 0.0006), and on the weed proportion of biomass (%) (P = 0.0008) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA.

	Harvest		Biomass Proportion (%)				
Year	Season	Species					
		Grass	SE	Clover	SE	Weeds	SE
1	Spring	86.7 a ¹	2.8	4.4 c	2.5	9.0 b	2.7
	Fall	68.9 b	2.8	21.1 b	2.5	9.9 ab	2.7
2	Spring	31.2 d	2.8	53.9 a	2.5	15.0 a	2.7
	Fall	40.7 c	2.8	56.6 a	2.5	2.7 с	2.7

¹Data with the same letter within a column are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 26. Effect of year x planting timing x planting method interaction (P < 0.0001) on the clover proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA.

			(Clover Biomass H	Proportion	(%)			
Timing	Year		Method						
-		Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE		
Burn	1	25.0 bcd ¹	6.2	26.6 bcd	6.2	13.2 cde	6.2		
	2	91.5 a	6.2	89.8 a	6.2	75.9 a	6.2		
Winter	1	28.4 bc	6.2	16.4 cde	6.2	1.0 e	6.2		
	2	85.6 a	6.2	83.4 a	6.2	12.0 cde	6.2		
Fall	1	0.02 e	6.2	4.1 e	6.2	0.3 e	6.2		
	2	9.9 de	6.2	38.9 b	6.2	10.0 de	6.2		

weed propo		filass (70) within	11000	III Diackstone,	V / 1.			
			Weeds Biomass Proportion (%)					
Timing	Year			Metho	d			
-		Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE	
Burn	1	8.0 bcdefg ¹	4.6	4.7 fg	4.6	6.4 cdefg	4.6	
	2	0.7 g	4.6	1.5 g	4.6	0.6 g	4.6	
Winter	1	18.0 abc	4.6	17.6 abcd	4.6	2.0 g	4.6	
	2	5.8 efg	4.6	6.3 cdefg	4.6	18.9 ab	4.6	
Fall	1	6.2 defg	4.6	17.3 abcde	4.6	4.7 fg	4.6	
	2	11.1 abcdefg	4.6	14.3 abcdef	4.6	20.5 a	4.6	

Table 27. Effect of year x planting timing x planting method interaction (P = 0.0472) on the weed proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA.

Table 28. Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction on whole plot crude protein content (g kg⁻¹) (P = 0.0002) and on whole plot neutral detergent fiber content (g kg⁻¹) (P = 0.0005) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (20230 in Blackstone, VA.

		Nutritive Value (g kg ⁻¹)				
Timing	Harvest Season	Component				
		Crude Protein	SE	Neutral Detergent	SE	
				Fiber		
Burn	Spring	115 b ¹	4.11	609 b	5.20	
	Fall	114 b	4.96	576 с	8.50	
Winter	Spring	122 a	4.11	603 b	5.20	
	Fall	101 c	4.96	616 ab	8.50	
Fall	Spring	123 a	4.11	617 ab	5.20	
	Fall	93 c	4.96	636 a	8.50	

¹Data with the same letter within the same column are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 29. Effect of harvest season (P < 0.0001) on whole plot acid detergent fiber content (g kg⁻¹) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest Season	Acid Detergent Fiber		
	g kg ⁻¹	SE	
Spring	329 b	5.30	
Fall	365 a	5.30	

Harvest	Crude Protein (g kg ⁻¹)					
Season	Method					
	Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE
Spring	145 a ¹	4.05	147 a	4.05	148 a	4.05
Fall	132 b	4.11	117 c	4.11	114 c	4.11

Table 30. Effect of planting method x harvest season interaction (P = 0.0286) on whole plot crude protein content (g kg⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Table 31. Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction on whole plot crude protein content (g kg⁻¹) (P = 0.0001) and on whole plot neutral detergent fiber content (g kg⁻¹) (P = 0.0357) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

		Nutritive Value (g kg ⁻¹)				
Timing Harvest Season			Component			
		Crude Protein	SE	Neutral Detergent	SE	
				Fiber		
Burn	Spring	152 a ¹	4.05	440 e	11.89	
	Fall	149 ab	4.11	468 d	13.28	
Winter	Spring	148 ab	4.05	509 c	11.89	
	Fall	115 c	4.11	582 b	13.28	
Fall	Spring	139 b	4.05	561 b	11.89	
	Fall	99 d	4.11	636 a	13.28	

¹Data with the same letter within the same column are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 32. Effect of harvest season (P < 0.0001) on whole plot acid detergent fiber content (g kg⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest Season	Acid Detergent Fiber		
	g kg ⁻¹	SE	
Spring	340 b ¹	2.36	
Fall	366 a	2.77	

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 33. Effect of planting timing ($P = 0.0068$) on total seasonal yield (kg ha ⁻¹) wit	hin
NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.	

Timing	Total Seasonal Yield		
	kg ha⁻¹	SE	
Burn	5,757 b ¹	301	
Winter	7,259 a	301	
Fall	7,599 a	301	

NWSO III the second year of production of 1 fot Set 1 (2023) III blackstone, VA.					
Method	Total Seasonal Yield				
	kg ha ⁻¹	SE			
Drill	6,574 b ¹	301			
Broadcast	6,422 b	301			
Control	7,619 a	301			

Table 34. Effect of planting method (P = 0.0122) on total seasonal yield (kg ha⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Table 35. Effect of harvest season (P < 0.0001) on harvest yield (kg ha⁻¹) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest Season	Harves	t Yield
	kg ha ⁻¹	SE
Spring	3,478 a ¹	1,447
Fall	2,872 b	1,447

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 36. Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction (P < 0.0001) on harvest yield (kg ha⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest	Harvest Yield (kg ha ⁻¹)								
Season	Timing								
	Burn	SE	Winter	SE	Fall	SE			
Spring	3,446 bc ¹	194	3,395 bc	194	2,933 cd	194			
Fall	2,312 d	264	3,864 b	264	4,666 a	264			

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 37. Effect of planting method x harvest season interaction (P = 0.0207) on harvest yield (kg ha⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest	Harvest Yield (kg ha ⁻¹)								
Season	Method								
	Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE			
Spring	3,370 b ¹	194	3,181 b	194	3,223 a	194			
Fall	3,204 b	264	3,242 b	264	4,396 b	264			

Table 38. Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction ($P = 0.0470$) on harvest yield
(kg ha ⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone,
VA.

	Harvest Yield (kg ha ⁻¹)								
Timing	Method								
	Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE			
Burn	$2,730 c^{1}$	248	2,861 c	248	3,046 c	248			
Winter	3,095 c	248	3,404 bc	248	4,389 a	248			
Fall	4,036 ab	248	3,369 bc	248	3,994 ab	248			

Figures

Legume Establishment in NWSG Study

201				Drill	Broadcast	Control		Burn Control	Burn Drill	Burn Broadcast
Burn	202 Burn	203 Burn	1	204 Fall	205 Fall	206 Fall		207 Winter	208 Winter	209 Winter
Drill 301	Control	Broadcast		Control	Broadcast	Drill				Drill 309
Winter Control	Winter Drill	Winter Broadcast		Burn Broadcast	Burn	Burn Control		Fall	Fall	Fall Drill
401	402	403		404	405	406		407	408	409
Burn	Burn	Burn		Fall	Fall	Fall		Winter	Winter	Winter
roadcast	Control	Drill		Drill	Control	Broadcast		Control	Broadcast	Drill 6 ft
۱ د	Drill 301 Winter Control 401 Burn	Drill Control 301 302 Winter Winter Control Drill 401 402 Burn Burn	Drill Control Broadcast 301 302 303 Winter Winter Winter Control Drill Broadcast 401 402 403 Burn Burn Burn	DrillControlBroadcast301302303WinterWinterWinterControlDrillBroadcast401402403BurnBurnBurn	DrillControlBroadcastControl301302303304WinterWinterWinterBurnDrillDrillBroadcastBroadcast401402403404BurnBurnBurnFall	DrillControlBroadcastControlBroadcast301302303304305WinterWinterWinterBurnBurnDrillBroadcastBroadcastDrill401402403404405BurnBurnBurnFallFall	DrillControlBroadcastControlBroadcastDrill301302303304305306WinterWinterWinterBurnBurnBurnControlDrillBroadcastBroadcastDrillControl40140240340405406BurnBurnBurnFallFallFallcondcastControlDrillDrillControl	DrillControlBroadcastControlBroadcastDrill301302303304305306WinterWinterWinterBurnBurnBurnControlDrillBroadcastBroadcastDrill401402403404405406BurnBurnBurnFallFallcondcastControlDrillDrillControl	DrillControlBroadcastControlBroadcastDrillIBroadcast301302303304305306307FallWinterWinterWinterBurnBurnBurnBurnFallControlDrillBroadcastBroadcastDrillControlFall401402403A03FallFallFallFallBurnBurnBurnBurnFallFallFallWinter	DrillControlBroadcastControlBroadcastDrillMBroadcastControl301302303303304305306306307308WinterWinterWinterBurnBurnBurnBurnBurnFallFallControlDrillBroadcastBroadcastDrillControlControlWinter401402403A404405406407408BurnBurnBurnFallFallFallFallWinteroddcastControlDrillControlBroadcastControlBroadcast

Plot Size: 6ft x 20ft with 8 ft alleys between reps and burn plots Whole Plot Area: 70ft x 104ft

Figure 1. Plot map delineated at the Southern Piedmont AREC in Blackstone, VA.

References

- Aberle, E.Z., L.R. Gibson, A.D. Knapp, P.M. Dixon, K.J. Moore, E.C. Brummer, and R. Hintz. 2003. Optimum Planting Procedures for Eastern Gamagrass. Agron. J. 95:1054-1062.
- Abouguendia, Z.M., and W.C. Whitman. 1979. Disappearance of dead plant material in a mixed grass prairie. Oecologia. 42:23-29.
- Allan, E., W. Weisser, A. Weigelt, C. Roscher, M. Fischer, and H. Hillebrand. 2011. More diverse plant communities have higher functioning over time due to turnover in complementary dominant species. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 108: 17034-17039.
- Ashworth, A.J., F.L. Allen, P.D. Keyser, D.D. Taylor, A.M. Saxton, and A.M. Taylor. 2015. Switchgrass yield and stand dynamics from legume intercropping based on seeding rate and harvest management. J. Soil Water Conserv. 70(6):374-384.
- Backus, W.M., J.C. Waller, G.E. Bates, C.A. Harper, A. Saxton, D.W. McIntosh, J. Birckhead and P.D. Keyser. 2017. Management of native warm-season grasses for beef cattle and biomass production in the Mid-South USA. J. Anim. Sci. 95:3143– 3153.
- Bahm, M.A., T. G. Barnes, and K.C. Jensen. 2011a. Herbicide and fire effects on smooth brome (*Bromus inermis*) and Kentucky bluegrass (*Poa pratensis*) in invaded prairie remnants. Invasive Plant Sci. Manag. 4:189-197.
- Bahm, M.A., T.G. Barnes, and K.C. Jensen. 2011b. Restoring native plant communities in smooth brome (*Bromus inermis*)-dominated grasslands. Invasive Plant Sci. Manag. 4:239-250.
- Bahm, M.A., T.G. Barnes, and K.C. Jensen. 2015. Native Grass Establishment using Journey Herbicide. Nat. Areas J. 35(1):69-73.
- Ball, D.M., C.S. Hoveland, and G.D. Lacefield. 2015. Southern forages: Modern concepts for forage crop management. 4th edition, Potash and Phosphate Institute, Norcross, GA.
- Barnes, T.G. 2004. Strategies to Convert Exotic Grass Pastures to Tall Grass Prairie Communities. Weed Technol. 18:1364-1370.
- Bartholomew, P.W., and R.D. Williams. 2010. Overseeding Unimproved Warm-Season Pasture with Cool- and Warm-Season Legumes to Enhance Forage Productivity. J. Sustain. Agr. 34(2):125-140.
- Beckman, J.J., L.E. Moser, K. Kubik, and S.S. Waller. 1993. Big bluestem and switchgrass establishment as influenced by seed priming. Agron. J. 85:199-202.

- Biligetu, B., P.G. Jefferson, R. Muri, and M.P. Schellenberg. 2014. Late summer forage yield, nutritive value, compatibility of warm- and cool-season grasses seeded with legumes in western Canada. Can. J. Plant Sci. 94:1139-1148.
- Blanchet, K.M., J.R. George, R.M. Gettle, D.R. Buxton, and K.J. Moore. 1995. Establishment and Persistence of Legumes Interseeded into Switchgrass. Agron. J. 87:935-941.
- Bonin, C. L., and B.F. Tracy. 2012. Diversity influences forage yield and stability in perennial prairie plant mixtures. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 162: 1–7.
- Bow, J.R., J.P. Muir, D.C. Weindorf, R.E. Rosiere, T.J. Butler. 2008. Integration of Cool-Season Annual Legumes and Dairy Manure Compost with Switchgrass. Crop Sci. 48(4):1621-1628.
- Brar, G.S., J.F. Gomez, B.L. McMichael, A.G. Matches, and H.M. Taylor. 1991. Germination of twenty forage legumes as influenced by temperature. Agron. J. 83(1):173-175.
- Brazil K.A, P.D. Keyser, G.E. Bates, A.M. Saxton, and E.D. Holcomb. 2020. Continuous grazing of mixed native warm-season grass in the fescue belt. Agron. Journal. 112: 5067-5080.
- Brejda, J.J. 2000. Fertilization of native warm-season grasses. In B.E. Anderson and K.J. Moore (eds.) Native warm-season grasses: Research trends and issues. CSSA Spec. Pub. 30. CSSA and ASA, Madison, WI.
- Brown, R.H. 1978. A Difference in N Use Efficiency in C₃ and C₄ Plants and its Implications in Adaptation and Evolution. Crop Sci. 18:93-98.
- Burns, J.C. 2011. Intake and digestibility among Caucasian bluestem, big bluestem, and switchgrass compared with bermudagrass. Crop Sci. 51:2262-2275.
- Burns, J.C., and D.S. Fisher. 2010. Eastern Gamagrass Management for Pasture in the Mid-Atlantic Region: I. Animal Performance and Pasture Productivity. Agron. J. 102(1):171-178.
- Burns, J.C., and D.S. Fisher. 2012. Intake and digestibility of big bluestem hay and baleage. Crop Sci. 52:2413–2420.
- Burns, J.C., and D.S. Fisher. 2013. Steer performance and pasture productivity among five perennial warm-season grasses. Agron. J. 105: 113-123.
- Butler, T.J., J.D. Stein, J.J. Pittman, and S.M. Interrante. 2016. Seedbed preparation and planting depth affect switchgrass establishment and yield. Crop Forage Turfgrass Manag. 2:1-6.
- Byers, R.A., and W.C. Templeton Jr. 1988. Effects of sowing date, placement of seed, vegetation suppression, slugs, and insects upon establishment of no-till alfalfa in orchardgrass sod. Grass Forage Sci. 43(3):279-289.
- Campbell, B.D. 1985a. Planting depth effects on overdrilled seedling survival in summer. New Zeal. J. Exp. Agr. 13:103-109.

- Campbell, B.D. 1985b. Winged coulter depth effects on overdrilled red clover seedling emergence. New Zeal. J. Agr. Res. 28:7-17
- Castillo, M.S., P.E. Bekewe, and R. Rivera. 2022. Clover frost-seeding rate effects on productivity and nutritive value of tall fescue pastures during the year of establishment. Crop Sci. 62(3):1394-1403.
- Chamberlain, S.K., L.K. Paine, J.L. Harrison, and R.D. Jackson. 2012. Tradeoffs in Performance of Native Warm-Season Grass Cultivars and Locally Harvested Seed Managed for Wildlife Habitat or Livestock Production. Agron. J. 104:1383-1391.
- Cuomo, G.J., D.G. Johnson, and W.A. Head Jr. 2001. Interseeding Kura Clover and Birdsfoot Trefoil into Existing Cool-Season Grass Pastures. Agron. J. 93(2):458-462.
- DeHaan, L.R., S. Weisberg, D. Tilman, and D. Fornara. 2010. Agricultural and Biofuel Implications of a Species Diversity Experiment With Native Perennial Grassland Plants. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 137 (1-2):33-38.
- Dickson, T.L., and W.H. Busby. 2009. Forb Species Establishment Increases with Decreased Grass Seeding Density and with Increased Forb Seeding Density in a Northeast Kansas, U.S.A., Experimental Prairie Restoration. Restor. Ecol. 17:597-605.
- Doxon, E., P.D. Keyser, G.E. Bates, C.A. Harper, and J. Waller. 2011. Economic implications of growing native warm-season grasses for forage in the mid south. Univ. of Tennessee Ext. SP731-E. Ctr for Native Grassland Manage., Univ. of Tennessee, Knoxville.
- Dubeux Jr., J.C.B., A.R.S. Blount, C. Mackowiak, E.R.S. Santos, J.D. Pereira Neto, U. Riveros, L. Garcia, D.M. Jaramillo, and M. Ruiz-Moreno. 2017. Biological N₂ fixation, belowground responses, and forage potential of rhizome peanut cultivars. Crop Sci. 57(2):1027-1038.
- Ehleringer, J., and O. Björkman. 1977. Quantum Yields for CO₂ Uptake in C₃ and C₄ Plants: Dependence on Temperature, CO₂, and O₂ Concentration. Plant Physiol. 59:86-90.
- Ehleringer, J., and R.W. Pearcy. 1983. Variation in Quantum Yield for CO₂ Uptake among C₃ and C₄ Plants. Plant Physiol. 73:555-559.
- Emal, J.G., and E.C. Conard. 1973. Seed dormancy and germination in indiangrass as affected by light, chilling, and certain chemical treatments. Agron. J. 65:383-386.
- Evers, G.W. 1985. Forage and Nitrogen Contributions of Arrowleaf and Subterranean Clovers Overseeded on Bermudagrass and Bahiagrass. Agron. J. 77(6):960-963.
- Flint, S.A., D. Olofson, N.R. Jordan, and R.G. Shaw. 2019. Population source affects competitive response and effect in a C₄ grass (*Panicum virgatum*). Restor. Ecol. 27(6):1317-1326.
- Forwood, J.R., and M.M. Magai. 1992. Clipping Frequency and Intensity Effects on Big Bluestem Yield, Quality, and Persistence. J. Range Manag. 45:554-559.

- Furbank, R.T., and M.D. Hatch. 1987. Mechanism of C₄ photosynthesis. The size and composition of the inorganic carbon pool in the bundle sheath cells. Plant Physiol. 85:958-964.
- George, J.R., K.M. Blanchet, R.M. Gettle, D.R. Buxton, and K.J. Moore. 1995. Yield and Botanical Composition of Legume-Interseeded vs. Nitrogen-fertilized Switchgrass. Agron. J. 87(6):1147-1153.
- Gettle, R.M., J.R. George, K.M. Blanchet, D.R. Buxton, and K.J. Moore. 1996. Frost-Seeding Legumes into Established Switchgrass: Establishment, Density, Persistence, and Sward Composition. Agron. J. 88(1):98-103.
- Ghajar, S.M., J.F. Wagner, M. O'Rourke, and B.F. Tracy. 2022. Evaluating methods to establish biodiverse pasturelands with native grasses and wildflowers. Native Plants J. 23(1):65-74.
- Guretzky, J.A., K.J. Moore, A.D. Knapp, and E.C. Brummer. 2004. Emergence and Survival of Legumes Seeded into Pastures Varying in Landscape Position. Crop Sci. 44(1):227-233.
- Hadley, E.B., and B.J. Kieckhefer. 1963. Productivity of Two Prairie Grasses in Relation to Fire Frequency. Ecology. 44:389-395
- Harper, C.A., G.E. Bates, M.P. Hansbrough, M.J. Gudlin, J.P. Gruchy, and P.D. Keyser. 2007. Native warm-season grasses: Identification, establishment, and management for wildlife and forage production in the Mid-South. Ext. PB 1752. Univ. of Tennessee, Knoxville.
- Harper, C.A., G.D. Morgan, and C.E. Dixon. 2002. Establishing Native Warm-Season Grasses using Conventional and No-till Technology with Various Applications of Plateau Herbicide. In: Third Eastern Native Grass Symposium, Chapel Hill, NC. 1-3 Oct. 2002. p. 63-70.
- Henning, J.C. 1993. Big bluestem, Indiangrass, and switchgrass. University of Missouri Extension G4673. Columbia: University of Missouri.
- Hintz, R.L., K.R. Harmoney, K.J. Moore, and J.R. George. 1998. Establishment of Switchgrass and Big Bluestem in Corn with Atrazine. Agron. J. 90:591-596.
- Holcomb, E., P. Keyser, and C. Harper. 2014. Responses of Planted Native Warm-Season Grasses and Associated Vegetation to Seasonality of Fire in the Southeastern US. Southeast Nat. 13(2):221-236.
- Howe, H.F. 2011. Fire season and prairie forb richness in a 21-year experiment. Ecoscience. 18(4):317-328.
- Hsu, F.H., and C.J. Nelson. 1986a. Planting date effects on seedling development of perennial warm-season forage grasses. I. Field emergence. Agron. J. 78:33–38.
- Hsu, F.H., and C.J. Nelson. 1986b. Planting date effects on seedling development of perennial warm-season forage grasses. II. Seedling growth. Agron. J. 78:38–42.

- Hudson, D.J., R.H. Leep, T.S. Dietz, A. Ragavendran, and A. Kravchenko. 2010. Integrated warm- and cool-season grass and legume pastures: I. Seasonal forage dynamics. Agron. J. 102:303–309.
- Jakubowski, A.R., M.D. Casler, and R.D. Jackson. 2017. Legume Addition to Perennial Warm-Season Grass Swards Increases Harvested Biomass. Crop Sci. 57(6):3343-3351.
- Jenkins, C.L.D., R.T. Furbank, and M.D. Hatch. 1989. Inorganic carbon diffusion between C₄ mesophyll and bundle sheath cells. Plant Physiol. 91:1356-1363.
- Joshi, D.R., D.E. Clay, S.A. Clay, and A.J. Smart. 2020. Seasonal losses of surface litter in northern great plains mixed-grass prairies. Rangel. Ecol. Manag. 73(2):259-264.
- Jung, G.A., J.A. Shaffer, and W.L. Stout. 1988. Switchgrass and Big Bluestem Responses to Amendments on Strongly Acid Soil. Agron. J. 80:669-676.
- Jung, G.A., J.L. Griffin, R.E. Kocher, J.A. Shaffer, and C.F. Gross. 1985. Performance of Switchgrass and Bluestem Cultivars Mixed with Cool-Season Species. Agron. J. 77(6):846-850.
- Keyser, P.D., A.J. Ashworth, F.L. Allen, and G.E. Bates. 2016a. Dormant-Season Planting and Seed-Dormancy Impacts on Switchgrass Establishment and Yield. Crop Sci. 56:1-10.
- Keyser, P.D., and A.J. Ashworth. 2022. Wheat cover crop and seed treatment for improving native warm-season grass establishment. Crop. Forage Turfgrass Manag. 8:e20147
- Keyser, P.D., C.A. Harper, and G.E. Bates. 2011f. Competition Control in Native Warm-season Grasses Grown for Livestock Forage in the Mid-South. Univ. of Tennessee Ext. SP731-F. Ctr. for Native Grassland Manage., Univ. of Tennessee, Knoxville.
- Keyser, P.D., C.A. Harper, G.E. Bates, J. Waller, and E. Doxon. 2011a. Native warm-season grasses for mid-South forage production. Univ. of Tennessee Ext. SP731-A. Ctr. for Native Grassland Manage., Univ. of Tennessee, Knoxville.
- Keyser, P.D., C.A. Harper, G.E. Bates, J. Waller, and E. Doxon. 2011b. Establishing Native Warm-season Grasses for Livestock Forage in the Mid-South. Univ. of Tennessee Ext. SP731-B. Ctr. for Native Grassland Manage., Univ. of Tennessee, Knoxville.
- Keyser, P.D., C.M. Lituma, G.E. Bates, E.D. Holcomb, J.C. Waller, and A.P. Griffith. 2020. Evaluation of eastern gamagrass and a sorghum x sudangrass for summer pasture. Agron. J. 112(3):1702-1712.
- Keyser, P.D., E.D. Holcomb, C.M. Lituma, G.E. Bates, J.C. Waller, C.N. Boyer, and J.T. Mulliniks. 2016b. Forage Attributes and Animal Performance from Native Grass Inter-Seeded with Red Clover. Agron. J. 108(1):373-383.
- Keyser, P.D., G. Bates, J. Waller, C. Harper, and E. Doxon. 2011c. Grazing Native Warm-Season Grasses in the Mid-South. Univ. of Tennessee Ext. SP731-C. Ctr. for Native Grassland Manage., Univ. of Tennessee, Knoxville.

- Keyser, P.D., K.E. Zechiel, G. Bates, A.J. Ashworth, R. Nave, J. Rhinehart, and D.W. McIntosh. 2022. Evaluation of five C₄ forage grasses in the tall Fescue Belt. Agron. J. 114(6):3347-3357.
- Kieffer, C., D. Hui, R. Matamala, J. Li, D. Tyler, and E.K. Dzantor. 2023. Evaluation of eastern gamagrass as dual-purpose complementary bioenergy and forage feedstock to switchgrass. GCB Bioenergy. 15(6):776-790.
- Klopf, R.P., and S.G. Baer. 2011. Root dynamics of cultivar and non-cultivar population sources of two dominant grasses during initial establishment of tallgrass prairie. Restor. Ecol. 19(1):112-117.
- Krueger, C.R., and D.C. Curtis. 1979. Evaluation of Big Bluestem, Indiangrass, Sideoats Grama, and Switchgrass Pastures with Yearling Steers. Agron. J. 71(3):480-482.
- Ku, M.S.B., and G.E. Edwards. 1978. Oxygen Inhibition of Photosynthesis. III. Temperature Dependence of Quantum Yield and its Relation to O₂/CO₂ Solubility Ratio. Planta. 140:1-6.
- Lowe, J. K., II, C.N. Boyer, A.P. Griffith, G.E. Bates, P.D. Keyser, J.C Waller, and W.M. Backus. 2015. Profitability of beef and biomass production from native warm-season grasses in Tennessee. Agron. J., 107:1733–1740.
- Lowe, J.K., II, C.N. Boyer, A.P. Griffith, J.C. Waller, G.E. Bates, P.D. Keyser, J.A. Larson, E. Holcomb. 2016. The cost of feeding bred dairy heifers on native warm-season grasses and harvested feedstuffs. J. Dairy Sci. 99(1):634-643.
- Mason, K.M., M.K. Mullenix, J.J. Tucker, R.B. Muntifering, J.S. Angle, J. Yaeger. 2019. Overseeding Eastern Gamagrass with Cool-Season Annual Grasses or Grass-Legume Mixtures. Forage and Grazinglands. Crop Sci. 59(5):2264-2270.
- Martin, R.E., R.L. Miller, and C.T. Cushwa. 1975. Germination Response of Legume Seeds Subjected to Moist and Dry Heat. Ecology. 56(6):1441-1445.
- McIntosh, D. W., G.E Bates, P.D. Keyser, F.L Allen, C.A. Harper, and J.C. Waller. 2016. Forage harvest timing impact on biomass quality from native warm-season grass mixtures. Agron. J. 108:1524–1530.
- McKenna, J. R., D. D. Wolf, and M. Lentner. 1991. No-till warm-season grass establishment as affected by atrazine and carbofuran. Agron. J. 83:311-316.
- Mitchell, R.B., K.P. Vogel, T.J. Klopfenstein, B.E. Anderson, and R. A Masters. 2005. Grazing evaluation of big bluestems bred for improved forage yield and digestibility. Crop Sci. 45:2288-2292.
- Mitchell, R. B., R.A. Masters, S.S. Waller, K.J. Moore, and L.E. Moser. 1994. Big bluestem production and forage quality responses to burning date and fertilizer in tallgrass prairies. J. Prod. Agric. 7(3):355–359.

- Mitchell, R., J. Fritz, K. Moore, L. Moser, K. Vogel, D. Redfearn, and D. Wester. 2001. Predicting forage quality in switchgrass and big bluestem. Agron. J. 93: 118-124.
- Monroe, A.P., L.W. Burger, H.T. Boland, and J.A. Martin. 2017. Economic and conservation implications of converting exotic forages to native warm-season grass. Glob. Ecol. Conserv. 11:23-32.
- Moorehead, A.J.E., J.G.H. White, P. Jarvis, R.J. Lucas, and J.R. Sedcole. 1994. Effect of sowing method and fertilizer application on establishment and first season growth of Caucasian clover. Proceedings of the New Zealand Grassland Association (1994). 56:91-95.
- Moore, K.J. T.A. White, R.L. Hintz, P.K. Patrick, and E.C. Brummer. 2004. Sequential grazing of cool and warm season pastures. Agron. J. 96:1103-1111.
- Moser, L. E. and K.P. Vogel. 1995. Switchgrass, big bluestem, and indiangrass. Chapter 32. p. 409-420. In: Robert F. Barnes, Darrell A. Miller, and C. Jerry Nelson (eds.). Forages, 5th ed. Vol.I: An introduction to grassland agriculture. Iowa State Univ. Press., Ames, IA.
- Moser, L.E. and L.J. Perry. 1983. Yield, Vigor, and Persistence of Sand Lovegrass [Eragrostis trichodes (Nutt.) Wood] following Clipping Treatments. J. Range Manag. 36(2):236-238.
- Mueller, J.P., and D.S. Chamblee. 1984. Sod-Seeding of Ladino Clover and Alfalfa as Influenced by Seed Placement, Seeding Date, and Grass Suppression. Agron. J. 76(2):284-289.
- Muir, J.P., M.A. Sanderson, W.R. Oumpaugh, R.M. Jones, and R.L. Reed. 2001. Biomass Production of 'Alamo' Switchgrass in Response to Nitrogen, Phosphorus, and Row Spacing. Agron. J. 93(4):896-901.
- Mullahey, J.J., S.S. Waller, K.J. Moore, L.E. Moser, and T.J. Klopfenstein. 1992. In Situ Protein Degradation of Switchgrass and Smooth Bromegrass. Agron. J. 84:183-188.
- Newman, P.R., and L.E. Moser. 1988. Grass Seedling Emergence, Morphology, and Establishment as Affected by Planting Depth. Agron. J. 80(3):383-387.
- Nichols, R.L., J. Cardina, and T.P. Gaines. 1991. Growth, Reproduction and Chemical Composition of Horsenettle (*Solanum carolinense*). Weed Technol. 5:513-520.
- Owensby, C.E., G.M. Paulsen, and J.D. McKendrick. 1970. Effect of burning and clipping on bluestem reserve carbohydrates. J. Range Manag. 23:358-362.
- Owensby, C.E., J.R. Rains, and J.D. McKendrick. 1974. Effect of one year of intensive clipping on big bluestem. J. Range Manag. 27(5):341.
- Payne, K.M., S.R. Smith, and B.M. Goff. 2020. Enhanced efficiency nitrogen formulations on stockpiled tall fescue production. Agron. J. 113(2):1596-1606.
- Peet, M., R. Davis, and M.S. Adams. 1975. Effect of Fire on Big Bluestem Production. Am. Midl. Nat. 94(1):15-26.

- Posler, G.L., A.W. Lenssen, and G.L. Fine. 1993. Forage Yield, Quality, Compatibility, and Persistence of Warm-Season Gras-Legume Mixtures. Agron. J. 85:554-560.
- Richwine, J.D., P.D. Keyser, D.W. Hancock, and A.J. Ashworth. 2021. Using a browntop millet companion crop to aid native grass establishment. Agron. J. 113(4):3210-3221.
- Rincker, C.M. 1954. Effect of Heat on Impermeable Seeds of Alfalfa, Sweet Clover, and Red Clover. Agron. J. 46(6):247-250.
- Rogers, D.D., D.S. Chamblee, J.P. Mueller, and W.V. Campbell. 1983. Fall sod-seeding of ladino clover into tall fescue as influenced by time of seeding, and grass and insect suppression.
- Rogis, C., L.R. Gibson, A.D. Knapp, and R. Horton. 2004. Can Solid Matrix Priming With GA₃ Break Seed Dormancy in Eastern Gamagrass? J. Range Manag. 57(6):656-660.
- Rushing, J.B., J.G. Maples, J.D. Rivera, and J.C. Lyles. 2020. Early-season grazing of native grasses offers potential profitable benefit. Agron. J. 112(2):1057-1067.
- Rushing, J.B., R.W. Lemus, J.A. White, J.C. Lyles, and M.T. Thornton. 2019a. Yield of Native Warm-Season Grasses in Response to Nitrogen and Harvest Frequency. Agron J, 111(1):193-199.
- Rushing, J. B., R.W. Lemus, and J.C. Lyles. 2019b. Harvest frequency and native warm-season grass species influence nutritive value. Crop Forage Turfgrass Manag. 5:1–9.
- Sadeghpour, A., M. Hashemi, M. DaCosta, E. Jahanzad, and S.J. Herbert. 2014. Switchgrass Establishment Influenced by Cover Crop, Tillage Systems, and Weed Control. Bioenergy Res. 7:1402-1410.
- Sage, R.F. 2002. Variation in the k_{cat} of Rubisco in C₃ and C₄ plants and some implications for photosynthetic performance at high and low temperature. J. Exp. Bot. 53(369):609-620.
- Sage, R.F., and D.S. Kubien. 2003. Quo Vadis C4? An ecophysiolgoical perspective on global change and the future of C4 plants. Photosynth. Res. 77:209–225.
- Sage, R.F., and R.W. Pearcy. 1987. The Nitrogen Use Efficiency of C₃ and C₄ Plants: II. Leaf Nitrogen Effects on the Gas Exchange Characteristics of *Chenopodium album* (L.) and *Amaranthus retroflexus* (L.). Plant Physiol. 84(3):959-963.
- Schlueter, D., and B. Tracy. 2012. Sowing Method Effects on Clover Establishment into Permanent Pasture. Agron. J. 104(5):1217-1222.
- Schutte, B.J., E.E. Regnier, and S.K. Harrison. 2012. Seed Dormancy and Adaptive Seedling Emergence Timing in Giant Ragweed (*Ambrosia trifida*). Weed. Sci. 60:19-26.
- Onen, H., S. Farooq, N. Akyol, and C. Ozaslan. 2020. Seed dormancy differences among common ragweed (*Ambrosia artemisifolia* L.) populations distributed in different climatic regiosn of Turkey. Agricult. Forest. 66(3):169-182.

- Sleugh, B., K.J. Moore, J.R. George, and E.C. Brummer. 2000. Binary Legume-Grass Mixtures Improve Forage Yield, Quality, and Seasonal Distribution. Agron. J. 92:24-29.
- Smith, M.D., and A.K. Knapp. 1999. Exotic plant species in a C₄-dominated grassland: invasibility, disturbance, and community structure. Oceologia. 120:605-612.
- Springer, T.L., G.E. Aiken, and R.W. McNew. 2001. Combining Ability of Binary Mixtures of Native, Warm-Season Grasses and Legumes. Crop Sci. 41(3):818-823.
- Springer, T.L. 1997. Effect of Bermudagrass Height on Clover Establishment. Crop Sci. 37:1663-1665.
- Taylor, S.H., S.P. Hulme, M. Rees, and B.S. Ripley. 2009. Ecophysiological traits in C3 and C4 grasses: a phylogenetically controlled screening experiment. New Phytol. 185(3):780-791.
- Taylor. T.H., E.M. Smith, and W.C. Templeton Jr. 1969. Use of Minimum Tillage and Herbicide for Establishing Legumes in Kentucky Bluegrass (*Poa pratensis* L.) Swards. Agron. J. 61(5):761-766.
- Taylor, T.H., J.S. Foote, J.H. Snyder, E.M. Smith, and W.C. Templeton, Jr. 1972. Legume seedling stands resulting from winter and spring sowings in Kentucky bluegrass (*Poa pratensis* L.) sod. Agron. J. 64:535-538.
- Temperton, V.M., P.N. Mwangi, M. Scherer-Lorenzen, B. Schmid, and N. Buchmann. 2007. Positive interactions between nitrogen-fixing legumes and four different neighbouring species in a biodiversity experiment. Oecologia. 151:190-205.
- Temu, V.W., B.J. Rude, and B.S. Baldwin. 2014. Yield Response of Native Warm-Season Forage Grasses to Harvest Intervals and Durations in Mixed Stands. Agronomy. 4:90-107.
- Temu, V.W., and M.K. Kering. 2023. Compensatory Structural Growth Responses of Early-Succession Native Warm-Season Grass Stands to Defoliation Management. Agronomy. 13(5):1280.
- Thomason, W.E., W.R. Raun, G.V. Johnson, C.M. Taliaferro, K.W. Freeman, K.J. Wynn, and R.W. Mullen. 2005. Switchgrass Response to Harvest Frequency and Time and Rate of Applied Nitrogen. J. Plant Nutr. 27(7):1199-1226.
- Tilhou, N. W., R.L.G. Nave, J.T. Mulliniks, and Z.D. McFarlane. 2018. Winter grazing stockpiled native warm-season grasses in the Southeastern United States. Grass Forage Sci. 74: 171–176.
- Towne, E.G., and A.K. Knapp. 1996. Biomass and density responses in tallgrass prairie legumes to annual fire and topographic position. Am. J. Bot. 83(2):175-179.
- Tracy, B.F., D.H. Schlueter, and J.P. Flores. 2014. Conditions that favor clover establishment in permanent grass swards. Grassland Science. 61(1):34-40.

- Tracy, B.F., M. Maughan, N. Post, and D.B. Faulkner. 2010. Integrating Annual and Perennial Warm-season Grasses in a Temperate Grazing System. Crop Sci. 50:2171–2177.
- Vogel, K.P., J.F. Pedersen, S.D. Masterson, and J.J. Toy. 1999. Evaluation of a filter bag system for NDF, ADF, and IVDMD forage analysis. Crop Sci. 39:276-279.
- Waramit, N., K.J. Moore, and S.L. Fales. 2012. Forage quality of native warm-season grasses in response to nitrogen fertilization and harvest date. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 174:46-59.
- Washburn, B.E., and T.G. Barnes. 2000. Native Warm-Season Grass and forb establishment using imazapic and 2,4-D. Native Plants J. 1:61-69.
- Washburn, B.E., T.G. Barnes, C.C. Rhoades, and R. Remington. 2002. Using Imazapic and Prescribed Fire to Enhance Native Warm-Season Grasslands in Kentucky, USA. Nat. Areas J. 22:20-27.
- Wilsey, B.J. 2010. Productivity and Subordinate Species Response to Dominant Grass Species and Seed Source during Restoration. Restor. Ecol. 18:628-637. 7(4):e01329.
- Wilson, L.R., D.J. Gibson, S.G. Baer, and L.C. Johnson. 2016. Plant community response to regional sources of dominant grasses in grasslands restored across a longitudinal gradient. Ecosphere.
- Wullschleger, S.D., E.B. Davis, M.E. Borsuk, C.A. Gunderson, and L.R. Lynd. 2010. Biomass Production in Switchgrass across the United States: Database Description and Determinants of Yield. Agron. J. 102(4):1158-1168.
- Yang, Y., D. Tilman, G. Furey, and C. Lehman. 2019. Soil carbon sequestration accelerated by restoration of grassland biodiversity. Nat. Commun. 10, 718.
- Yurkonis, K.A., B.J. Wilsey, K.A. Moloney, and A.G. Van Der Valk. 2010a. The Impact of Seeding Method on Diversity and Plant Distribution in Two Restored Grasslands. Restor. Ecol. 18(3):311-321.
- Yurkonis, K.A., B.J. Wilsey, K.A. Moloney, P. Drobney, and D.L. Larson. 2010b. Seeding Method Influences Warm-Season Grass Abundance and Distribution but not Local Diversity in Grassland Restoration. Restor. Ecol. 18(2):344-353.
- Zimmermann, J., S.I. Higgins, V. Grimm, J. Hoffman, T. Münkemüller, and A. Linstädter. 2008. Recruitment filters in a perennial grassland: the interactive roles of fire, competitors, moisture, and seed availability. J. Ecol. 96(5):1033-1044.

Appendix

Table 1. Effect of planting timing ($P < 0.0001$) on clover emergence (plants m ⁻²) within NWSG averaged over 2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA
Table 2. Effect of planting method ($P < 0.0001$) on clover emergence (plants m ⁻²) within NWSGaveraged over 2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA
Table 3 (Table 5). Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction ($P < 0.0001$) on clover emergence (plants m ⁻²) within NWSG averaged over 2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA
Table 4. Effect of planting timing ($P < 0.0001$) on clover count (plants m ⁻²) within NWSGaveraged over 2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA
Table 5. Effect of planting method ($P < 0.0001$) on clover count (plants m ⁻²) within NWSGaveraged over 2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA
Table 6 (Table 6). Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction ($P = 0.0269$) on clover count (plants m ⁻²) within NWSG averaged over 2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA
Table 7 (Table 7). Effect of harvest ($P = 0.0012$) on clover count (plants m ⁻²) within NWSGaveraged over 2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA
Table 8 (Table 8). Effect of planting timing ($P = 0.0006$) on grass count (plants m ⁻²) withinNWSG averaged over 2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA
Table 9 (Table 9). Effect of planting method ($P = 0.0259$) on grass count (plants m ⁻²) within NWSG averaged over 2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA
Table 10 (Table 10). Effect of harvest ($P < 0.0001$) on weed count (plants m ⁻²) within NWSGaveraged over 2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA
Table 11. Effect of planting timing ($P < 0.0001$) on pre-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.91
Table 12. Effect of planting method ($P < 0.0001$) on pre-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.91
Table 13. Effect of harvest season ($P < 0.0001$) on pre-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.92
Table 14 (Table 12). Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction ($P < 0.0001$) on pre- harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 15 (Table 11). Effect of planting method x harvest season interaction ($P = 0.0006$) on pre- harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 16. Effect of planting timing ($P < 0.0001$) on pre-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA92
Table 17. Effect of planting method ($P = 0.0004$) on pre-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA

Table 18. Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction ($P = 0.0097$) on pre-harvest	
clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA	3
Table 19 (Table 13). Effect of planting timing x planting method x harvest season interaction ($P = 0.0433$) on pre-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA	3
Table 20. Effect of planting timing ($P < 0.0001$) on pre-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.93	3
Table 21. Effect of planting method ($P = 0.0142$) on pre-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.94	4
Table 22. Effect of harvest season ($P < 0.0001$) on pre-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.94	4
Table 23 (Table 14). Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction ($P = 0.0003$) on pre- harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA	
Table 24 (Table 15). Effect of planting method x harvest season interaction ($P = 0.0089$) on pre- harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA	
Table 25. Effect of planting timing ($P < 0.0001$) on pre-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA	5
Table 26. Effect of planting method ($P = 0.0003$) on pre-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA	5
Table 27. Effect of harvest season ($P = 0.0024$) on pre-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA	5
Table 28. Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction ($P = 0.0072$) on pre-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA	5
Table 29 (Table 16). Effect of planting timing x planting method x harvest season interaction ($P = 0.0227$) on pre-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA	l
Table 30. Effect of harvest season ($P = 0.0013$) on pre-harvest weeds ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.96	6
Table 31. Effect of planting timing ($P = 0.0009$) on pre-harvest weeds ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA	6
Table 32. Effect of harvest season ($P < 0.0001$) on pre-harvest weeds ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA	6
Table 33. Effect of planting timing ($P < 0.0001$) on pre-harvest bare ground (% of surface) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA97	7
Q^	\mathbf{r}

Table 34. Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction ($P = 0.0157$) on pre-harvest bare ground (% of surface) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 35. Effect of planting timing ($P < 0.0001$) on post-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.97
Table 36. Effect of planting method ($P < 0.0001$) on post-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.97
Table 37. Effect of harvest season ($P < 0.0001$) on post-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.98
Table 38 (Table 17). Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction ($P = 0.0003$) on post-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 39 (Table 18). Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction ($P < 0.0001$) on post- harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 40. Effect of planting timing ($P < 0.0001$) on post-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 41. Effect of planting method ($P < 0.0001$) on post-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 42. Effect of harvest season ($P = 0.0013$) on post-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 43 (Table 19). Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction ($P = 0.0050$) on post-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 44 (Table 20). Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction ($P = 0.0359$) on post- harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 45. Effect of planting timing ($P = 0.0379$) on post-harvest grass ground cover (%) withinNWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone,VA
Table 46. Effect of planting method ($P = 0.0394$) on post-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 47 (Table 18). Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction ($P < 0.0001$) on post- harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA100

Table 48 (Table 22). Effect of planting method x harvest season interaction ($P = 0.0003$) on post- harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 49. Effect of planting timing ($P < 0.0001$) on post-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA101
Table 50. Effect of planting method ($P < 0.0001$) on post-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA101
Table 51. Effect of harvest season ($P = 0.0249$) on post-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA101
Table 52. Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction ($P = 0.0242$) on post-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 53. Effect of planting timing ($P = 0.0010$) on post-harvest weeds ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA102
Table 54. Effect of harvest season ($P < 0.0001$) on post-harvest weeds ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA102
Table 55 (Table 23). Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction ($P = 0.0009$) on post- harvest weeds ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 56. Effect of planting timing ($P < 0.0001$) on post-harvest bare ground (% of surface)within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone,VA
Table 57. Effect of planting method ($P = 0.0073$) on post-harvest bare ground (% of surface) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 58. Effect of harvest season ($P = 0.0075$) on post-harvest bare ground (% of surface) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 59. Effect of planting timing ($P < 0.0001$) on post-harvest bare ground (% of surface) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA103
Table 60. Effect of planting method ($P < 0.0001$) on post-harvest bare ground (% of surface) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA103
Table 61. Effect of harvest season ($P < 0.0001$) on post-harvest bare ground (% of surface) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA104
Table 62. Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction ($P = 0.0169$) on post-harvest bare ground (% of surface) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA104

Table 63 (Table 23). Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction ($P = 0.0001$) on post- harvest bare ground (% of surface) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 64. Effect of planting timing ($P < 0.0001$) on the clover proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA104
Table 65. Effect of planting method ($P < 0.0001$) on the clover proportion of biomass (%) withinNWSG in Blackstone, VA
Table 66. Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction ($P = 0.0013$) on the clover proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA105
Table 67. Effect of harvest season ($P < 0.0001$) on the clover proportion of biomass (%) withinNWSG in Blackstone, VA
Table 68. Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction ($P = 0.0035$) on the clover proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA105
Table 69. Effect of planting method x harvest season interaction ($P = 0.0472$) on the clover proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA106
Table 70. Effect of year ($P < 0.0001$) on the clover proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA.106
Table 71. Effect of year x planting timing interaction ($P < 0.0001$) on the clover proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA
Table 72. Effect of year x planting method interaction ($P < 0.0001$) on the clover proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA
Table 73 (Table 26). Effect of year x planting timing x planting method interaction ($P < 0.0001$) on the clover proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA107
Table 74. Effect of year x harvest season interaction ($P = 0.0006$) on the clover proportion ofbiomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA
Table 75. Effect of planting timing ($P < 0.0001$) on the grass proportion of biomass (%) withinNWSG in Blackstone, VA
Table 76. Effect of planting method ($P < 0.0001$) on the grass proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA
Table 77 (Table 24). Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction ($P = 0.0026$) on the grass proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA108
Table 78. Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction ($P = 0.0001$) on the grass proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA108
Table 79. Effect of planting method x harvest season interaction ($P = 0.0012$) on the grass proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA108
Table 80. Effect of year (P < 0.0001) on the grass proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in

Table 81. Effect of year x planting timing interaction ($P < 0.0001$) on the grass proportion ofbiomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA.109)
Table 82. Effect of year x planting method interaction ($P = 0.0484$) on the grass proportion ofbiomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA)
Table 83 (Table 25). Effect of year x harvest season interaction ($P < 0.0001$) on the grassproportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA)
Table 84. Effect of planting timing ($P = 0.0035$) on the weeds proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA109)
Table 85. Effect of harvest season ($P = 0.0038$) on the weeds proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA)
Table 86. Effect of year x planting timing interaction ($P = 0.0464$) on the weeds proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA)
Table 87. Effect of year x planting method interaction ($P = 0.0026$) on the weeds proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA110)
Table 88 (Table 27). Effect of year x planting timing x planting method interaction ($P = 0.0472$) on the weed proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA110)
Table 89 (Table 25). Effect of year x harvest season interaction ($P = 0.0008$) on the weeds proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA	l
Table 90. Effect of year x planting timing x harvest season interaction ($P = 0.0117$) on the weed proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA111	Į
Table 91. Effect of planting timing ($P = 0.0194$) on whole plot crude protein content (g kg ⁻¹) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA	
Table 92. Effect of harvest season ($P < 0.0001$) on whole plot crude protein content (g kg ⁻¹) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA	L
Table 93 (Table 28). Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction ($P = 0.0002$) on whole plot crude protein content (g kg ⁻¹) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA	
Table 94. Effect of planting timing ($P < 0.0001$) on whole plot crude protein content (g kg ⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA112	2
Table 95. Effect of harvest season ($P < 0.0001$) on whole plot crude protein content (g kg ⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA112	2
Table 96 (Table 31). Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction ($P = 0.0001$) on whole plot crude protein content (g kg ⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA	

Table 97. Effect of planting method x harvest season interaction ($P = 0.0286$) on whole plot crude protein content (g kg ⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 98. Effect of planting timing ($P < 0.0001$) on whole plot neutral detergent fiber content (g kg^{-1}) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) inBlackstone, VA.
Table 99 (Table 28). Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction ($P = 0.0005$) on whole plot neutral detergent fiber content (g kg ⁻¹) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 100. Effect of planting timing ($P < 0.0001$) on whole plot neutral detergent fiber content (g kg ⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA113
Table 101. Effect of harvest season ($P < 0.0001$) on whole plot neutral detergent fiber content (g kg ⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA114
Table 102 (Table 31). Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction ($P = 0.0357$) on whole plot neutral detergent fiber content (g kg ⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 103 (Table 29). Effect of harvest season ($P < 0.0001$) on whole plot acid detergent fiber content (g kg ⁻¹) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 104 (Table 32). Effect of harvest season ($P < 0.0001$) on whole plot acid detergent fiber content (g kg ⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 105 (Table 33). Effect of planting timing ($P = 0.0068$) on total seasonal yield (kg ha ⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA115
Table 106 (Table 34). Effect of planting method ($P = 0.0122$) on total seasonal yield (kg ha ⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA115
Table 107 (Table 35). Effect of harvest season ($P < 0.0001$) on harvest yield (kg ha ⁻¹) withinNWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone,VA
Table 108. Effect of planting timing ($P < 0.0001$) on harvest yield (kg ha ⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 109. Effect of planting method ($P = 0.0073$) on harvest yield (kg ha ⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA
Table 110 (Table 38). Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction ($P = 0.0470$) on harvest yield (kg ha ⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA

Table 111 (Table 36). Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction ($P < 0.0001$) on	
harvest yield (kg ha ⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in	
Blackstone, VA	116
Table 112 (Table 37). Effect of planting method x harvest season interaction ($P = 0.0207$) on	
harvest yield (kg ha ⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in	
Blackstone, VA	116

Timing	Clover Emergence	
	plants m ⁻²	SE
Burn	139.9 a ¹	11.7
Winter	86.7 b	11.7
Fall	11.8 c	11.7

Table 1. Effect of planting timing ($P < 0.0001$) on clover emergence (plants m ⁻²) within	
NWSG averaged over 2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA.	

Table 2. Effect of planting method (P < 0.0001) on clover emergence (plants m⁻²) within NWSG averaged over 2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA.

Method	Clover Emergence	
	plants m ⁻²	SE
Drill	133.1 a ¹	9.5
Broadcast	79.7 b	9.5
Control	25.7 с	9.5

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 3 (Table 5). Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction (P < 0.0001) on clover emergence (plants m⁻²) within NWSG averaged over 2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA.

,		,	0			
			Clover Emergen	ce (plants m ⁻²	2)	
Timing			Meth	od		
	Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE
Burn	235.5 a ¹	16.4	133.2 bc	16.4	51.1 de	16.4
Winter	145.9 b	16.4	95.3 cd	16.4	19.1 e	16.4
Fall	18.0 e	16.4	10.5 e	16.4	7.0 e	16.4

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 4. Effect of planting timing (P < 0.0001) on clover count (plants m⁻²) within NWSG averaged over 2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA.

Timing	Clover Count	
	plants m ⁻²	SE
Burn	113.6 a ¹	9.6
Winter	66.3 b	9.6
Fall	13.8 c	9.6

Method	Clover Count	
	plants m ⁻²	SE
Drill	77.7 a ¹	9.6
Broadcast	80.7 a	9.6
Control	35.3 b	9.6

Table 5. Effect of planting method (P < 0.0001) on clover count (plants m⁻²) within NWSG averaged over 2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA.

Table 6 (Table 6). Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction (P = 0.0269) on clover count (plants m⁻²) within NWSG averaged over 2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA.

			Clover Count	(plants m ⁻²)		
Timing			Meth	od		
	Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE
Burn	120.3 ab ¹	14.3	133.1 a	14.3	87.4 bc	14.3
Winter	102.4 abc	14.3	83.6 c	14.3	13.0 d	14.3
Fall	10.4 d	14.3	25.5 d	14.3	5.5 d	14.3

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 7 (Table 7). Effect of harvest (P = 0.0012) on clover count (plants m⁻²) within NWSG averaged over 2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest	Grass Count	
	plants m ⁻²	SE
1	71.8 a ¹	8.17
2	53.6 b	7.05
3	68.3 a	9.63

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 8 (Table 8). Effect of planting timing (P = 0.0006) on grass count (plants m⁻²) within NWSG averaged over 2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA.

Timing	Grass Count	
	plants m ⁻²	SE
Burn	39.7 b ¹	11.2
Winter	39.7 b	11.2
Fall	59.3 a	11.2

<u> </u>		
Method	Grass C	ount
	plants m ⁻²	SE
Drill	44.5 ab ¹	11.2
Broadcast	39.6 b	11.2
Control	54.6 a	11.2

Table 9 (Table 9). Effect of planting method (P = 0.0256) on grass count (plants m⁻²) within NWSG averaged over 2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA.

Table 10 (Table 10). Effect of harvest ($P < 0.0001$) on weed count (plants m ⁻²) within NWSG
averaged over 2022 and 2023 in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest	Grass Count				
	plants m ⁻²	SE			
1	70.7 a ¹	15.2			
2	15.0 c	6.9			
3	25.5 b	7.8			

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 11. Effect of planting timing (P < 0.0001) on pre-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Timing	Clover Cover			
	%	SE		
Burn	19.5 a ¹	1.9		
Winter	8.4 b	1.9		
Fall	2.7 с	1.9		

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 12. Effect of planting method (P < 0.0001) on pre-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Method	Clover Cover			
	%	SE		
Drill	17.1 a ¹	1.9		
Broadcast	8.4 b	1.9		
Control	5.1 b	1.9		

Harvest Season	Clover Cover				
	%	SE			
Spring	3.0 b ¹	0.8			
Fall	17.3 a	1.9			
1 (11)	17.5 u	1.7			

Table 13. Effect of harvest season (P < 0.0001) on pre-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Table 14 (Table 12). Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction (P < 0.0001) on pre-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest			Clover Co	over (%)				
Season	Timing							
	Burn	SE	Winter	SE	Fall	SE		
Spring	5.9 c ¹	1.1	3.0 d	1.1	0.2 d	1.1		
Fall	33.2 a	3.1	13.7 b	3.1	5.1 cd	3.1		

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 15 (Table 11). Effect of planting method x harvest season interaction (P = 0.0006) on pre-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest			Clover Co	ver (%)				
Season	Method							
	Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE		
Spring	5.6 c ¹	1.1	2.1 d	1.1	1.5 d	1.1		
Fall	28.6 a	3.1	14.8 b	3.1	8.6 bc	3.1		

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 16. Effect of planting timing (P < 0.0001) on pre-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Timing	Clover Cover		
	%	SE	
Burn	84.9 a ¹	4.9	
Winter	39.7 b	4.9	
Fall	4.6 c	4.9	

Minimi i (1000 in the beeond je	ar of producetion of I for bet I (20)	
Method	Clover	Cover
	%	SE
Drill	54.0 a ¹	4.9
Broadcast	48.6 a	4.9
Control	26.6 b	4.9

Table 17. Effect of planting method (P = 0.0004) on pre-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Table 18. Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction (P = 0.0097) on pre-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

		Clover Co	ver (%)				
Method							
Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE		
91.3 a ¹	7.8	90.7 a	7.8	72.7 ab	7.8		
65.2 bc	7.8	49.5 c	7.8	4.5 d	7.8		
5.5 d	7.8	5.7 d	7.8	2.7 d	7.8		
	91.3 a ¹ 65.2 bc	91.3 a ¹ 7.8 65.2 bc 7.8	Drill SE Broadcast 91.3 a ¹ 7.8 90.7 a 65.2 bc 7.8 49.5 c	Drill SE Broadcast SE 91.3 a ¹ 7.8 90.7 a 7.8 65.2 bc 7.8 49.5 c 7.8	Method Drill SE Broadcast SE Control 91.3 a ¹ 7.8 90.7 a 7.8 72.7 ab 65.2 bc 7.8 49.5 c 7.8 4.5 d		

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 19 (Table 13). Effect of planting timing x planting method x harvest season interaction (P = 0.0433) on pre-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Timing	Harvest	Clover Cover (%) Method						
-	Season	Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE	
Burn	Spring	90.3 ab ¹	8.4	92.7 a	8.4	64.7 cde	8.4	
	Fall	92.3 a	8.2	88.7 ab	8.2	80.7 abc	8.2	
Winter	Spring	62.3 cde	8.4	43.0 e	8.4	6.3 f	8.4	
	Fall	68.0 bcd	8.2	56.0 de	8.2	2.7 f	8.2	
Fall	Spring	7.3 f	8.4	4.7 f	8.4	4.3 f	8.4	
	Fall	3.7 f	8.2	6.7 f	8.2	1.0 f	8.2	

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 20. Effect of planting timing ($P < 0.0001$) on pre-harvest grass ground cover (%) within	n
NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA	A.

Timing	Grass (Cover
-	%	SE
Burn	63.1 c ¹	2.5
Winter	72.4 b	2.5
Fall	79.3 a	2.5

DIACKSTOILE, VA.		
Method	Grass (Cover
_	%	SE
Drill	66.2 b ¹	2.5
Broadcast	73.7 a	2.5
Control	74.9 a	2.5

Table 21. Effect of planting method (P = 0.0142) on pre-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Table 22. Effect of harvest season (P < 0.0001) on pre-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest Season	Grass Cover		
	%	SE	
Spring	77.1 a ¹	2.0	
Fall	66.1 b	2.0	

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 23 (Table 14). Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction (P = 0.0003) on pre-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest	Grass Cover (%)					
Season			Timi	ng		
	Burn	SE	Winter	SE	Fall	SE
Spring	74.8 ab^1	3.0	76.2 a	3.0	80.2 a	3.0
Fall	51.5 c	3.1	68.6 b	3.1	78.3 a	3.1

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 24 (Table 15). Effect of planting method x harvest season interaction (P = 0.0089) on pre-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest	Grass Cover (%)					
Season			Meth	od		
	Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE
Spring	75.6 ab^1	3.0	79.6 a	3.0	76.1 a	3.0
Fall	56.8 c	3.1	67.8 b	3.1	73.8 ab	3.1

		,	
Timing	Grass Cover		
_	%	SE	
Burn	$10.9 c^1$	4.1	
Winter	52.5 b	4.1	
Fall	84.1 a	4.1	

Table 25. Effect of planting timing (P < 0.0001) on pre-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Table 26. Effect of planting method (P = 0.0003) on pre-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

J		
Method	Grass Cover	
	%	SE
Drill	39.0 b ¹	4.1
Broadcast	43.7 b	4.1
Control	64.9 a	4.1

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 27. Effect of harvest season (P = 0.0024) on pre-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest Season	Grass	Cover
	%	SE
Spring	52.4 a ¹	2.6
Fall	46.0 b	2.6

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 28. Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction (P = 0.0072) on pre-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

			Grass Co	ver (%)		
Timing			Meth	od		
	Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE
Burn	4.3 c	7.1	4.7 c	7.1	23.8 bc	7.1
Winter	28.5 b	7.1	42.8 b	7.1	86.2 a	7.1
Fall	84.2 a	7.1	83.5 a	7.1	84.7 a	7.1

Timing	Harvest			Grass Cov Metho	~ /		
C	Season	Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE
Burn	Spring	7.7 de ¹	7.7	6.0 de	7.7	33.7 bc	7.7
	Fall	1.0 e	7.6	3.3 de	7.6	14.0 cde	7.6
Winter	Spring	33.7 bc	7.7	52.3 b	7.7	84.3 a	7.7
	Fall	23.3 cd	7.6	33.3 c	7.6	88.0 a	7.6
Fall	Spring	81.7 a	7.7	87.7 a	7.7	84.7 a	7.7
	Fall	86.7 a	7.6	79.3 a	7.6	84.7 a	7.6

Table 29 (Table 16). Effect of planting timing x planting method x harvest season interaction (P = 0.0227) on pre-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Table 30. Effect of harvest season (P = 0.0013) on pre-harvest weeds ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest Season	Weeds	Cover
	%	SE
Spring	15.5 a ¹	2.5
Fall	11.8 b	2.3

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 31. Effect of planting t	iming ($P = 0.0009$) on pre-harvest weeds ground cover (%)
within NWSG in the second	year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

<u> </u>			
Timing	Weeds	Weeds Cover	
	%	SE	
Burn	1.9 b ¹	1.1	
Winter	5.3 a	1.1	
Fall	5.2 a	1.1	

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 32. Effect of har	vest season ($P < 0.0001$) on pre-harvest weeds ground cover (%) within
NWSG in the second y	vear of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

· · ·			
Harvest Season	Weeds Cover		
_	%	SE	
Spring	2.2 b ¹	1.0	
Fall	6.1 a	1.1	

Timing	Bare Ground		
	%	SE	
Burn	$2.2 b^1$	0.4	
Winter	2.5 b	0.4	
Fall	6.0 a	0.4	

Table 33. Effect of planting timing (P < 0.0001) on pre-harvest bare ground (% of surface) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Table 34. Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction (P = 0.0157) on pre-harvest bare ground (% of surface) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest			Bare Grou	und (%)		
Season	Timing					
	Burn	SE	Winter	SE	Fall	SE
Spring	1.0 d ¹	0.7	2.9 cd	0.7	7.0 a	0.7
Fall	3.3 bc	0.6	2.1 cd	0.6	5.0 ab	0.6

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 35. Effect of planting timing (P < 0.0001) on post-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Timing	Clover Cover	
	%	SE
Burn	19.7 a ¹	1.4
Winter	9.5 b	1.4
Fall	1.3 c	1.4

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 36. Effect of planting method (P < 0.0001) on post-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Method	Clover Cover		
	%	SE	
Drill	17.1 a ¹	1.4	
Broadcast	9.6 b	1.4	
Control	3.9 c	1.4	

Table 37. Effect of harvest season (P < 0.0001) on post-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest Season	Clover Cover		
	%	SE	
Spring	$6.0 b^1$	0.5	
Fall	14.3 a	1.4	

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 38 (Table 17). Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction (P = 0.0003) on post-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

			Clover Co	ver (%)			
Timing		Method					
	Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE	
Burn	31.7 a ¹	2.4	19.2 b	2.4	8.3 c	2.4	
Winter	18.4 b	2.4	7.8 cd	2.4	2.3 cd	2.4	
Fall	1.1 d	2.4	1.8 cd	2.4	1.0 d	2.4	

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 39 (Table 18). Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction (P < 0.0001) on post-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest	Clover Cover (%)						
Season	Timing						
	Burn	SE	Winter	SE	Fall	SE	
Spring	11.3 b ¹	0.9	6.2 c	0.9	0.7 d	0.9	
Fall	28.1 a	2.4	12.9 b	2.4	1.9 cd	2.4	

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 40. Effect of planting t	iming ($P < 0.0001$) on post-harvest clover ground cover (%	ó)
within NWSG in the second	year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.	

J. J	*		
Timing	Clover Cover		
	%	SE	
Burn	67.1 a ¹	3.6	
Winter	28.7 b	3.6	
Fall	2.2 c	3.6	

whill if (150 in the second year of production of 1 for set 1 (2023) in Diackstone, 111.			
Method	Clover	Cover	
	%	SE	
Drill	45.4 a ¹	3.6	
Broadcast	37.8 a	3.6	
Control	14.8 b	3.6	

Table 41. Effect of planting method (P < 0.0001) on post-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Table 42. Effect of harvest season (P = 0.0013) on post-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest Season	Clover Cover			
	%	SE		
Spring	36.6 a ¹	2.8		
Spring Fall	28.7 b	2.0		

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 43 (Table 19). Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction (P = 0.0050) on post-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

			Clover Co	ver (%)		
Timing		Method				
	Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE
Burn	84.5 a ¹	6.2	76.7 a	6.2	40.0 b	6.2
Winter	49.2 b	6.2	34.3 b	6.2	2.7 c	6.2
Fall	2.5 c	6.2	2.3 c	6.2	1.8 c	6.2

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 44 (Table 20). Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction (P = 0.0359) on post-harvest clover ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest	Clover Cover (%)					
Season	Timing					
	Burn	SE	Winter	SE	Fall	SE
Spring	$72.3 a^1$	4.8	35.6 c	4.8	2.0 e	4.8
Fall	61.8 b	3.3	21.9 d	3.3	2.4 e	3.3

Blackstone, VA.		
Timing	Grass C	Cover
	%	SE
Burn	42.9 ab ¹	1.6
Winter	41.4 b	1.6
Fall	45.9 a	1.6

Table 45. Effect of planting timing (P = 0.0379) on post-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Table 46. Effect of planting method (P = 0.0394) on post-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Method	Grass Cover		
	%	SE	
Drill	41.1 b ¹	1.6	
Broadcast	43.6 ab	1.6	
Control	45.6 a	1.6	

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 47 (Table 18). Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction (P < 0.0001) on post-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest	Grass Cover (%)						
Season	Timing						
	Burn	SE	Winter	SE	Fall	SE	
Spring	$48.7 a^1$	1.6	40.3 c	1.6	44.8 b	1.6	
Fall	37.0 c	2.2	42.6 bc	2.2	47.0 ab	2.2	

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 48 (Table 22). Effect of planting method x harvest season interaction (P = 0.0003) on post-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest	Grass Cover (%)					
Season	Method					
	Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE
Spring	46.1 a ¹	1.6	43.6 a	1.6	44.1 a	1.6
Fall	36.0 b	2.2	43.6 a	2.2	47.1 a	2.2

Timing	Grass Cover			
	%	SE		
Burn	12.9 c ¹	2.7		
Winter	32.1 b	2.7		
Fall	52.1 a	2.7		

Table 49. Effect of planting timing (P < 0.0001) on post-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Table 50. Effect of planting method (P < 0.0001) on post-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Method	Grass Cover	
	%	SE
Drill	24.1 b ¹	2.7
Broadcast	29.2 b	2.7
Control	43.8 a	2.7

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 51. Effect of harvest season (P = 0.0249) on post-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest Season	Grass (Cover
	%	SE
Spring	34.8 a ¹	1.8
Fall	30.0 b	1.9

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 52. Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction (P = 0.0242) on post-harvest grass ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

	Grass Cover (%)					
Timing	Method					
	Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE
Burn	3.8 d ¹	4.7	5.7 cd	4.7	29.3 b	4.7
Winter	17.5 bc	4.7	29.5 b	4.7	49.3 a	4.7
Fall	51.0 a	4.7	52.5 a	4.7	52.8 a	4.7

	ar of production of I for bet I (20	
Timing	Weeds Cover	
	%	SE
Burn	0.4 b ¹	0.9
Winter	2.9 a	0.9
Fall	3.9 a	0.9

Table 53. Effect of planting timing (P = 0.0010) on post-harvest weeds ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Table 54. Effect of harvest season (P < 0.0001) on post-harvest weeds ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

1	, ,
Weeds	s Cover
%	SE
$0.7 b^1$	0.7
4.1 a	0.9
	% 0.7 b ¹

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 55 (Table 23). Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction (P = 0.0009) on post-harvest weeds ground cover (%) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest	Weeds Cover (%)					
Season	Season Timing					
	Burn	SE	Winter	SE	Fall	SE
Spring	$0.3 b^1$	0.8	1.4 b	0.8	0.4 b	0.8
Fall	0.6 b	1.2	4.4 a	1.2	7.3 a	1.2

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 56. Effect of planting timing (P < 0.0001) on post-harvest bare ground (% of surface) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Timing	Bare Ground	
	%	SE
Burn	30.6 b ¹	1.5
Winter	40.7 a	1.5
Fall	44.4 a	1.5

Diackstone, VA.		
Method	Bare G	round
	%	SE
Drill	35.0 b ¹	1.5
Broadcast	38.9 ab	1.5
Control	41.7 a	1.5

Table 57. Effect of planting method (P = 0.0073) on post-harvest bare ground (% of surface) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Table 58. Effect of harvest season (P = 0.0075) on post-harvest bare ground (% of surface) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest Season	Bare Ground	
	%	SE
Spring	41.0 a ¹	1.0
Fall	36.1 b	1.4

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 59. Effect of planting timing (P < 0.0001) on post-harvest bare ground (% of surface) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Timing	Bare Ground	
	%	SE
Burn	19.6 c ¹	1.5
Winter	36.2 b	1.5
Fall	41.8 a	1.5

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 60. Effect of planting method (P < 0.0001) on post-harvest bare ground (% of surface) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Method	Bare Ground		
	%	SE	
Drill	27.8 b ¹	1.5	
Broadcast	30.5 b	1.5	
Control	39.2 a	1.5	

in the second	ear of production of risc bet i (20)		
Harvest Season	Bare Ground		
	%	SE	
Spring	27.8 b ¹	1.3	
Fall	37.2 a	1.2	

Table 61. Effect of harvest season (P < 0.0001) on post-harvest bare ground (% of surface) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA

Table 62. Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction (P = 0.0169) on post-harvest bare ground (% of surface) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

	Bare Ground (%)					
Timing	Method					
	Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE
Burn	11.5 d ¹	2.6	17.0 d	2.6	30.2 c	2.6
Winter	30.0 c	2.6	33.7 bc	2.6	45.0 a	2.6
Fall	42.0 a	2.6	40.8 ab	2.6	42.5 a	2.6

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 63 (Table 23). Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction (P = 0.0001) on post-harvest bare ground (% of surface) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest	Bare Ground (%)					
Season	Timing					
	Burn	SE	Winter	SE	Fall	SE
Spring	$10.1 c^1$	2.2	29.8 b	2.2	43.6 a	2.2
Fall	29.0 b	2.2	42.7 a	2.2	40.0 a	2.2

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 64. Effect of planting timing ($P < 0.0001$) on the clover proportion of biomass (%)
within NWSG in Blackstone, VA.	

Timing	Clover Biomass Proportion		
	%	SE	
Burn	53.6 a ¹	3.2	
Winter	37.8 b	3.2	
Fall	10.5 c	3.2	

Method	Clover Biomass Proportion		
	%	SE	
Drill	40.1 a ¹	3.2	
Broadcast	43.1 a	3.2	
Control	18.7 b	3.2	

Table 65. Effect of planting method (P < 0.0001) on the clover proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA.

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 66. Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction (P = 0.0013) on the clover proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA.

	Clover Biomass Proportion (%)					
Timing	Method					
	Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE
Burn	58.2 a ¹	5.5	58.2 a	5.5	44.5 a	5.5
Winter	57.0 a	5.5	49.9 a	5.5	6.5 bc	5.5
Fall	5.0 c	5.5	21.5 b	5.5	5.1 c	5.5

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 67. Effect of harvest season (P < 0.0001) on the clover proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest Season	Clover Biomass Proportion		
	%	SE	
Spring	29.1 b ¹	2.1	
Fall	38.8 a	2.1	

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 68. Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction (P = 0.0035) on the clover proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest	Clover Biomass Proportion (%)					
Season	Timing					
	Burn	SE	Winter	SE	Fall	SE
Spring	45.3 b ¹	3.6	31.8 c	3.6	10.3 d	3.6
Fall	62.0 a	3.6	43.8 b	3.6	10.7 d	3.6

Harvest	Clover Biomass Proportion (%)					
Season	Method					
	Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE
Spring	31.9 b ¹	3.6	38.9 ab	3.6	16.6 c	3.6
Fall	48.2 a	3.6	47.5 a	3.6	20.8 c	3.6

Table 69. Effect of planting method x harvest season interaction (P = 0.0472) on the clover proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA.

Table 70. Effect of year (P < 0.0001) on the clover proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA.

Year	Clover Biomass Proportion		
	%	SE	
1	12.8 b ¹	2.1	
2	55.2 a	2.1	

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 71. Effect of year x planting timing interaction (P < 0.0001) on the clover proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA.

Year	Clover Biomass Proportion (%)						
	Timing						
	Burn	SE	Winter	SE	Fall	SE	
1	21.6 c ¹	3.6	15.3 c	3.6	1.5 d	3.6	
2	85.7 a	3.6	60.3 b	3.6	19.6 c	3.6	

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 72. Effect of year x planting method interaction ($P < 0.0001$) on the clover proportion of
biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA.

Year	Clover Biomass Proportion (%)						
	Method						
	Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE	
1	17.8 c ¹	3.6	15.7 c	3.6	4.8 d	3.6	
2	62.3 a	3.6	70.7 a	3.6	32.6 b	3.6	

0.0001) 011	the clover p	reportion of of				K5tone, v11.			
			Clover Biomass Proportion (%)						
Timing	Year	Method							
0		Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE		
Burn	1	25.0 bcd ¹	6.2	26.6 bcd	6.2	13.2 cde	6.2		
	2	91.5 a	6.2	89.8 a	6.2	75.9 a	6.2		
Winter	1	28.4 bc	6.2	16.4 cde	6.2	1.0 e	6.2		
	2	85.6 a	6.2	83.4 a	6.2	12.0 cde	6.2		
Fall	1	0.02 e	6.2	4.1 e	6.2	0.3 e	6.2		
	2	9.9 de	6.2	38.9 b	6.2	10.0 de	6.2		

Table 73 (Table 26). Effect of year x planting timing x planting method interaction (P < 0.0001) on the clover proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA.

Table 74. Effect of year x harvest season interaction (P = 0.0006) on the clover proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA.

Year	Clover Biomass Proportion (%)					
	Harvest					
	Spring	SE	Fall	SE		
1	$4.4 c^{1}$	2.5	21.1 b	2.5		
2	53.9 a	2.5	56.6 a	2.5		

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 75. Effect of planting timing (P < 0.0001) on the grass proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA.

Timing	Grass Biomass Proportion					
	%	SE				
Burn	42.3 b ¹	3.8				
Winter	50.8 b	3.8				
Fall	77.1 a	3.8				

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 76. Effect of planting method (P < 0.0001) on the grass proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA.

Method	Grass Biomass Proportion			
	%	SE		
Drill	51.6 b ¹	3.8		
Broadcast	46.5 b	3.8		
Control	72.4 a	3.8		

the grass proportion of biomass (70) within 140050 in Diackstone, VA.								
Grass Biomass Proportion (%)								
Timing	Method							
	Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE		
Burn	37.4 cd^1	6.5	38.7 cd	6.5	52.0 bc	6.5		
Winter	31.1 d	6.5	38.2 cd	6.5	83.0 a	6.5		
Fall	86.4 a	6.5	62.7 b	6.5	82.3 a	6.5		

Table 77 (Table 24). Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction (P = 0.0026) on the grass proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA.

Table 78. Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction (P = 0.0001) on the grass proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest	Grass Biomass Proportion (%)						
Season	Timing						
	Burn	SE	Winter	SE	Fall	SE	
Spring	$50.5 c^1$	4.2	52.9 c	4.2	73.3 b	4.2	
Fall	34.9 d	4.2	48.6 c	4.2	81.0 a	4.2	

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 79. Effect of planting method x harvest season interaction (P = 0.0012) on the grass proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA.

Grass Biomass Proportion (%)					
		Method			
Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE
58.6 bc ¹	4.2	48.7 cd	4.2	69.5 ab	4.2
44.7 d	4.2	44.4 d	4.2	75.4 a	4.2
	58.6 bc ¹	58.6 bc^1 4.2	Meth Drill SE Broadcast 58.6 bc1 4.2 48.7 cd	MethodDrillSEBroadcastSE58.6 bc14.248.7 cd4.2	MethodDrillSEBroadcastSEControl 58.6 bc^1 4.2 48.7 cd 4.2 69.5 ab

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 80. Effect of year (P < 0.0001) on the grass proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA.

Year	Grass Biomass Proportion					
	%	SE				
1	77.8 a ¹	2.4				
2	35.9 b	2.4				
1						

Year	Grass Biomass Proportion (%)							
	Timing							
	Burn	SE	Winter	SE	Fall	SE		
1	$72.0 b^{1}$	4.2	72.2 b	4.2	89.1 a	4.2		
2	13.3 d	4.2	29.3 с	4.2	65.1 b	4.2		

Table 81. Effect of year x planting timing interaction (P < 0.0001) on the grass proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA.

Table 82. Effect of year x planting method interaction (P = 0.0484) on the grass proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA.

Year	Grass Biomass Proportion (%)						
	Method						
	Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE	
1	71.5 b ¹	4.2	71.1 b	4.2	90.8 a	4.2	
2	31.8 d	4.2	21.9 d	4.2	54.0 c	4.2	

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 83 (Table 25). Effect of year x harvest season interaction (P < 0.0001) on the grass proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA.

Year	Grass Biomass Proportion (%)			
_		Ha	rvest	
	Spring	SE	Fall	SE
1	86.7 a ¹	2.8	68.9 b	2.8
2	31.2 d	2.8	40.7 c	2.8

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 84. Effect of planting timing ($P = 0.0035$) on the weeds proportion of biomass (%)
within NWSG in Blackstone, VA.

Timing	Weeds Bioma	ss Proportion
	%	SE
Burn	3.7 b ¹	2.6
Winter	11.4 a	2.6
Fall	12.3 a	2.6

Harvest Season	Weeds Bioma	ss Proportion
	%	SE
Spring	12.0 a ¹	2.4
Fall	6.3 b	2.4

Table 85. Effect of harvest season (P = 0.0038) on the weeds proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA.

Table 86. Effect of year x planting timing interaction (P = 0.0464) on the weeds proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA.

Year	Weeds Biomass Proportion (%)						
	Timing						
	Burn	SE	Winter	SE	Fall	SE	
1	6.4 bc ¹	3.1	12.5 ab	3.1	9.4 ab	3.1	
2	1.0 c	3.1	10.3 ab	3.1	15.3 a	3.1	

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 87. Effect of year x planting method interaction (P = 0.0026) on the weeds proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA.

Year	Weeds Biomass Proportion (%) Method					
	Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE
1	10.7 ab	3.1	13.2 a	3.1	4.4 b	3.1
2	5.9 b	3.1	7.4 ab	3.1	13.3 a	3.1

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 88 (Table 27). Effect of year x planting timing x planting method interaction (P = 0.0472) on the weed proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA.

010 !/ <u>=</u>) 011		operation of elon					
			W	leeds Biomass P	roportion	(%)	
Timing	Year			Metho	od		
-		Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE
Burn	1	8.0 bcdefg ¹	4.6	4.7 fg	4.6	6.4 cdefg	4.6
	2	0.7 g	4.6	1.5 g	4.6	0.6 g	4.6
Winter	1	18.0 abc	4.6	17.6 abcd	4.6	2.0 g	4.6
	2	5.8 efg	4.6	6.3 cdefg	4.6	18.9 ab	4.6
Fall	1	6.2 defg	4.6	17.3 abcde	4.6	4.7 fg	4.6
	2	11.1 abcdefg	4.6	14.3 abcdef	4.6	20.5 a	4.6

Year	Weeds Biomass Proportion (%)				
_		rvest			
	Spring	SE	Fall	SE	
1	9.0	2.7	9.9	2.7	
2	15.0	2.7	2.7	2.7	

Table 89 (Table 25). Effect of year x harvest season interaction ($P = 0.0008$) on the weeds
proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA.

Table 90. Effect of year x planting timing x harvest season interaction (P = 0.0117) on the weed proportion of biomass (%) within NWSG in Blackstone, VA.

			Weeds Biomas	ss Proportion (%)	
Timing	Year		Harves	st Season	
		Spring	SE	Fall	SE
Burn	1	7.3 cde ¹	3.9	5.4 cde	3.9
	2	1.1 e	3.9	0.8 e	3.9
Winter	1	12.8 bc	3.9	12.3 bc	3.9
	2	17.8 ab	3.9	2.9 de	3.9
Fall	1	6.8 cde	3.9	12.0 bcd	3.9
	2	26.0 a	3.9	4.6 cde	3.9

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 91. Effect of planting timing (P = 0.0194) on whole plot crude protein content (g kg⁻¹) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Timing	Crude	Protein
	g kg ⁻¹	SE
Burn	114 a ¹	3.89
Winter	111 ab	3.89
Fall	108 b	3.89

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 92. Effect of harvest season (P < 0.0001) on whole plot crude protein content (g kg⁻¹) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest Season	Crude	Protein
	g kg ⁻¹	SE
Spring	120 a ¹	3.74
Fall	102 b	4.07

(2022) and 1	101 Set 2 (202)) III DIacKSI	me, vA.				
Harvest	Harvest Crude Protein (g kg ⁻¹)						
Season Timing							
_	Burn	SE	Winter	SE	Fall	SE	
Spring	115 b ¹	4.11	122 a	4.11	123 a	4.11	
Fall	114 b	4.96	101 c	4.96	93 c	4.96	

Table 93 (Table 28). Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction (P = 0.0002) on whole plot crude protein content (g kg⁻¹) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Table 94. Effect of planting timing (P < 0.0001) on whole plot crude protein content (g kg⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Crude Protein				
g kg ⁻¹	SE			
150 a ¹	3.06			
132 b	3.06			
119 c	3.06			
	<u>g kg</u> -1 150 a ¹ 132 b			

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 95. Effect of harvest season (P < 0.0001) on whole plot crude protein content (g kg⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

5	1	,	
Harvest Season	Crude Protein		
	g kg ⁻¹	SE	
Spring	147 a ¹	2.34	
Fall	121 b	2.37	

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 96 (Table 31). Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction (P = 0.0001) on whole plot crude protein content (g kg⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest			Crude Prote	$\sin(g kg^{-1})$		
Season	on Timing					
	Burn	SE	Winter	SE	Fall	SE
Spring	152 a ¹	4.05	148 ab	4.05	139 b	4.05
Fall	149 ab	4.11	115 c	4.11	99 d	4.11

Harvest	est Crude Protein (g kg ⁻¹)						
Season Method				od			
	Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE	
Spring	145 a ¹	4.05	147 a	4.05	148 a	4.05	
Fall	132 b	4.11	117 c	4.11	114 c	4.11	

Table 97. Effect of planting method x harvest season interaction (P = 0.0286) on whole plot crude protein content (g kg⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Table 98. Effect of planting timing (P < 0.0001) on whole plot neutral detergent fiber content (g kg⁻¹) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Timing	Neutral Detergent Fiber				
	g kg ⁻¹	SE			
Burn	593 c ¹	5.05			
Winter	610 b	5.05			
Fall	626 a	5.05			

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 99 (Table 28). Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction (P = 0.0005) on whole plot neutral detergent fiber content (g kg⁻¹) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest]	Neutral Deterger	nt Fiber (g kg ⁻	1)	
Season Timing				ing		
	Burn	SE	Winter	SE	Fall	SE
Spring	609 b ¹	5.20	603 b	5.20	617 ab	5.20
Fall	576 c	8.50	616 ab	8.50	636 a	8.50

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 100. Effect of planting timing (P < 0.0001) on whole plot neutral detergent fiber content (g kg⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Timing	Neutral Detergent Fiber				
	g kg ⁻¹	SE			
Burn	$454 c^{1}$	10.6			
Winter	546 b	10.6			
Fall	598 a	10.6			

Table 101. Effect of harvest season ($P < 0.0001$) on whole plot neutral detergent fiber content
(g kg ⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone,
VA.

Harvest Season	Neutral Detergent Fiber				
	g kg ⁻¹	SE			
Spring	503 b ¹	6.90			
Fall	562 a	7.70			

Table 102 (Table 31). Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction (P = 0.0357) on whole plot neutral detergent fiber content (g kg⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest		1	Neutral Deterger	nt Fiber (g kg ⁻¹)	
Season	Timing					
	Burn	SE	Winter	SE	Fall	SE
Spring	$440 e^{1}$	11.90	509 c	11.90	561 b	11.90
Fall	468 d	13.28	582 b	13.28	636 a	13.28

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 103 (Table 29). Effect of harvest season (P < 0.0001) on whole plot acid detergent fiber content (g kg⁻¹) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest Season	Acid Detergent Fiber		
	g kg ⁻¹	SE	
Spring	329 b	5.30	
Fall	365 a	5.30	

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 104 (Table 32). Effect of harvest season (P < 0.0001) on whole plot acid detergent fiber content (g kg⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest Season	Acid Detergent Fiber		
	g kg ⁻¹	SE	
Spring	340 b ¹	2.36	
Fall	366 a	2.77	

within it wood in the second ye	ar of production of 1 lot bet 1 (202	25) III Didekstone, VII.		
Timing	Total Seasonal Yield			
	kg ha ⁻¹	SE		
Burn	5,757 b ¹	301		
Winter	7,259 a	301		
Fall	7,599 a	301		

Table 105 (Table 33). Effect of planting timing ($P = 0.0068$) on total seasonal yield (kg ha ⁻¹)
within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Table 106 (Table 34). Effect of planting method (P = 0.0122) on total seasonal yield (kg ha⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	, ,		
Method	Total Seaso	Total Seasonal Yield		
	kg ha ⁻¹	SE		
Drill	6,574 b ¹	301		
Broadcast	6,422 b	301		
Control	7,619 a	301		

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 107 (Table 35). Effect of harvest season (P < 0.0001) on harvest yield (kg ha⁻¹) within NWSG in the establishment year of Plot Set 1 (2022) and Plot Set 2 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest Season	Harvest	t Yield
	kg ha ⁻¹	SE
Spring	3,478 a ¹	1,447
Fall	2,872 b	1,447

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 108. Effect of planting timing ($P < 0.0001$) on harvest yield (kg ha ⁻¹) within NWSG in
the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Timing]	Harvest Yield		
-	kg ha ⁻¹	SE		
Burn	2,879 b	152		
Winter	3,629 a	152		
Fall	3,799 a	152		

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 109. Effect of planting method (P = 0.0073) on harvest yield (kg ha⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Z 1			
Method	Harvest Yield		
	kg ha ⁻¹	SE	
Drill	3,287 b	152	
Broadcast	3,211 b	152	
Control	3,809 a	152	

DideRstone,	111					
			Harvest Yiel	d (kg ha ⁻¹)		
Timing	Method					
	Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE
Burn	2,730 c ¹	248	2,861 c	248	3,046 c	248
Winter	3,095 c	248	3,404 bc	248	4,389 a	248
Fall	4,036 ab	248	3,369 bc	248	3,994 ab	248

Table 110 (Table 38). Effect of planting timing x planting method interaction (P = 0.0470) on harvest yield (kg ha⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Table 111 (Table 36). Effect of planting timing x harvest season interaction (P < 0.0001) on harvest yield (kg ha⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest	Harvest Yield (kg ha ⁻¹)						
Season	Timing						
	Burn	SE	Winter	SE	Fall	SE	
Spring	3,446 bc ¹	194	3,395 bc	194	2,933 cd	194	
Fall	2,312 d	264	3,864 b	264	4,666 a	264	

¹Data with the same letter are not significantly different at the P < 0.05 level

Table 112 (Table 37). Effect of planting method x harvest season interaction (P = 0.0207) on harvest yield (kg ha⁻¹) within NWSG in the second year of production of Plot Set 1 (2023) in Blackstone, VA.

Harvest	Harvest Yield (kg ha ⁻¹)					
Season	Method					
	Drill	SE	Broadcast	SE	Control	SE
Spring	3,370 b ¹	194	3,181 b	194	3,223 a	194
Fall	3,204 b	264	3,242 b	264	4,396 b	264